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Executive Summary 

 

 

This comprehensive historic context report focuses on African American history in 

northern Frederick County. It is part of a larger project entitled ñRecovering Identity: Northern 

Frederick County Cultural Resource Survey,ò including the completion of a comprehensive 

historic context statement and an architectural survey for northern Frederick County, with an 

emphasis on previously undocumented African American resources. The grant-funded project is 

a combined effort involving the Catoctin Furnace Historical Society (CFHS), the African 

American Resources Cultural and Heritage Society (AARCH), in partnership with Frederick 

County Government (FCG). The project is scheduled to extend over a two-year period, from 

2021 through 2023. 

The historic context was developed utilizing available historical records and secondary 

sources, as well as oral histories, gravesite information, Moravian Diaries transcriptions, and a 

census database compiled by other researchers associated with the ñRecovering Identityò project 

through CFHS and AARCH. Repositories consulted include Mount St. Maryôs University 

archives, Maryland State Archives, National Archives, Library of Congress, Maryland Historical 

Trust library files, historic newspapers, church records, local historical society records, and 

reports from Catoctin Mountain Park (NPS). Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, research was 

limited primarily to records available online. Research methods followed procedures outlined in 

Standards and Guidelines for Architectural and Historical Investigations in Maryland as well as 

input from community stakeholders. 

The report develops the history of African Americans in northern Frederick County 

through the lens of the social, economic, and environmental influence of Catoctin Furnace as the 

industrial center of the region. Significant within this industrial theme is the use and sale of 

enslaved persons during economic turmoil and the transition of the workforce in and around 

Catoctin Furnace from enslaved and free African Americans to European immigrants. A parallel 

thematic development was the agricultural landscape of the region, settled by a largely Catholic 

population. The role of the Catholic Church in the lives of enslaved and free African Americans 

is integral to the northern Frederick County story, drawing on the history of Mount St. Maryôs 

University and St. Josephôs Academy.  

The area of study, identified in this report as the Monocacy-Catoctin region, is inclusive 

of the historic north-county election districts as they were drawn circa 1880: Emmitsburg District 

#5, Hauvers District #10, Mechanicstown District #15, Creagerstown District #4, and Lewistown 

District #20. 
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Chapter 1. Native Americans and Early Non-Native Contacts 

 

 

 

Long before Europeans claimed their discovery of the American continent, the Native 

American people who occupied the Mid-Atlantic region already had well-developed territories 

within which they utilized seasonal resources, built homes and villages, and produced objects of 

cultural significance. Alliances between groups formed over shared language, kinship, trade, or 

common enemies. Although much of this earliest American history is recorded through oral 

traditions or the archeological record, the chronicle of Native inhabitants before European 

contact serves as the foundation of later American history. Roads used by Euro-American 

colonials often traced traditional Native paths. Many American place-names and other common 

words drew heavily upon the indigenous languages. Native cultivars ï corn, beans, squash, and 

tobacco ï were adopted by the European migrants, which helped the new arrivals to survive and 

eventually thrive. Indeed, tobacco became the basis of a prosperous colonial economy that gave 

rise to institutionalized enslavement of African and African American people. Thus, Native 

Americans, European Americans, and African Americans are forever entwined in the 

complicated progression of history that followed the first European intrusions on the American 

landscape.1 

 

 

Pre-Historic Native Americans 

 

The Monocacy River valley and Catoctin Mountain range were utilized by Native 

American groups as early as the Paleo-Indian Period (12000-8000 BCE [Before Common 

Era]).2 This well-watered mountain and valley landscape, with its abundant floral and faunal 

resources, served the cyclical hunter-gatherer lifeways predominant among the people of the 

Mid-Atlantic region. In addition to continued use of seasonal mountain and valley resources 

during the Early Archaic Period (8000-6500 BCE), tools crafted from a highly workable lithic 

(stone) material called rhyolite, quarried from large outcrops in the Catoctin Mountain geologic 

strata, gradually appeared in toolkits. Catoctin rhyolite reached its peak of use during the Late 

Archaic to Middle Woodland periods (6500 BCE to 1000 CE [Common Era]).3 Processing sites, 

 
1 This is paraphrased from the introduction of Chapter One in the First State National Historical Park (Delaware) 

Historic Resource Study, written by Edith Wallace and Paula S. Reed (Paula S. Reed & Associates, Inc.) for the 

National Park Service, under a contract with the Organization of American Historians, completed in 2018. 
2 ñNolands Ferry I Archeological Site,ò c. 8500 BCE, https://mht.maryland.gov/nr/NRDetail.aspx?NRID=937. 

Before Common Era is equivalent to BC and is the preferred term used by the National Park Service. CE, or 

Common Era, is equivalent to AD. 
3 R. Michael Stewart, ñRhyolite Quarry and Quarry-Related Sites in Maryland and Pennsylvania,ò Archaeology of 

Eastern North America, Vol. 15 (Fall 1987),1987, 54, http://www.jstor.org/stable/40914354.  

https://mht.maryland.gov/nr/NRDetail.aspx?NRID=937
http://www.jstor.org/stable/40914354
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occupied periodically throughout the Archaic/Woodland periods to prepare the stone for tool-

making, have been found on both the east and west sides of Catoctin Mountain and up to 

twenty-three miles away.4 Archeologist R. Michael Stewart suggested in 1987 that groups 

utilized the Catoctin quarries from as far away as the Mid-Atlantic Coastal Plain (the wide flat 

landscape below the fall line of the regionôs major rivers).5  

By the Late Woodland Period (1000-1600 CE), the habitations and their occupants had 

changed in the region. Though the same resources were utilized, the groups now occupied semi-

permanent small village sites along the Monocacy River (Biggs Ford and Rosenstock sites). The 

pottery and stone tools found at these sites are representative of the Montgomery Complex, a 

recognizable assemblage of materials, technology, and decorative styles associated with groups 

in the Potomac River drainage during the Late Woodland Period. Storage pits, ñcharred cornò 

(Biggs Ford Site), and ñcharred beansò (Rosenstock Site) indicate some use of cultivated plants 

as part of their survival strategy, though still largely dependent on seasonal hunting and 

gathering.6 The Late Woodland Period came to a close around the start of the seventeenth 

century (1600 CE), as sustained contact with European traders and colonizers marked the 

beginning of the ñhistoricò period. 

 

 

Early Native Contacts with European Traders and Explorers 

 

The establishment of the Jamestown colony in 1607, in what would later become 

Virginia, was the first of the British settlements in the Mid-Atlantic region. During the years 

1607 and 1608, Captain John Smith of the Jamestown colony explored the Chesapeake Bay 

region, traveling along the tributaries by boat. These explorations became the basis of his map 

of Virginia (and Maryland) published in 1612. From his own observations along the north/east 

[Maryland] side of the ñPatawomeckò River, Smith identified nine Native American groups or 

villages by name, including three ñKings houses,ò all apparently located below the Potomac 

River fall line (Great Falls).7 (Figure 1) The individual groups were probably all Piscataway 

 
4 Spencer O. Geasey and Hettie L. Ballweber, ñPrehistoric Utilization of the Highland Metarhyolite Outcrop in the 

Maryland Blue Ridge Province,ò Archaeology of Eastern North America, Vol. 19 (Fall 1991), 109, citing Ballweber, 

1990). 
5 Stewart, ñRhyolite Quarry,ò 54. 
6 Dennis C. Curry and Maureen Kavanaugh, ñExcavations of the Rosenstock Village Site (18FR18), Frederick 

County, Maryland: A Preliminary Report,ò Maryland Archeology, Volume 40(1):1-38, March 2004, 3. Curry and 

Kavanaugh suggest that the presence of some ceramics pieces found that appear to be diagnostic of a type called 

Shepard ware, may indicate these people were migrants from New York groups associated with the Owasco 

Complex (p. 27). 
7 The names of the nine groups given on the map were Potapaco, Nushemouck, Mataughquamend, Nussamek, 

Pamacocack, Cinquaotek, Moyaons, Tessamatuck, Nacotchtank. In the accompanying narrative entitled A Map of 

Virginia: With a Description of the Countrey, the Commodities, People, Government and Religion, also published in 

1612, Smith described the Native villages along north/east [Maryland] side of the Potomac (below the Great Falls): 

ñIn the East part of the bought [bend] of the river is Pamacacack with 60 men. After, Moyowances with 100. And 

lastly, Nacotchtanke with 80 able men. The river 10 miles above this place maketh his passage downe a low pleasant 
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(later called Conoy), whose members spoke a southern Great Lakes Algonquian dialect and are 

said to have claimed descent from Marylandôs Eastern Shore Nanticoke.8 Smith did not explore 

beyond the Potomac Great Falls, marking his map with a cross on the first mountain, likely 

Sugar Loaf Mountain,  to indicate the beginning of this unexplored territory. Sugar Loaf 

Mountain, which stands alone just south of the Frederick County border with Montgomery 

County, marks the geographic shift to the mountain and valley region of western Maryland. 

 

 

Figure 1: Potomac detail of John Smith map (Library of Congress) 

The Piscataway presence recorded by Smith was twenty-five years prior to the first 

European migration to the Calvert proprietary grant lands called Mary Land in 1634.9 By 1680, 

fifty years after the Maryland settlement began, Jasper Dankerts noted that in Maryland there 

 

valley overshadowed in many places with high mountains; from whence distill innumerable sweet and pleasant 

springs.ò (See Lyon Gardiner Tyler, ed., Narratives of Early Virginia (New York: Barnes & Noble, 1907, reprint 

1959), 86-87, GoogleBooks) 
8 Frederick Webb Hodge, ed., Handbook of American Indians north of Mexico, Volume I (Smithsonian Institution, 

Bureau of American Ethnology, 1912), 339, citing a 1660 Piscataway application to the Maryland governor ñto 

confirm their choice of an óemperorô,ò which included an order of descent for their leadership (Proc. Coun., 16.36-

67, Md. Archives, 403, 1885). 
9 ñCharter of Maryland,ò Maryland State Archives, accessed 7/2/2021, 

https://msa.maryland.gov/msa/educ/exhibits/founding/pdf/charter.pdf.  

https://msa.maryland.gov/msa/educ/exhibits/founding/pdf/charter.pdf
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were ñfew Indians,ò having been ñalmost exterminated.ò10 At least one of the Piscataway 

groups moved up the Potomac River, where in 1706, a ñConoyò village was noted by Swiss 

explorer Franz Louis Michel, located west of the Monocacy River (identified by ñDò) near 

todayôs Point of Rocks in Frederick County.11 (Figure 2) The village was still there when Baron 

Christoph von Graffenried, Michelôs partner in a planned settlement in western Maryland, 

visited the area in 1712, but the Conoy removed northward shortly after that.   

 

 
Figure 2: 1707 Michel map (Library of Congress) 

 
10 Jasper Danckaerts, Journal of Jasper Danckaerts, 1679-1680, edited by Bartlett Burleigh James and J. Franklin 

Jameson, translated by Henry C. Murphy, The Project Gutenberg eBook, 115, 

https://www.gutenberg.org/files/23258/23258-h/23258-h.htm#Page_115.  
11 The key to the Michel map: A. Rocks in the River called Potomack, as far as one can ascend in barques and 

beyond in small boats; B. A spring which flows 6o miles from Annapolis; C. First hut which was made to sleep in 

on the trail on their route; D. A river called Quattaro [Monacacy River]; E. Mountains of Virginia [Blue Ridge and 

Alleghanies]; F. Region of the Mesesipi; G. Mountains of Cenuiitua [The Massanutten range] (ñFrantz Ludwig 

Michel,ò  http://www.virginiaplaces.org/settleland/michelle.html#one)  

https://www.gutenberg.org/files/23258/23258-h/23258-h.htm#Page_115
http://www.virginiaplaces.org/settleland/michelle.html#one
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European ñIndian tradersò also ventured beyond the tidal waters of the bayôs tributaries 

on Marylandôs western shore. In 1712, Baron von Graffenried found French trader Martin 

Chartier living at his trading ñquarterò near the mouth of Monocacy with his Native wife. 

Shortly thereafter, Chartier apparently convinced a small contingent of Tuscarora to settle there 

after the loss of their territory to colonists in North Carolina in 1713.12 Although the Governor 

of Maryland made a ñTreaty of Peaceò with the Tuscaroras in 1719,ò they remained only a few 

years.13 In 1722, the Tuscarora in Maryland began to move northward and eventually joined the 

Haudenosaunee, the Iroquois five-nation confederacy, which then became the League of Six 

Nations. Two creeks in Frederick County derived their name from the brief Tuscarora stay in 

the area. William Marye wrote on this subject in 1935:  

Undoubtedly these creeks owe their names to small contemporary settlements of the 

Tuscarora Indians. I find one of them mentioned in the certificate of survey of a tract 

of land called ñThicket,ò which was laid out on January 10th, 1731/32, for Dr. 

Thomas Craig and John Beal, Sr., in what was then Prince Georgeôs County, and is 

described in part as follows: lying ñat the foot of the first ridge of Mountainsò (i.e., 

the Catoctin), ñbeginning at a bounded hickory and chestnut sapling standing by a 

small run the westermost branch of Tuskorara Run.ò14 

Before leaving, the Tuscarora reportedly sold to Charles Carroll ña lycense to take up his Tract 

of Land in the ffork [sic] of Patowmeck and Monockesey.ò15 

 At the time the Tuscarora were leaving the Monocacy valley, a group of Shawnee were 

observed living on the upper Potomac (Cohongaroota) River at Opessaôs Town, described in 

1722 by Philemon Lloyd as ña considerable nation of the Southward Indians; and have a Large 

Town at the Divideing [sic] of the Main Branches of Potommack, as you will see upon my mapp 

[sic].ò16 (Figure 3) According to Lloydôs map, there were two other villages nearby. (Figure 4) 

The Shawnee may have traded with Charles Anderson before he settled on their land in 1736, 

naming his patent ñIndian Seat.ò Another trader by the name of Thomas Cresap, would settle 

there by 1746.17 (Figure 5) 

 

 
12 William B. Marye, ñPatowmeck above ye Inhabitants,ò Maryland Historical Magazine, Volume XXX, No. 1, 

March 1935, 124, https://archive.org/details/marylandhistoric3019mary. 
13 Archives of Maryland Online, Vol. 33, ñProceedings and Acts of the General Assembly, 1717-April, 1720,ò 323,. 
14 Marye, ñPatowmeck,ò 123. Marye cites the Philemon Lloyd map of 1721 that shows a Tuscarora town at the 

mouth of the Monocacy River; Frederick Webb Hodge, ed., Handbook of American Indians north of Mexico, 

Volume II (Smithsonian Institution, Bureau of American Ethnology, 1907-10), 846-847. The Tuscarora had recently 

lost a war with the North Carolina colonists who claimed the traditional Tuscarora territory there.  
15 Marye, ñPatowmeck,ò 8. Marye notes that this sale was not recorded in the land records (then Prince Georgeôs 

County). This early Carroll purchase would later be included in the Carrollton patent land encompassing 10,000 

acres. 
16 Marye, ñPatowmeck,ò 7.  
17 ñThomas Cresap and Marylandôs Colonial Frontier,ò Chesapeake & Ohio Canal National Historical Park,  

https://www.nps.gov/articles/thomas-cresap-and-maryland-s-colonial-frontier.htm.  

https://archive.org/details/marylandhistoric3019mary
https://www.nps.gov/articles/thomas-cresap-and-maryland-s-colonial-frontier.htm
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Figure 3: 1721 Philemon Lloyd map, Opessaôs Town detail (Maryland Historical Magazine, Vol. XXX)  

 
Figure 4: 1721 Philemon Lloyd map, Conoy/Tuscarora detail (Maryland Historical Magazine, Vol. XXX)  
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Figure 5: 1747 Winslow map showing ñCressepsò home (Library of Congress) 

Among the tribes most active in the lucrative fur trade with Europeans like Chartier, were 

the Susquehannock (Conestoga or Minqua) living along the Susquehanna River just north of the 

Maryland colony. They were Iroquoian speakers (Huron dialect), but also enemies of the 

northern Haudenosaunee Iroquois confederacy. The Susquehannock people were known as 

excellent hunters and their beaver pelts were prized among the European traders. Though they 

lived north of the Chesapeake Bay, the Susquehannock claimed the western lands of Maryland as 

their hunting ground. The Monocacy (or Conestoga) Path leading from Conejohela (todayôs 

Wrightsville, Pennsylvania on the Susquehanna River) southwestward into Maryland was used 

initially by the Susquehannock (Minqua) hunters to access their hunting grounds, resulting in 

periodic fighting with the Piscataway (Conoy) who were settled in the region.18 (Figure 6) 

 

 
18 Paul A.W. Wallace, Indian Paths of Pennsylvania (Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum 

Commission, 1965, reprint 1998), 105. The Monocacy Path connected to the Great Minquas Path, used by the 

Susquehannock in their fur trade with the Dutch and Swedes on the Delaware River, todayôs Philadelphia area 

(Wallace, Indian Paths, 65). 
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Figure 6: Route of Monocacy Path toward Maryland (Indian Paths of Pennsylvania) 

 

Native Contacts with African Freedom-Seekers 

 

The above referenced villages were the last Native occupations in the region before the 

coming tide of European colonials attracted by the rich and well-watered land. Until that time, 

however, the western lands served also as a refuge for enslaved Africans who escaped their 

bondage on the plantations to the east. In April, 1720, Philip Thomas of Ann Arundel County 

petitioned the Assembly, ñComplaining that his Servant is run away to the Tuskarora Indians 

who refuse to deliver the same.ò The General Assembly then ordered, ñthat the said Indians 

Deliver the said Servant or shew Cause why they detain him Contrary to the Treatie [sic] of 

Peace made with them last Assembly.ò19 Two years later, in 1722, Charles Anderson was 

appointed by the Maryland General Assembly ñto treat with the Shawans [Shawnee] Indians for 

entring [sic] into Articles of Friendship and Amity with them and for their surrendering up to this 

Government certain Negro Slaves who for some time past have been entertain'd at their Towns 

upon Potomack River.ò20 By 1725, the problem had become so acute that Maryland planters 

sought a more permanent solution from the colonial government. The General Assembly quickly 

passed ñAn Act to encourage the Takers up of run-away Slaves, that shall be taken up by any 

Person and brought in from the Back-Woodsò: 

Whereas sundry of the Slaves belonging to several of the Inhabitants of this 

Province, have of late Years runaway into the Back-Woods, some of which have 

there perished, and others who held it out (as to their Lives) have been entertained 

 
19 Archives of Maryland Online, Vol. 33, ñProceedings and Acts of the General Assembly, 1717-April, 1720,ò 489, 

Maryland State Archives, http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/html/index.html.  
20 Archives of Maryland Online, Vol. 25, ñProceedings of the Council of Maryland, 1698-1731,ò 394, Maryland 

State Archives, http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/html/index.html.  

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/html/index.html
http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/html/index.html
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and encouraged to live and inhabit with the Shewan-Indians; And forasmuch as 

many Negroes (upon hearing the Success some of their Fellow Slaves have met with) 

are daily making Attempts to go the same Way, which if not timely and effectually 

prevented, may be of very ill and fatal Consequences to the Inhabitants of this 

Province: For Prevention whereof, it is humbly prayed that it may be Enacted, 

éThat any Person whatsoever, either Indian or others, that shall take up any Run-

away Slave (already run away, or that shall hereafter run away) in any Part of the 

back Woods, to the Northwestward of Monocacy River, from the Mouth thereof up 

the said River, to the fording Place where the Conestogo-Path [Monocacy Path] 

crosses the same, near one Albineôs Plantation [area of later Frederick Town], and 

then to the Northwestward of the said Conestogo-Path, until it meet with 

Susquehannah-River [now in Pennsylvania ï then disputed territory], and by them 

shall be brought in and delivered to the Person to be appointed and commission'd 

(according to the Directions of this Act) to receive such Run-away Negroe [sic], 

shall be paid by the said Commissioner, as a Reward for each Run-away Slave taken 

up, brought in, and delivered as aforesaid, the Sum of Five Pounds Current Money.21 

In a 1729 deposition, a young enslaved woman named Eleanor Cusheca reported hearing from 

Harry who had escaped to ñthe Monocosy Mountainsò that ñthere were many Negroes among the 

Indians at Monococy.ò Although Cusheca also recalled that several others had claimed ñthat the 

Indians would shortly come down among the English inhabitants and would kill all the white 

people,ò the court concluded that information was ñgroundless.ò22 This conclusion likely 

stemmed from the fact that the few Native people who had occupied the land west of the 

Monocacy had already begun to move to new territories to the north. In any case, in 1729, the 

region remained relatively free of European intrusion. By 1736, however, a map of Virginia and 

Maryland, drawn by John Warner for Thomas Lord Fairfax, indicated that the Shawnee had 

deserted their western Maryland villages, leaving the land to growing colonial settlements. 

(Figure 7) 

  

 
21 Archives of Maryland, Volume XXXIV, ñProceedings and Acts of the General Assembly, 1727-1729 With 

Appendix of Statutes, 1714-1726,ò 583, ñArchives of Maryland Online,ò Maryland State Archives, 

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/html/index.html.   
22 Prince Georgeôs County, ñCourt Records 1728-1729, March 1728-March 1729,ò March Court 1729, 414-415, 

Prince George's County Court Records, 1696 ï 1770, accessed 6/21/2021, 

http://www.freeafricanamericans.com/princeg.htm. Harry was said to have been enslaved by Mr. John Miller. 

Others in the group included ñA Negro man of Mr. Thomas Brooks named Geo: and a negro woman of Colonel 

Darnall's named Beck.ò 

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/html/index.html
http://www.freeafricanamericans.com/princeg.htm
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Figure 7: 1736-37 John Warner map (Library of Congress) 
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Chapter 2. Colonial European Settlement and African Enslaved Labor 

 

 

 

The African freedom-seekers who found their way to the Catoctin Mountains in the 

1720s to take refuge among the Native Americans, traveled long distances from the established 

region of colonial Maryland. Most of the colonyôs settlements at that time were still concentrated 

along the shorelines of the Chesapeake Bay. Western shore planters, like those on the Eastern 

Shore, were tied to the tidal tributaries of the Chesapeake Bay for transportation. The tobacco 

they produced, the foundation of an increasingly lucrative economy, was grown on plantations 

located in Baltimore, Anne Arundel, Prince Georgeôs, Calvert, Charles, and St. Maryôs counties.  

In the early decades of the eighteenth century, the Prince Georgeôs County boundary 

extended all the way to the largely unsettled western bounds of the Maryland colony. Much of 

that land, including the Monocacy-Catoctin region, was thought to be barren and unproductive. 

That would begin to change by the late 1720s as German migrants seeking land on which to 

establish smaller, grain-producing farms moved south from Pennsylvania to claim land in 

Virginiaôs Shenandoah Valley. A few, noting the rich limestone soil in the valleys along the 

Catoctin and South Mountain ranges, decided to put down roots even before Marylandôs then-

proprietor, Charles Calvert, Fifth Lord Baltimore, opened the land for settlement in 1732. 

Wealthy gentlemen living in the Chesapeake Bay region also jumped the opening date, securing 

large tracts from which they expected to sell or lease smaller parcels at a profit. By the middle of 

the 1730s, German farmers from Pennsylvania, and the sons of English planters from eastern 

Maryland who brought along their enslaved African laborers, would begin to populate the 

Monocacy-Catoctin region. 

 

 

Colonial Maryland and the Introduction of African Enslaved Labor 

 

It was in 1634 that the first migration of Europeans to the Maryland colony landed on the 

bank of the St. Maryôs River aboard the ships the Ark and Dove. The ten-million-acre proprietary 

colony was a grant from Great Britainôs King Charles I, intended for his loyal supporter George 

Calvert, First Lord Baltimore, despite his recent conversion to Catholicism. George Calvert died 

in 1632, just two months before the grant was finalized, and the proprietary charter was awarded 

to his eldest son and heir, Cecil Calvert, Second Lord Baltimore.23 The 1634 settlement 

expedition included Cecil Calvertôs younger brother Leonard Calvert as the colonyôs governor, 

as well as ñMr. Jerome Hawley, and Mr. Thomas Cornwallis (two worthy and able 

 
23 Robert J. Brugger, Maryland, A Middle Temperament: 1634-1980 (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 

1988), 4-5. 
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Gentlemen)éwith the other Gentlemen adventurers, and their servants.ò24 Also on board were 

one hundred or so ñmostly Protestantò farmers, two Catholic priests, and ña few Catholic 

settlers.ò25 This first settlement of nearly 200 souls found relative success in the first year, in 

large part due to Cecil and Leonard Calvertôs adherence to the recommendations made by 

Captain John Smith in his reports from the early Jamestown experience in Virginia. 

During this early settlement phase, the Calvert proprietary offered 100 acres of land to 

every man who would migrate to Maryland ñand for and in respect of every such [male]servant, 

100 acres more.ò26 For women, children, and female servants, a settler would receive a 

ñheadrightò of an additional fifty acres each. For the most part, these early colonists were 

accompanied by indentured servants who committed to a term of service to pay for their passage, 

or were convicts sentenced to a term of service. These servants were predominantly English or 

Irish, however occasionally included some Africans. One such servant named Mathias de Sousa, 

ña man of mixed racial origins,ò arrived in Maryland with the first settlers in the service of one 

of the Jesuit priests, Father Andrew White. In 1653, John Baptiste, a Black indentured servant, 

reportedly petitioned the Maryland Provincial Court for his freedom, to which the Court 

agreed.27 These cases suggest that Black indentured servants were, in some cases, subject to the 

same terms of service as their white counterparts. 

This system of indentured servants as colonial laborers, alongside the benefits gained 

from headright grants, led shipôs captains to act as brokers, transporting shiploads of servants, 

claiming the headrights, and promptly selling that land to speculators.28 Thus, the best tracts, 

located within the fertile coastal plain with ready access to transportation along the tidal waters, 

were taken up and redistributed to the wealthier arrivals who were able to meet the speculatorôs 

price. These large tracts required the labor of many servants in the developing tobacco 

production economy. 

By the mid-century, a shortage of white laborers ï due in part to the Great Plague in 

Europe among other factors ï prompted colonial planters to look elsewhere for cheap labor. 

Initially they hoped to hire or enslave Native Americans, but failed to build a labor force suitable 

for their needs.  Instead, Chesapeake planters reportedly followed the example of other New 

World colonies by embracing African enslaved labor. The Africans, like the Native Americans, 

were a non-white ñalien people whom they [European Americans] could conveniently enslave 

and hold in hereditary bondage on the basis of their non-Christian status and perceived 

barbarity.ò29 The shift toward ñracialized slavery,ò specifically the lifetime enslavement of Black 

 
24 A Relation of Maryland (Readex Microprint Corp., 1966), 2, probably written by Father Andrew White, one of the 

Jesuit priests in the party. 
25 Brugger, Maryland, 5-6. British Catholics were persecuted in Anglican England. The Maryland colony became 

known for its religious tolerance. 
26 A Relation, 39-40. 
27 ñA Guide to the History of Slavery in Maryland,ò 3, Maryland State Archives, accessed 8/4/2021, 

http://slavery.msa.maryland.gov/.  
28 Abbot Emerson Smith, ñThe Indentured Servant and Land Speculation in Seventeenth Century Maryland,ò  

The American Historical Review, Vol. 40, No. 3 (Apr., 1935), 469, https://www.jstor.org/stable/1838904. 
29 Lorena S. Walsh, Motives of Honor, Pleasure, & Profit (Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina Press, 

http://slavery.msa.maryland.gov/
https://www.jstor.org/stable/1838904
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Africans, was solidified through laws enacted by the Maryland legislature, establishing the slave-

for-life, chattel status of Africans and their offspring.30 In September 1664, ñAn Act Concerning 

Negroes and Other Slaves,ò codified unfree Black labor in the Maryland colony: 

That all Negroes or other slaves already within the Province And all Negroes and 

other slaves to be hereafter imported into the Province shall serve Durante Vita [for 

life] And all Children born of any Negro or other slave shall be Slaves as their 

fathers were for the term of their Huesé Be it further Enacted by the Authority 

advice and Consent aforesaid That whatsoever free borne woman shall inter marry 

with any slave from and after the Last day of this present Assembly shall Serve the 

master of such slave during the life of her husband And that all the Issue of such 

freeborn women so married shall be Slaves as their fathers wereé31  

This law not only defined slavery as the condition of Black people in Maryland, but also 

emphasized that they were not subject to a limited term of service as in the cases of indentured 

servants. Instead, Black enslaved people were bound durante vita, or ñduring life,ò and their 

children, including children fathered by enslaved Black men with free Black or white mothers, 

were subject to the same fate.  

In 1674, the Royal African Company facilitated the change to enslaved African labor, 

bringing slave ships directly to North American ports. The importation of African men, women, 

and children for sale in the Chesapeake region accelerated from the 1670s through the turn of the 

eighteenth century. According to one source, ñtwice as many African slaves were imported into 

the Chesapeake in the first decade of the 1700s as during the whole previous century.ò However, 

the overseas trade of enslaved Africans imported into Maryland ended in the mid-eighteenth 

century and was largely replaced by American-born children of enslaved women.32 

 

 

Growth of European Settlement in Northern Frederick County 

 

In 1751, when the Fry and Jefferson map of Virginia and Maryland was first published, 

the ñShawno Fieldsò where Opessaôs Town and two other villages had been located around 

Willôs Creek were still noted as ñdeserted,ò as they had been in 1736. (Figure 8) But by 1751, 

the former Native villages were replaced by a ñFort & Ohio Company storehouseò (Fort 

 

2010), 19. 
30 Text written by the author in The Rural African American Experience, 1865-1900, in the National Capital Area:  

A Special History Study (National Capital Area, National Park Service, contract with Organization of American 

Historians, 2021), 3-4, citing Baptist, The Half Has Never Been Told, 3; John Boles, Black Southerners, 20. 
31 Archives of Maryland, Volume 1, ñProceedings and Acts of the General Assembly January 1637/8-September 

1664,ò 533-534, ñArchives of Maryland Online,ò Maryland State Archives, 

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/html/index.html. 
32 Text written by the author in The Rural African American Experience, 4, citing Boles; see also ñA Guide to the 

History of Slavery in Maryland,ò Maryland State Archives, 2007, accessed 1/3/2020, 

https://msa.maryland.gov/msa/intromsa/pdf/slavery_pamphlet.pdf).  

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/html/index.html
https://msa.maryland.gov/msa/intromsa/pdf/slavery_pamphlet.pdf
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Cumberland), along the western-most ñWaggon Road to Philadelphia,ò and Col. Thomas 

Cresapôs homeplace, among others.33 The location of the former Conoy settlement farther down 

the Potomac River was still identified as ñCanoy I.[Island],ò but two European homesteads were 

sited nearby under the names Mobley and Sinclair. The map gave no indication at all of the 

Tuscaroraôs former presence in the Monocacy region. 

 

 
Figure 8: 1751 Fry and Jefferson map (Library of Congress) 

In fact, it was about the time of the Tuscaroraôs move north around 1722 that Europeans 

turned to the Monocacy River valley to establish permanent settlements. Charles Carroll was the 

first with his small acquisition of land in 1721 from the Tuscarora people themselves.34 Carroll 

enlarged his purchase in 1723 with a provincial warrant and survey to include 10,000 acres 

patented as Carrollton. Within this large tract, Carroll leased smaller farm parcels to mostly 

English settlers.35 In 1724, the island in the Potomac River named for the former Conoy village 

was surveyed by Arthur Nelson and patented as Nelsonôs Island. Nelson patented adjoining land 

along the northeast bank of the Potomac River in 1725 and 1728, where he lived with his sons.36 

Benjamin Tasker of Annapolis surveyed a 7,000-acre tract called Taskers Chance in 1725 on the 

west side of Monocacy River.37 These were only a few of the tracts surveyed before 1730. 

 
33 In 1742, Capt. Thomas Cresap had a tract surveyed for 250 acres called Indian Fields, located at ñthe mouth of the 

South Branch of River Potomac,ò and 330 acres called Indian Purchase, located nearby. (Prince Georgeôs Co. 

Circuit Court, Patented Certificate 1142, MSA S1203-1215, and 1742/07/28, Patented Certificate 1143, MSA 

S1203-1216, Maryland State Archives, plats.net) 
34 European colonials viewed land purchases quite differently from Native Americans. Colonial land deeds included 

the standard English phrases indicating a permanent transfer of ownership, while Native American signers of these 

documents interpreted them as an agreement to share the use of the land. 
35 Grace L. Tracey and John P. Dern, Pioneers of Old Monocacy (Baltimore, MD: Genealogical Publishing Co.), 25. 
36 PG Cert. of Survey IL B/132, AM 1/27, and IL B/131, in Tracey & Dern, Pioneers, 59-61. 
37 Tracey & Dern, Pioneers, 37, 257-265. 
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Most of the men who initially purchased Monocacy land during the 1720s were wealthy 

residents of the more-developed eastern counties. They saw the western lands as a speculative or 

investment opportunity. As much as 91,000 acres were surveyed between 1721 and 1734, 

according to one report, ñ[o]f this amount speculators controlled 81,723 acres, or ninety 

percent.ò38 Thus, by 1732, when Charles Calvert, Fifth Lord Baltimore, sought to encourage 

settlement on his western land by offering up to 200 acres of land for a mere eight shillings per 

year quitrent, thousands of acres were already taken up by speculators.39 The measure is said to 

have been aimed at German migrants who arrived by ship in Philadelphia and followed ñThe 

Great Waggon [sic] Roadò and Monocacy Path to Virginiaôs Shenandoah Valley. (see Figure 8) 

Still, the 1733 ñList of Taxables for Monocosie Hundredò revealed that of the 106 taxable men 

over the age of sixteen who occupied the Monocacy-Catoctin region, nearly all were apparently 

of English lineage.40 

Significantly, the 1733 ñList of Taxablesò and the ñList of Tobacco Burnt,ò compiled the 

following year in 1734, provides the earliest record of enslaved workers in the Monocacy region. 

In 1733, two enslaved men were recorded on ñMr. Spriggôs quarterò and in 1734, ñ2 slavesò 

were again assessed on ñCapt. Ed Spigôs [sic] quarterò and two on ñMr. Charles Digsô [sic] 

quarter.ò41 Edward Sprigg patented a 300-acre tract called Buckingham House, surveyed in 1730 

on the west side of Monocacy River (near todayôs Buckeystown), which likely operated as a 

ñquarterò or farm on which the owner did not live.42 Charles Diggs, along with his partner John 

Bradford, patented the 2,000-acre tract called Partnership in 1728, probably located in the 

southernmost part of Monocacy Hundred near Lick Branch.43  

It appears that it was shortly after the 1733 ñList of Taxablesò was recorded that German 

migrants began to settle in the Monocacy valley. In 1737, Benjamin Tasker tried to sell Taskers 

Chance to a group of six Germans who were already settled on the land. Though the deal fell 

through, more German families arrived over the following years, forming a growing agricultural 

cluster on the tract along the west side of the Monocacy River. In January 1745, Tasker 

transferred the whole tract to Daniel Dulany, who sold the land in smaller parcels and gave easier 

 
38 Elizabeth Kessel, ñGermans on the Maryland Frontier: A Social History of Frederick County, Maryland, 1730-

1800,ò Ph.D. dissertation, Rice University, 1981, 54, Rice Digital Scholarship Archive, accessed 7/15/2021, 

https://scholarship.rice.edu/handle/1911/19039.  
39 Archives of Maryland, Volume 28, ñProceedings of the Council of Maryland, 1732:1753,ò 25-26, ñArchives of 

Maryland Online,ò Maryland State Archives, http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/html/index.html. Lord Baltimore 

himself patented his 10,000-acre Monocacy Manor in 1724, which was subdivided into at least 85 farms for lease. 

(Prince Georgeôs Co. Circuit Court, Patented Certificate 1491-A, MSA S1203-1576, Maryland State Archives, 

plats.net) 
40 Tracey & Dern, Pioneers, 368-369. The boundary of Monocacy Hundred in 1733 is not known, but likely 

encompassed todayôs Frederick County, possibly Montgomery County (later Sugarland Hundred?), and appears to 

include names associated with later Washington County (later Antietam Hundred and Old Town Hundred). 
41 Tracey & Dern, Pioneers, 368-369. 
42 Prince Georgeôs Co. Circuit Court, Patented Certificate 419, MSA S1203-484, Maryland State Archives, plats.net. 
43 Prince Georgeôs Co. Circuit Court, Patented Certificate 1614, MSA S1203-1704, Maryland State Archives, 

plats.net. 

https://scholarship.rice.edu/handle/1911/19039
http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/html/index.html


 

 

16 

 

purchase terms to the settlers.44 By 1746, Dulany had also platted Frederick Town on part of the 

tract, to serve as a market town and future Frederick County seat. 

To the north, in the shadow of the Catoctin Mountain range, the subdivision of land was 

more complicated. The region was mired in an already decades-old boundary dispute between 

the Penn (Pennsylvania) and Calvert (Maryland) proprietaries. Despite the uncertainty, the 

children of Charles Carroll (ñthe Settlerò) patented a large tract of over 5,000 acres in 1732 that 

straddled the disputed boundary line. The southern end of this tract later (1785) became the 

location of the town of Emmitsburg.45 After years of sometimes violent interactions over the 

boundary that stifled settlement in the region, a temporary line was agreed upon in 1739. John 

Diggs (Digges) was a Maryland land speculator who during the 1720s concentrated his 

transactions within this disputed territory. Diggs, a Catholic in what was no longer a Catholic 

colony, later surveyed a tract located on Owens Creek below the 1739 line, which he assigned to 

fellow Catholic Arnold Livers in 1732.  

Arnold Liversô tract became the center of a Catholic settlement that included his son-in-

law William Elder, from whose land Mount Saint Maryôs Seminary sprung, the Rev. Thomas 

Digges (nephew of John Diggs), and Edward Brawner.46 Historian Grace L. Tracey noted that, 

with the exception of a few small tracts, ñall the land surveyed during the second decade of 

Frederick Countyôs settlement, from one mile north of Thurmont to the Pennsylvania border 

above Emmitsburg, was owned by Catholics.ò47 It is likely these households imported their 

enslaved workers as they settled in the area. In fact, at the time of the first US Population Census 

in 1790, twelve households of the extended Elder family enslaved a combined total of thirty-nine 

African Americans. Anthony Livers enslaved ten individuals, Mary Livers enslaved two 

individuals, and finally Elizabeth Brawner was listed as enslaving four individuals.48 

Just south of the Catholic enclave, in the area around what would later include 

Lewistown, Creagerstown, and Thurmont, a second German settlement cluster grew in the 

1730s. Among the earliest of these German settlers was Hans Martin Wetzel, who arrived by 

ship in Philadelphia in 1731. John Verdress (Verdriess), Jr. had migrated as far as Lancaster 

County in Pennsylvania by 1730 and was likely in the Catoctin area before 1738. Michael 

Reisner and several others were in the area as early as 1734 when they joined with Thomas 

Cresap in a boundary confrontation within the disputed territory.49 None of these men appeared 

on the 1733 or 1734 Monocacy Hundred lists (ñList of Taxables, 1733ò and ñThose who had no 

tobacco burnt, 1734ò), probably because they were not initially landowners or even tenants. 

Instead, these men were likely squatters on the land and were almost certainly not growing 

tobacco. A union church of Lutherans and Reformed, known as ñthe Congregation in 

 
44 Tracey & Dern, Pioneers, 37, 257-265. In all, Dulany sold tracts from Taskerôs Chance to at least twenty-three 

German settlers. 
45 Tracey & Dern, Pioneers, 238-240. 
46 Tracey & Dern, Pioneers, 247-256. 
47 Tracey & Dern, Pioneers, 255. 
48 1790 US Population Census, Frederick County, 193, 201, 209-210 (Elder family), 203, 211 (Livers family), 207 

(Brawner). Census database compiled by Rick Smith from Ancestry.com. 
49 Tracey & Dern, Pioneers, 207, 215, and 193. 
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Manocacy,ò was reportedly established between 1730 and 1734. In 1745, after the death of their 

minister, a member of the Moravian sect, John Henry Herzer, served a year as lay-reader and 

school teacher for the Monocacy congregation. The following year, in 1746, the Moravian 

missionary formed an informal congregation, formally established in 1758 under the name 

ñManakosy congregation.ò50 Between 1738 and 1743, as many as twenty-one German farmers 

recorded patents on land they already occupied, located in the shadow of Catoctin Mountain 

along the Monocacy Road.51  

In 1748, an act of the Maryland General Assembly created Frederick County as the 

colonyôs fourteenth county. Carved from the western frontier of Prince Georgeôs County, 

Frederick County encompassed all of the remaining land in western Maryland. Frederick Town, 

still a village just three years old, would serve as the county seat of government and as a market 

and social center for the frontier county. 

 

 

Early Industry in Northern Frederick County 

 

The several creeks rising out of Catoctin Mountain and feeding into the Monocacy River 

below were well suited for eighteenth century industrial development, then still dependent on 

water power. Among the earliest industrialists in the Catoctin Mountain-Monocacy valley region 

were German millers, fulfilling a need to process wheat and corn for subsistence and for market, 

and wood for building construction. Hans Martin Wetzel (1731), who in 1741 surveyed Mill 

Place on Little Hunting Creek, was one of the early millers.52 John Verdress (Vertrees), who 

patented his Johnôs Mountain tract in 1738 along the same creek, operated a sawmill.53 Matthias 

Ambrose, who described himself as ñMillerò on his deed of purchase in 1746, was probably 

already operating his mill on Owens (Captains) Creek when Arnold Livers conveyed the 125 

acres of Arnolds Delight ñon the Branches of Monocksey.ò54 The Ambrose Mill, located in the 

area that would later become Mechanicstown (Thurmont), was an important reference point in 

Frederick County road and land records. Mathias Ambroseôs mill and Abraham Millerôs mill 

were both identified in 1749 for a road ñto be laid out from Frederick Town by Abraham Millerôs 

mill, and from thence by Ambroseôs mill to the temporary line.ò55 There is no evidence that 

 
50 A. L. Oerter, Johannes Herbst, and Carl Gottlieb Bleck, ñGraceham, Frederick County, Md. An Historical 

Sketch,ò Transactions of the Moravian Historical Society, Vol. 9, No. 3/4 (1913), 128-133, JSTOR, 

https://www.jstor.org/stable/41179664. See also Moravian Archives collection database compiled by Elizabeth A. 

Comer, 1/8/2021. 
51 Tracey & Dern, Pioneers, 186-188. 
52 Prince Georgeôs Co. Circuit Court, Unpatented Certificate 217, MSA_S1226_231, Maryland State Archives, 

plats.net. The name on the certificate was given as Martain Whitsaill. 
53 Elizabeth Yourtee Anderson, Catoctin Furnace: Portrait of an Iron-Making Village (Charleston: The History 

Press, 2013), 11. 
54 PG DB BB 1, page 406. See also Tracey & Dern, Pioneers, 203. 
55 As cited in John Thomas Scharf, History of Western Maryland (Genealogical Publishing Com, 1968), 436. Scharf 

noted ñThis was the first road laid out in Frederick County after its erection.ò 

https://www.jstor.org/stable/41179664
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Wetzel, Verdress, Ambrose, or Miller employed enslaved laborers in their mills. However, 

William Buchanan, who operated a mill as early as 1769 in the northeastern section of Frederick 

County (later part of Carroll County), was a slaveholder and may have used their labor in his 

mill.56 

The iron industry was promoted in Maryland as early as 1719 when the General 

Assembly passed ñAn Act for the Encouragement of an Iron Manufacture.ò The British 

Parliament further encouraged production of iron in the American colonies when the Iron Act 

was passed in 1750, allowing duty-free exports of ñpig iron,ò the bars of iron from which 

finished items were manufactured.57 Iron production was a risky, but potentially lucrative 

investment, popular among a small segment of Marylandôs elite families. A large cash outlay 

was required to purchase thousands of acres of wooded land, to build facilities, and to employ a 

large labor force ï including enslaved Black men and women. Jean Libbyôs study of ñAfrican 

Ironmaking Culture among African Americans in Western Maryland, 1760-1850,ò found that 

charcoal-making and iron smelting were native African skills specifically exploited by American 

enslavers.58 The earliest iron furnace in Maryland, Principio Furnace established in 1719 in Cecil 

County, noted the use of enslaved forgemen in a ledger account dated 1754. By 1777, this same 

furnace employed as many as 136 enslaved workers.59 This tradition would carry over to the 

ironworks developing in the western Maryland region. 

The Catoctin Mountain range, rich in iron ore, limestone for flux, trees for charcoal, and 

abundant water power, positioned the nascent Frederick County as an attractive location for iron 

manufactures. In 1763, the iron ore located within the Catoctin Mountain bedrock had attracted 

the attention of industrial adventurers/investors Benedict Calvert, Edward Diggs, Normand 

Bruce, William Diggs, Jr., and James Kennedy, when they patented their tract of 374 acres called 

Hermits Fancy. The original 100 acres, called Emmitts Fancy, was located ñon the south side of 

Turkey run about ten perches up the said branch opposite the Great Falls upon the said run,ò an 

ideal source of industrial power.60 It was on this tract that the partners established Hampton 

 
56 Legh MASTER vs William BUCHANAN - Contract to Purchase 1784, MdHR 17, 898-215A-1/4; Loc 1-35-5-35; 

dated 1784, ñFrederick County, Maryland, Chancery Records of African Americans,ò accessed August 13, 2021, 

https://sites.rootsweb.com/~midmdroots/afriamericans/chancery.htm.  
57 Francis C. Robb, Teresa S. Moyer, Paula S. Reed, and Edith B. Wallace, Millers and Mechanics: A History of 

Industry in Mid-Maryland (Frederick, MD: Catoctin Center for Regional Studies, 2011), 4. 
58 Jean Libby, ñAfrican Ironmaking Culture among African American Ironworkers in Western Maryland, 1760-

1850ò (Masterôs thesis, San Francisco State University, 1991, revised 2000), 37; Ibid, 28-29.  
59 William G. Whitely and Henry Whitely, ñThe Principio Company. A Historical Sketch of the First Iron-Works in 

Maryland,ò The Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography, Vol. 11, No. 2 (July 1887), 192; ñAfrican 

American Heritage & Technology,ò National Park Service, Park Ethnography Program, ñIronworkers,ò 

https://www.nps.gov/ethnography/aah/aaheritage/Chesapeake_furthRdg6.htm.  
60 Frederick Co. Circuit Court, Patented Certificate 3505, MSA-S1197-3922, Maryland State Archives, plats.net. In 

1761, John Lilly received a warrant to resurvey his tract called ñHemets Fancyò (Emmitts Fancy; original survey, 

1752, 100a. to John Emmitt; FC Circuit Court, Patented Certificate 1264, MSA S1197-1328). The tract was 

resurveyed for Lilly in 1762, adding 274 acres to the original, and in 1763, Lilly (Lilley)  assigned the resurvey to 

Calvert et al., who patented the tract on September 29, 1763. In June 1764, Calvert et al. purchased from Lilly 

(Lilley)  100 acres of ñEmmitts Fancyò by deed. (FC DB J, page 772) Turkey Creek runs along todayôs Hampton 

Valley Road west of Emmitsburg and feeds into Tomôs Creek.  

https://sites.rootsweb.com/~midmdroots/afriamericans/chancery.htm
https://www.nps.gov/ethnography/aah/aaheritage/Chesapeake_furthRdg6.htm
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Furnace for the purpose of pig-iron production. The Calvert et al partnership also received a 

grant of 3,012 acres called Carolina, adjoining Hemmets [Emmitts] Fancy, the large acreage 

capable of supplying enough wood to make the charcoal fuel used to fire the iron furnace.61  

Benedict Calvert also invested in the purchase of enslaved Africans for furnace work in 

1763. Calvert reportedly supplied cash to Fielder Gantt (Gaunt, Gauntt), ironmaster of his own 

Fielderea Furnace in southwestern Frederick County, to purchase sixty enslaved people in 

Annapolis in 1763 ñto begin making iron.ò62 In April 1764, the Fielderea Furnace Account listed 

fourteen ñServants,ò while other records indicate that by 1766 Gantt held as many as forty-five 

people in bondage, either at the furnace or on his plantation.63 This information leaves open the 

possibility that the remaining enslaved people purchased with Calvertôs money were among the 

enslaved workforce at Hampton Furnace.  

The Hampton Furnace partnershipôs ironworks plan proved faulty, having located their 

furnace on land yielding inferior iron ore. In 1766, perhaps in an effort to acquire a better source 

of iron ore, or possibly to begin a new venture, the partners obtained a warrant to survey fifty 

acres called The Venture, located at ñthe foot of the Kittoctin,ò near Hunting Creek.64 Though the 

survey was completed and certified in February 1767, the Hampton Furnace was shut down by 

 
61 FC Circuit Court, Patented Certificate 749, MSA S1197-813, Maryland State Archives, plats.net. This was 

initially patented to John Lilly and James Kennedy, but they assigned it to Edward Key, who then assigned it to 

Calvert et al. A resurvey was done on this tract in 1796 for Normand Bruce, William Diggs, and the heirs of 

Benedict Calvert and Edward Diggs (Patented Certificate 750, MSA S1197-814). See Basil L. Crapster, ñHampton 

Furnace in Colonial Frederick County,ò Maryland Historical Magazine, Volume 80 (Spring 1985), 1-8, for a full 

description of the development and demise of the Hampton Furnace. The location of the furnace was identified in an 

1815 deed from William Shields to Patrick Owings for nine acres of ñEmmitôs Fancyò (FC DB TB1, page 332). It 

appears that Emmitts, Emmits, Hermits, and Hemmets, are all variations on the same tract name, probably due to the 

clerkôs understanding of what he was hearing. 
62 Libby, ñAfrican Ironmaking Culture,ò 37. According to Libby, Gantt sold all of the enslaved people ñfor 

immediate profit and a promise froméJames Hunter to replace the workforce from his plantation.ò (Libby, 37, 

citing FC Chancery Record Book 132 ï I have not seen this Chancery record ï MSA index card shows Book 132, p. 

49 ñDefendantò). An abstract of a 1790 Chancery record gives this account: ñFielder GANT of Frederick County 

purchased NEGROES in 1763 from Annapolis, jointly with the Honorable Benedict CALVERT of the said James 

HUNTER, expecting to receive Mr. Calvert as a partner in the Iron Works. He later entered into a partnership with 

James HUNTER which has resulted in monetary disagreement.ò Among the abstracted attachments noted with this 

Chancery record was an August 2, 1765 letter from James Hunter to Fielder Gantt, in which Hunter ñmentions a 

business association for constructing a forge on Ketocton [Hampton Furnace?] and that Gantt's designs on 

Monocacy were defeated by Calvert & Company because the stream is only sufficient to carry a single hammer for 

five or six months of the year.ò (HUNTER, PURVIANCE vs Fielder GAUNT - Contract to Lease - 23 Feb 1790 

[MSA S512- 2534; 1/36/3/36-2446; 2 folders], ñChancery Court Abstracts,ò Maryland State Archives, 

https://msa.maryland.gov/msa/speccol/sc6000/sc6016/county/frederick/chancery/2446.htm)  
63 Fielderea Furnace Account, April  18, 1764 in ñHUNTER, PURVIANCE vs Fielder GAUNT - Contract to Lease - 

23 Feb 1790.ò A 1766 mortgage deed from Gantt to Caleb Dorsey for several tracts of land, also included sixteen 

enslaved people ñat Fielderea Furnace,ò and ten others held in bondage elsewhere (FC DB K, page 456). Gantt also 

held an additional 19 enslaved people who were mortgaged by Gantt to Thomas Smith and John Cox in 1766, 

however, this document does not indicate where these people were held (FC DB K, page 504). In 1767, Hunter 

purchased (by lease and release) all of the Fielderea Furnace land, buildings, and chattels ï including ñslaves and 

servantsò ï from Gantt (FC DB K, pp. 1161-1165), then immediately leased back to Gantt fourteen of the enslaved 

workers at the furnace (FC DB K, p. 1176). 
64 Frederick Co. Circuit Court, Patented Certificate 4947, MSA S1197-5374, Maryland State Archives, plats.net. It 

appears that John Davidson was initially included in this group, but withdrew. 

https://msa.maryland.gov/msa/speccol/sc6000/sc6016/county/frederick/chancery/2446.htm
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May 1767. The partners advertised the Hampton Furnace for sale from May through September 

1767 in the Maryland Gazette. (Figure 9) As noted previously, the Hampton partners appear to 

have imported enslaved Black men and women as their primary workforce like other iron 

furnaces throughout the Maryland province. These people, described in the 1767 sale 

advertisement as ñthe whole stock of negroes,ò were to be sold along with the livestock and 

3,000 acres of land.65  

 

 
Figure 9: Sale of Hampton Furnace, Maryland Gazette, September 17, 1767 

Benedict Calvert quickly moved on to join a new Catoctin iron investment partnership 

with Annapolis attorney Thomas Johnson, Jr., his brother James Johnson, and John Davidson. In 

1768, the group sought a warrant to survey a large vacant tract of land on Catoctin Mountain, 

 
65 Maryland Gazette, Sept. 17, 1767, Newspapers.com. Note: The author has found no evidence in the land records 

or newspapers that this sale ever took place. Since Benedict Calvert was involved in the next venture, it is possible 

he simply bought out his partners and moved at least some of the equipment, and probably the enslaved workers, to 

the Catoctin works. Indeed, The Venture tract appears to have been encompassed by the 1771 survey of Mountain 

Tract. 
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ñfor the purpose of erecting and building an iron works.ò66 While awaiting that warrant, Calvert 

and Thomas Johnson purchased Johnôs Mountain (128 acres) from John Verdressô heir for Ã500, 

and another 2,200-acre tract called Lost Tomahawk from George Fraser Hawkins for £400. To 

these tracts they added over 5,000 acres of ñvacantò land, and various small ñelder surveysò 

including Venture, the whole of which was surveyed in 1771 for a total of 7,715 acres called 

Mountain Tract.67 It would be another three years before construction began on the new furnace 

under the direction of James Johnson and largely accomplished by enslaved laborers. 

James Johnson was already an experienced ironmaster by the time he arrived at Catoctin 

in 1774. Ten years earlier, his older brother Thomas Johnson, Jr. had partnered with Lancelot 

Jacques to develop the Fort Frederick Furnace and forge (also known as Green Spring Furnace, 

located in todayôs Washington County). Fort Frederick Furnace opened in 1768 under the 

supervision of James Johnson, who oversaw the operation, including its enslaved workers, until 

1774. When Johnson moved to direct the Catoctin Furnace construction in 1774, the enslaved 

laborers at the Fort Frederick Furnace remained there as part of the lease agreement with that 

facilityôs new ironmaster, Denton Jacques.68  

 

 

 
66 Anderson, Catoctin Furnace, 12. 
67 FC DB M, page 147 (John V. Verdress to B. Calvert and T. Johnson, 1769); Provincial Court Land Records, 

1765-1770, Volume 725, 550, ñArchives of Maryland Online,ò Maryland State Archives, 

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/html/index.html; FC Patented Certificate 2698, MSA S1197-3001, Maryland State 

Archives, plats.net. The £500 price tag for Johnôs Mountain was very high for 128 acres, probably because the tract 

was improved with a sawmill and possibly a forge. (Anderson, Catoctin Furnace, 11) 
68 Washington Co. (WC) DB C, page 146. The Denton Jacques agreement to lease the Fort Frederick furnace and 

forge was executed on January 27, 1775 and included ñall the lands their improvements and appurtenances, Negroes, 

Servants, horses, cattle and other personal stock estate or things whatsoever held or possessed in Joint tenancy 

common or partnership by him the said Lancelot Jacques with Thomas Johnson junioréò 

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/html/index.html
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Chapter 3. The Early Catoctin Furnace Period ï 1776 to 1820 

 

 

 

 When the first blast of the Catoctin Furnace occurred in the late summer or fall of 1776, 

the company already had purchase orders from the Maryland Council of Safety. The state militia, 

then fighting for American independence from Great Britain, would be supplied with ordnance 

and camp pots forged from Catoctin iron. All four of the Johnson brothers ï Thomas, James, 

Roger, and Baker ï served as officers in the Maryland militia. Later, in 1780, the Continental 

Army contracted with James Johnson to have the Catoctin Furnace (also known as ñJohnson & 

Co.ò) cast nearly a thousand ten-inch shells for cannon in the patriotic cause for freedom.69 The 

irony, of course, was in the production by enslaved Black laborers of those items used in the 

fight for freedom. 

The American Revolution changed many Americansô feelings about enslaved labor in a 

nation founded on ñfreedom.ò But the system of forced labor in the new United States continued 

to thrive, particularly in the states located below the Mason-Dixon Line, including Maryland. In 

northern Frederick County, the Catoctin Furnace, with its population of enslaved and free Black 

workers, dominated the landscape. The rich soils of the Monocacy River valley fostered the 

development of large white-owned farms, often worked by both enslaved and free laborers. 

Soon, tiny enclaves of free Black families would begin to coalesce around a few landowners in 

the rural districts near employment at the furnace and farms. 

 

 

Implications of the American Revolution on the Institution of Slavery 

 

The American Revolution proved to be a boon for some colonial enslavers, particularly 

iron makers such as Johnson & Company at Catoctin and for the farmers who produced the 

foodstuffs required to feed an army, such as wheat, beef, and pork. For the tobacco planters of 

Maryland, however, the war disrupted not only their profits, but also their system of enslaved 

labor. In November 1775, Lord Dunmore, the loyalist royal governor of Virginia, issued a decree 

that declared ñall indented servants, Negroes, or others (appertaining to rebels) free, that are able 

and willing to bear arms, they joining his Majestyôs troops.ò70 In response, an estimated 5,000 

enslaved people in the Chesapeake region escaped to freedom behind British lines.  

 
69 Anderson, Catoctin Furnace, 13-16. Later records showed that only about 500 of the shells were approved for 

use, the others ñnot being Air tight chiefly owing to a defect in the ear of said Shellséò (June 2, 1784 report of 

Daniel Joy to the Continental Congress, in Anderson, Catoctin Furnace, 17). 
70 ñHistory Resources: Lord Dunmore's Proclamation, 1775,ò The Gilder Lehrman Institute of American History, 

https://www.gilderlehrman.org/history-resources/spotlight-primary-source/lord-dunmores-proclamation-1775; 

Guide to Maryland Slavery, 7-8. 

https://www.gilderlehrman.org/history-resources/spotlight-primary-source/lord-dunmores-proclamation-1775
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Among the American colonials, including those in Maryland, the fear of arming enslaved 

men prevented recruitment of Black bondsmen early in the war. However, as early as 1776, free 

Black men were able to join the Maryland ranks. An August 1778 document entitled ñReport on 

Negroes in the Continental Armyò recorded ninety-five men enlisted in two Maryland regiments 

(Smallwoodôs and 2nd Maryland).71 (Figure 10) In October 1780, the Maryland General 

Assembly passed a bill authorizing the enlistment of ñany able bodied slave between sixteen and 

forty years of age, who voluntarily enters the service, and is passed by the lieutenant in the 

presence and with the consent and agreement of his master.ò72 In 1781, the General Assembly 

considered a bill to create a ñNegro regiment.ò If enacted, the law would have required large 

slaveholders, like Frederick Countyôs Charles Carroll of Carrollton, to contribute at least one 

volunteer bondsman, for which the ñownerò would receive a payment. In a letter to his father, 

Carroll angrily noted the payment was ñnot equal to the value of healthy, strong young Negro 

men.ò Charles Carroll viewed the bill under consideration, which did not become law, to be 

unfairly oppressive for wealthy enslavers such as himself, concluding, ñI hope that none of our 

Negroes will enlist.ò73 

For some slaveholders, the American Revolution initiated a change in their attitude 

toward the system of enslaved labor. After fighting for freedom from tyranny, they felt a moral 

imperative to free the people they themselves enslaved. In 1790, Daniel Dorsey (who lived in the 

Liberty District in 1800) claimed he had ñmaturely considered the nature of Slavery and being 

convinced it is contrary to the Fundamental Principle of Christian Faith do unto all Men as you 

would they should do unto you,ò he manumitted twenty-three enslaved people.74 That same year, 

the Maryland law forbidding manumission by will enacted in 1752 and continued in 1786, was 

repealed in 1790 by the Maryland Assembly, calling it ñcontrary to the principles of justice.ò75  

 
71 George Washington Papers, Series 4, General Correspondence: Alexander Scammel, Report on Negroes in the 

Continental Army. 1778. Manuscript/Mixed Material. https://www.loc.gov/item/mgw451463/. See also William L. 

Calderhead, ñThomas Carney: Unsung Soldier of the American Revolution,ò Maryland Historical Magazine, 

Volume 84, No. 4 (Winter 1989), 319. 
72 ñMuster Rolls and Other Records of Service of Maryland Troops in the American Revolution,ò Archives of 

Maryland Online, Volume 18, 367, Maryland State Archives, 

https://msa.maryland.gov/megafile/msa/speccol/sc2900/sc2908/000001/000018/html/am18--367.html; Eric G. 

Grundset, ed., Forgotten Patriots: African American and American Indian Patriots in the Revolutionary War 

(National Society Daughters of the American Revolution, 2008), 454. 
73 Grundset, Forgotten Patriots, 455. The authors of the DAR report compiled a list of African American men from 

Maryland who served in the Revolutionary War. Not all had their place of residence identified in the military 

records. The authors cross-referenced the soldierôs names against the 1790 census and apparently found none in 

Frederick County (the list for Frederick County, found on page 468, is incorrectly labeled and is actually for Harford 

County). Those from Washington County include Jacob Adams and John Grimes (page 469; the remaining names 

were actually from Worcester County). 
74 FC DB WR 9, page 107; see also Smith, ñManumission Deeds,ò 4. The 1790 census recorded Dorsey with 21 

enslaved people who were presumably among those manumitted that same year. By 1800, Dorseyôs moral compass 

had shifted back, the census recording 17 enslaved people in his household. 
75 Laws of Maryland, 1785-1791, Vol. 204, ñAn ACT to continue the acts of assembly therein mentioned,ò 173, and 

ñAn ACT to repeal certain parts of an act, entitled, An act to prevent disabled and superannuated slaves being set 

free, or the manumission of slaves by any last will and testament, and of a supplementary act thereto, and for certain 

other purposes,ò 458, Archives of Maryland Online, accessed 1/7/2020, 

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/000001/000204/html/index.html. See also, Edith Wallace, ñThey Have Erected a 

https://www.loc.gov/item/mgw451463/
https://msa.maryland.gov/megafile/msa/speccol/sc2900/sc2908/000001/000018/html/am18--367.html
http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/000001/000204/html/index.html
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Figure 10: Report on Negroes in the Continental Army (L ibrary of Congress) 

An increased number of African Americans in Maryland and other states were thus freed 

from bondage beginning in the 1770s. Although Maryland outlawed emancipation by Last Will 

and Testament in 1752, it did not prevent such releases by ñinstrument in writing,ò often referred 

to as a ñdeed of manumission.ò76 In Frederick County prior to the war, these deeds of 

manumission were infrequent, just thirteen recorded between 1754 and 1775. In 1776, however, 

nineteen people were freed by their enslavers, and from 1777 through 1789, another thirty-three 

men, women, and children were released from bondage through deeds of manumission. In 1780, 

 

Neat Little Church.ò The Rural African American Experience, 1865-1900, in the National Capital Area: A Special 

History Study, prepared for the National Park Service, National Capital Area, in cooperation with the Organization 

of American Historians, 2021.  
76 Laws of Maryland, 1785ï1791, Vol. 204, ñAn ACT to continue the acts of assembly therein mentioned,ò 173,  

and ñAn ACT to repeal certain parts of an act, entitled, An act to prevent disabled and superannuated slaves being  

set free, or the manumission of slaves by any last will and testament, and of a supplementary act thereto, and for  

certain other purposes,ò 458, Archives of Maryland Online, 

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/000001/000204/html/index.html.  

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/000001/000204/html/index.html
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Thomas Wilson, a farmer likely living in northern Frederick County, manumitted two of his 

enslaved people, John and Hanna (both aged 38), and in 1782, he released three others, Caroline 

Key, Hannah Key, and John Key (no ages given). Wilson later manumitted Dick (20) and James 

(21) in 1785, and in 1790, Francis (9) and John (12) Key were also released from bondage.77  

Many enslaved African Americans did not wait for their enslavers to release them from 

bondage. Advertisements for ñrunaway slavesò appeared in the earliest issues of the Maryland 

Gazette, though self-liberation by the enslaved was as old as the institution itself and continued 

into the nineteenth century. Many Black self-liberators left or passed through Frederick County 

seeking freedom in Canada, Ohio (Northwest Territory), or the northern states where the 

abolition of slavery was taking hold. These freedom-seekers, and the people who helped them, 

formed the foundation of what would later be known as the Underground Railroad. 

Among the self-liberators from Frederick County, the earliest advertised was found in the 

Maryland Gazette in July 1775. An enslaved woman named Rhoad [sic] or Nancy Banneker, left 

the farm of her enslaver, Abidnigo Hyatt, in the company of a fugitive Irish indentured servant.78 

In 1777, two enslaved men named Perth and Cato liberated themselves from the farm of Henry 

Riddell near Taneytown (todayôs Carroll County). Both men reportedly joined the Continental 

Army under new names ï Daniel Williams and Daniel Ehaw.79 (Figure 11) In 1798, the 

Maryland Gazette carried the notice for William Stewart, a free Black man who absconded with 

Candis, a Black woman enslaved on the farm of James Crow Cheney. Stewart carried a pass that 

certified he and his wife Elizabeth were both free people, according to Cheneyôs advertisement, 

adding that, ñit is supposed she [Candis] will pass with said fellow as his wife, by the name of 

Elizabeth, as free under the said pass.ò80 

 

 
77 Richard H. Smith, ñManumission Deeds of Frederick County, Maryland, 1748-1865,ò Volume 2, 2-4, ñResearch,ò 

Frederick Roots, accessed 9/10/2021, http://frederickroots.com/research.asp. According to the 1800 census, Wilson 

lived in the Westminster District No. 6 (including the Taneytown area?). 
78 Maryland Gazette, July 20, 1775, Newspapers.com. In 1775, Hyatt noted he lived in Frederick County, but by 

1790, he was listed in Prince Georgeôs County on the census. Certainly, there were enslaved people who freed 

themselves in the county prior to this 1775 date, however, this was the earliest newspaper advertisement found for 

Frederick County. 
79 ñLegacy of Slavery in Maryland,ò Slave Ads database, Maryland State Archives, 

http://slavery2.msa.maryland.gov/pages/Search.aspx; see also Emily Huebner, ñStories of Slavery in Familiar 

Landscapes,ò Heart of the Civil War Heritage Area, ñBugle Call,ò accessed September 9, 2021, 

https://www.heartofthecivilwar.org/blog/researching-stories-of-slavery-in-familiar-landscapes.  
80 Maryland Gazette, November 8, 1798, Newpapers.com. Cheney also located his farm in Frederick County, though 

he does not appear anywhere in the 1790 or 1800 census records. 

http://frederickroots.com/research.asp
http://slavery2.msa.maryland.gov/pages/Search.aspx
https://www.heartofthecivilwar.org/blog/researching-stories-of-slavery-in-familiar-landscapes
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Figure 11: Ad for Perth and Cato (Maryland State Archives) 

Beginning as early as 1780, a number of enslaved men liberated themselves from the 

Johnson & Co. Catoctin Furnace.81 In January 1780, a well-dressed enslaved man named Phil 

enacted his own emancipation. James Johnson posted a reward of $100 for his return. In 

September 1782, two enslaved men, Peter Dorsey and Gabriel, escaped from the furnace. Peter 

Dorsey was born in Dorchester County, but had been ñrecently purchasedò in Ann Arundel 

County; Gabriel, who was ñbred in the Jerseys,ò had been leased by his enslaver in Georgia to 

Johnson & Co.82 (Figure 12) In June 1815, two Pennsylvania newspapers carried advertisements 

for two freedom-seekers from northern Frederick County. According to the June 3 advertisement 

posted in the Lancaster Intelligencer, Bob was an enslaved tanner and farm laborer who 

liberated himself from the farm of George Slusser, located four miles from Catoctin Furnace. 

Another June 1815 advertisement posted in the Carlisle Weekly Herald by then-Catoctin Furnace 

owner Willoughby Mayberry, noted that Bob was ñin the companyò of an enslaved furnace 

worker who called himself Richard Thomas, but whose name was given as ñNegro Dick.ò The 

two were said to be heading for Pennsylvania.83 The following year, in June 1816, two enslaved 

 
81 Libby, ñAfrican Ironmaking Culture,ò 41. 
82 ñLegacy of Slavery in Maryland,ò Slave Ads database, Maryland State Archives, 

http://slavery2.msa.maryland.gov/pages/Search.aspx; see also Huebner, ñStories of Slavery in Familiar Landscapes,ò 

https://www.heartofthecivilwar.org/blog/researching-stories-of-slavery-in-familiar-landscapes.  
83 Lancaster Intelligencer, June 3, 1815, and Carlisle Weekly Herald, June 22, 1815, Newspapers.com. See also 

ñLegacy of Slavery in Maryland,ò Slave Ads database, Maryland State Archives, 

http://slavery2.msa.maryland.gov/pages/Search.aspx
https://www.heartofthecivilwar.org/blog/researching-stories-of-slavery-in-familiar-landscapes
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men named Jack and Peter, who ñhave lived at Johnsonôs Furnace in Frederick County, in this 

State, for the last three years,ò had recently been purchased, and almost immediately liberated 

themselves from their new enslaver in Ann Arundel County. (Figure 13) 

 

 

 
Figure 12: ñRunawayò ads for Phil, Peter Dorsey, and Gabriel (Maryland State Archives) 

 

http://slavery2.msa.maryland.gov/pages/Search.aspx.  

http://slavery2.msa.maryland.gov/pages/Search.aspx
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Figure 13: ñJack and Peterò runaway ad (Lancaster Intelligencer, June 19, 1816, Newspapers.com) 

 

Enslaved and Free Black Labor in Northern Frederick County 

  

From the moment the Catoctin Furnace began manufacturing iron in 1776, the mountain 

and valley region of northern Frederick County was dominated by its presence. The numerous 

buildings necessary for the furnace operation formed the core of a growing industrial village, 

while worker housing lined the road and an elegant stone ironmasterôs house stood watch over 

the community. The furnace workforce through the first four decades of operation included wood 
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cutters, colliers who made the charcoal, iron ore miners, limestone (flux) quarriers, a founder in 

charge of the furnace blasts and pouring iron molds, and his assistant or ñkeeper,ò men to load 

(ñchargeò) the furnace, men to maintain the furnace, gutter men who poured the pig iron, 

waggoners, carpenters, and blacksmiths. Some men were employed on the furnace farms, 

producing fodder for the livestock, and grains, meat, and produce for the workers. Women were 

laundresses, cooks, and housekeepers, a few worked at the furnace and others were farm 

laborers. In the early decades, the bulk of the unskilled and some skilled labor was performed by 

enslaved people, with European immigrants and domestic migrants filling out the labor force.84 

By 1820, Catoctin Furnace employed as many as eighty workers, both free and enslaved.85 

In a 1970 study, Robert Starobin found that as many as 10,000 enslaved people in the 

South ï including Maryland ï were forced to labor in the regionôs iron furnace and forge 

operations.86 Among those would be counted the unknown number of enslaved workers at the 

Hampton Furnace in the 1760s, many of whom may have been moved to labor at Catoctin 

Furnace in the 1770s. A 1770 newspaper advertisement, again for the sale of the Hampton 

property, included all of the land and buildings, but no longer mentioned the ñstock of Negroesò 

who were likely already sold and/or employed elsewhere.87 Libby suggests that they may have 

labored at the nearby plantation of  Hampton partner Normand Bruce. Another possibility is that 

they were moved to begin work on the Catoctin properties. However, there is no documentation 

for either of these theories. The earliest documentation of the enslaved people at Catoctin 

Furnace comes from the ñrunawayò advertisements in the newspapers ï Phil in 1780, and Peter 

Dorsey and Gabriel in 1782. Phil and Peter were owned by James Johnson & Co., while Gabriel 

was leased for a set term by the company from his enslaver in Georgia. In 1788, ñThomas 

Johnson & Co.ò purchased four enslaved people ï Jack (35), James (18), Milly (37), and ñher 

child Philò (13) ï from a Frederick County ironmaster named John Rawlings.88 

These seven enslaved people were likely a fair representation of the status of the larger 

enslaved population at the furnace through its first few decades of operation. Maryland did not 

outlaw the importation of enslaved Africans until 1783, so it is quite possible that Phil, at 25 

years of age, was potentially of African origin. Peter, ñraised in Dorchester County,ò and 

 
84 Anderson, Catoctin Furnace, 68-79; Edmund F. Wehrle, Catoctin Mountain Park: An Historic Resource Study 

(National Park Service, US Department of the Interior, March 2000), 62. 
85 Wehrle, ñCatoctin Mountain Parkò HRS, 61-62, citing the 1820 Census of Manufactures for Frederick County. 

John Brien, the owner at the time of the census, noted that he had just recently purchased the furnace, which was not 

in yet in operation. 
86 Cited in Werhle, ñCatoctin Mountain Parkò HRS, 61. 
87 The Virginia Gazette, August 2, 1770, Newspapers.com (Many thanks to project intern, Keely Ferrall, for finding 

this sale advertisement). A 1773 sale advertisement for the same is referenced in Libby, ñAfrican Ironmaking 

Culture,ò 41. Libby speculates that the group of enslaved workers from Hampton may have remained with the 

Hampton ironmaster, Normand Bruce, whose plantation was located east of the furnace on Pipe Creek (todayôs 

Carroll County). The bulk of the Hampton Furnace property, a tract called Carolina, was resurveyed in 1794 by 

William Digges, Normand Bruce, and the heirs of Benedict Calvert and Edward Digges, and sold by their attorney 

Stephen Winchester to Daniel Smith in 1796 (FC DB WR21, page 139). 
88 FC DB WR8, page 286. Rawlings, who also sold his household furniture and livestock, may have come from 

Virginia (where he left his six cattle) to work at Catoctin Furnace. However, there is currently no documentation that 

Rawlings was employed at the furnace. See Anderson, Catoctin Furnace, 63. 
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Gabriel, leased from Georgia but ñbred in the Jerseys,ò may have been born of an enslaved 

mother imported from Africa. Jack, James, and Milly, among Rawlingôs group of enslaved 

people, were also old enough to have been imported from Africa, while Millyôs child Phil was 

likely American-born.89 In 1799, Moravian minister John Frederick Schlegel, noted in his diary 

of a visit to ñthe poor negroesò at Catoctin Furnace, where he preached salvation saying, ñso 

many of their countrymen in the West Indies, through belief in the Saviour, have achieved bliss 

through His death.ò90 Analysis of 31 individuals buried in the African American cemetery at 

Catoctin Furnace, active between 1790 and 1840, suggested that all were ñfirst or second 

generation Americansò with no (or little) evidence of European ñadmixture.ò91  

At the time that the first US Population Census was taken in 1790, the four Johnson 

brothers, Thomas, James, Baker, and Roger, who were then the joint owners of the Catoctin 

Furnace, held a combined total of 155 African Americans in bondage. It is unfortunately 

impossible to identify from this record exactly where each of the 155 enslaved individuals were 

forced to labor. At that time, the Johnson brothers operated four iron works in Frederick County 

ï Catoctin Furnace, Bush Creek Forge near Frederick Town (1776-1810), and the Bloomsbury 

Forge and Johnson Iron Furnace (1785-1790) in the southern end of the county near Sugarloaf 

Mountain ï as well as owning farm and town properties. The Catoctin Furnace workforce in 

1790 was likely similar in size to that of the Antietam Iron Works in nearby Washington County, 

which in 1783 was assessed for thirty-five enslaved workers.92  

In 1794, Thomas Johnson, George Calvert (heir of Benedict Calvert), John Davidson, and 

James Johnson divided their jointly-owned Johnôs Mountain and Mountain Tract properties. 

James Johnson relinquished his stake in the Catoctin Furnace tracts, while his older brother 

Thomas took a one-third stake. In 1796, George Calvert conveyed his share in 1,800 acres of 

Mountain Tract to the heirs of John Davidson and in 1797, transferred just over 1,100 acres to 

 
89 New Jersey outlawed importation of enslaved Africans in 1786, Georgia in 1793. The US Congress banned 

enslaved African importation aboard American ships in 1794, and banned all importation of enslaved Africans in 

1808. From thence the domestic (American-born) slave trade blossomed, particularly enslaved people born in 

Maryland and Virginia. 
90 Anderson, Catoctin Furnace, 86. 
91 Werhle, ñCatoctin Mountain Parkò HRS, 65. The cemetery, partially excavated in 1979-1980, contained 

approximately 100 individuals buried between 1790 and 1840. See Sharon Ann Brunston and Ronald A. Thomas, 

ñArchaeological Data Recovery at Catoctin Furnace Cemetery, Frederick County, Marylandò (Maryland Department 

of Transportation, 1981), III-1; Sharon Ann Brunston, ñThe Cemetery at Catoctin Furnace, Maryland: The Invisible 

People,ò Maryland Archeology: Journal of the Archeological Society of Maryland, 17 (March 1981); Jennifer Olsen 

Kelley and J. Lawrence Angel, ñThe Workers of Catoctin Furnace,ò Maryland Archeology: Journal of the 

Archeological Society of Maryland, 19 (March 1983); Karin S. Bruwelheide, Douglas W. Owsley, Kathryn 

G. Barca, Christine A. M. France, Nicole C. Little, and Elizabeth Anderson Comer, ñRestoring Identity to People 

and Place: Reanalysis of Human Skeletal Remains from a Cemetery at Catoctin Furnace, Maryland,ò Historical 

Archaeology, 54, pages 110ï137 (2020), Smithsonian Research Online, accessed September 29, 2021, 

https://repository.si.edu/handle/10088/102025.  
92 ñWashington County, 1783 Supply Tax,ò page 40, Maryland Society Sons of the American Revolution,  

https://www.mdssar.org/sites/default/files/archives/1783taxlists/Washington_Co_MD1783OPT.pdf. ñRichard 

Henderson & Co.ò at Antietam Ironworks (listed as ñForgeò) was assessed for 35 enslaved people: 31 adult males, 2 

adult females, and 2 boys aged 8 to 14 (also one under the age of 4). On the 1790 census, James Johnson held 65 

enslaved people, Baker Johnson had 23, Thomas Johnson, Jr had 38, and Roger Johnson held 29 people in bondage. 

https://repository.si.edu/handle/10088/102025
https://www.mdssar.org/sites/default/files/archives/1783taxlists/Washington_Co_MD1783OPT.pdf
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Baker Johnson.93 Operations continued under the leadership of Baker Johnson, who took full 

ownership in 1802, until his death in 1811.94 By 1800, Elias Harding was the superintendent at 

the works for Baker Johnson, according to the US Census, with thirty-five enslaved people 

employed there. Just one year earlier, a Moravian minister reported preaching to enslaved 

workers ñat the top of the furnace opening,ò noting, ñ[t]hey wept very much because they were 

bound to work so hard during the week as well as on Sunday in the iron smelteréò95 Though 

James Johnson was no longer directly involved in the furnace, he enslaved seventy-one people 

on his nearby Springfields plantation. It is likely that at least some of these people worked at the 

furnace, while many others were occupied with producing food and fodder for the operation. In 

1804, the Moravian minister, Brother Schlegel, arranged to preach ñto the poor negroes at the 

Johnsonsô plantations. We believed it best to meet them together in the fields at their work.ò96  

Baker Johnson was still living in Frederick Town in 1800, where he held thirteen 

bondsmen in his household. After 1802, Baker Johnson moved to his mansion property called 

Auburn, just south of the furnace and by 1809, his Last Will and Testament enumerated eighty 

enslaved men, women, and children. Several of the names given in the will identified their work 

at the furnace, on the farm, or at the mill. ñCollier Samò would have been occupied with 

preparing the charcoal fuel for the furnace, while ñWaggoner Henryò and ñHarvey the 

Waggonerò likely transported goods from farm to furnace and elsewhere. Most of Johnsonôs 

enslaved people probably worked on the farm or his vineyard, but several were specifically 

identified as ñFarm Samò and ñFarm Jacob.ò Another Sam, who likely worked at the furnace 

ñchopping mill,ò was identified as ñMill Sam,ò while ñWaiter Samò and ñWaiter Billò were 

probably employed as valets in the mansion house. Baker Johnsonôs enslaved population 

included eight married couples and three single mothers with a total of thirty-four children ï a 

total of fifty-three people in eleven family units. The remaining twenty-seven were single men 

and women.97 

By 1800, the US Population Census listed 379 enslaved men, women, and children in the 

northern election District #4 (Emmitsburg District). The Catoctin Furnace, with its thirty-five 

bondsmen under Supt. Elias Harding, was not the only employer of enslaved Black workers. As 

noted previously, it is likely many of Johnsonôs enslaved people worked on the farms. Indeed, in 

 
93 FC DB WR12, page 449 (Geo. Calvert, John Davidson, James Johnson to Thomas Johnson, 1794); WR12, page 

450 (James Johnson to Geo. Calvert, 1794); WR12, page 451 (Thomas Johnson to Geo. Calvert and John Davidson, 

1794); WR17, page 52 (Geo. Calvert to Davidson heirs, 1796); WR15, page 253 (Geo. Calvert to Baker Johnson, 

1797). No deed was found between the Davidson heirs and Thomas Johnson, however at some point Johnson held 

two-thirds stake in the Catoctin Furnace property.  
94 FC DB WR22, page 534 (Thos. Johnson to Baker Johnson, 1802); Contract Archaeology, Inc., ñAn Historical and 

Archaeological Survey of Land Affected by the Duelization of US Rt. 15 at Catoctin Iron Furnace,ò Maryland State 

Highway Administration, 1971, 20. 
95 Anderson, Catoctin Furnace, 63-64. In 1803, Schlegel wrote in a letter, ñOur negro gatherings continue. I feel 

there are just 3 or 4 black listeners in whom we can be hopeful they might eventually reach the arms of the Savior.ò 

(John Frederick Schlegel to Brother Loskiel, August 2, 1803, page 4, translated by Keely Ferrell, Moravian Archives 

file, Catoctin Furnace Historical Society) 
96 Moravian Diaries, July 19, 1804. 
97 FC WB 1809-1815 Vol. 1, page 192, FamilySearch.org. 
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1804, James Johnson advertised the sale of ñseveral valuable negroes, consisting of men, boys, 

and girls brought up to farming.ò98 Many of the large and fertile farms of northern Frederick 

County depended on enslaved labor in the fields and woodlots. Pennsylvanian Lewis Walker, an 

itinerant iron worker at Catoctin Furnace, wrote in an 1814 letter: ñThis part of Maryland is 

fertile in the extreme and the great number of the inhabitants dedicate their lives to 

agricultureéHusbandry is generally performed here by slaves. I can compare them to mere 

living machines subject to the will and pleasure of a master who often is a perfect despot 

considering them his property in the same spheres his cattle instead of exerting his power with 

some degree of clemency.ò99  

 

 
Figure 14: ñNegro Man For Sale,ò seller unknown. (Frederick Town Herald, June 15, 1816, Newspapers.com) 

 

The 1790 census for Frederick County records enslaved people on the farms of the early 

European settlers in the region, now under the ownership of their sons and daughters. William 

Emmit, Esq. listed three bondsmen, while Samuel Emmit, who platted the town of Emmitsburg 

in 1788, listed six enslaved people in his household. Richard Lilly held five people in bondage 

and Thomas Lilly enslaved three people. There were even a few German households with 

enslaved workers ï Abraham Groshong had one (three in 1800 living in Creagerstown), 

Laurence Cregar (Creager) listed seven people enslaved in his household, and Jacob Crist had six 

enslaved people (both had none in 1800). Frederick W. Shriver held one person in bondage. 

Shriver had purchased approximately 500 acres of land called Resurvey on Den of Wolves in 

1777, describing himself then as a farmer from York County, Pennsylvania. In 1790, still a 

farmer, Shriver added 100 acres to his large holding.100 Among the largest agricultural 

 
98 Wehrle, ñCatoctin Mountain Parkò HRS, 62. 
99 Walker, unpublished papers, as cited in Elizabeth A. Comer, ñPatterson Paper,ò manuscript, Catoctin Furnace 

Historical Society. 
100 FC DB RP1, page 177 (Jacob Keller to F.W. Shriver, 1777); WR9, page 44 (Beall estate to F.W. Shriver, 1790). 

Frederick William Shriver (b. 1744, d. 1820, buried at St. Johnôs Reformed Church in Creagerstown), son of Jacob 

Shriver, immigrant, of Ann Arundel County and brother of Lewis P. Shriver of Adams County, PA. (Harry C. 

Shriver, A History of the Shriver Family with Particular Reference to Jacob Shriver, (1714-1792), his Son Lewis 

Shriver (1750-1815), and Their Descendants (Reproduced privately, 1962), 11,  

https://archive.org/details/historyofshriver00shri/mode/2up.  

https://archive.org/details/historyofshriver00shri/mode/2up
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slaveholders in 1790 was John Ross Key (Taney Town Dist. in 1800) who listed twenty-six 

enslaved people. John Biggs, whose farm was located near the Moravian town of Graceham, had 

no record of enslaved laborers in 1790, but in 1799, he advertised for the recovery of his 

enslaved man named Abraham Sandy. Biggs noted that he had recently purchased Sandy from 

ñMr. Fite near Baltimore,ò and that he ñwas brought up to the farming business.ò By 1800, Biggs 

held three people in bondage on his north-county farm. 

 As noted previously, several of the areaôs prominent Catholic settler families enslaved 

Black agricultural workers in 1790. Anthony Livers, who was the son of the settler, Arnold 

Livers, and inherited part of his fatherôs 1,000-acre Arnoldôs Delight in 1751, enslaved ten 

people in 1790. Among the children of William Elder (who died in 1775), sons Charles and 

Arnold Elder each enslaved seven people on their farms, and daughter Elizabeth Brawner was 

listed with four enslaved individuals. William Elderôs widow [Jacoba] Clementia Elder had six 

bondsmen on her fifty-acre dower tract in 1790, while Elisha [Aloysius] Elder, son of William 

and Clementia Elder, enslaved three people on the home farm known as Pleasant Level, which 

he shared with his mother.  

It was near the base of Carrickôs Knob, about seven miles north of Catoctin Furnace on 

part of Joseph Elderôs tract called Stoney Batter, that the Reverend John DuBois determined to 

build both a church and school for the regionôs Catholic faithful.101 In 1805, Father DuBois 

gathered his flock at the mountain site chosen for a new church building. The group of fifty to 

sixty people reportedly included men, women, and children, ñwhite and black.ò A participant 

recalled, ñThere were few but were eager to have a hand in the work, and one lady in the 

neighborhood, Mrs. Brawner, gathered her children and slaves, ten or twelve of them armed with 

baskets, and, leading them to the spot chosen for the church, directed them in gathering the loose 

stones lying about and carrying them away.ò102 

Several years later, the St. Maryôs Seminary was founded by the Society of St. Sulpice at 

the base of the hill on which the St. Maryôs Church stood. On the census of 1810, ñJ DuBoisò 

was listed with as many as fifty-eight students, five teachers, and nine enslaved people. In 1811, 

Arnold Elder and his wife sold their adjoining farm to the Rev. John Tessier of the Society of St. 

Sulpice. The Elders retained a life estate to continue living on the farm, but having retired from 

their farming life, they also sold to Tessier their ñseven Negro slavesò ï John, Katy, Ignatius, 

Philip, Edward, Frank, and Erastus ï along with five horses, ñall now being on my plantation,ò 

 
101 FC DB WR26, page 576 and WR34, pages 612-616. The church was apparently located on the tract called Stoney 

Batter, initially surveyed for Richard Elder in 1775, but never patented. The discovery that the tract was unpatented 

required a second deed of conveyance to DuBois. Adjoining the tract was a tract called St. Maryôs Valley, patented 

in 1784 by John Troxell (a Protestant), a ñcoincidenceò that DuBois found ñastonishing.ò (Richard Shaw, John 

Dubois: Founding Father: The Life and Times of the Founder of Mount St. Maryôs Collegeé (Eugene, OR: Wipf & 

Stock, 1983), 34) 
102 Mary E. Meline and Edward F. X. McSweeny, ñThe Story of the Mountain, Mount Saint Maryôs College and 

Seminary,ò published by the Emmitsburg Chronicle, 1911, Emmitsburg Area Historical Society, accessed 

11/16/2021, https://www.emmitsburg.net/archive_list/articles/history/stories/som/1.htm. Father DuBois had been 

assigned to the Catoctin-Monocacy region in 1794, tending to his mountain congregation at the ñhouse chapelò in 

the Elder family home at Pleasant Level. 

https://www.emmitsburg.net/archive_list/articles/history/stories/som/1.htm
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for $1,000.103 Several of the enslaved men on the school campus helped construct the first school 

building, according to Thomas Harris, interviewed in 1848: ñThe first logs of your college were 

taken from an old house on the plantationé. The next job was hauling logs from near the top of 

Karrickôs Knob. éthe three colored men and myself set to the work, the Reverend himself, with 

his coat off, doing his share, and all of us wet through with the rain, so that it was quite a 

cheerless task.ò104 DuBois reportedly later moved that first log building to ña backgroundò where 

it would serve as ña kitchen and servantsô quarters.ò105  

There was, reportedly, a regular turnover of enslaved people working at the Saint Maryôs 

Seminary, many of whom arrived as ñpayment-in-kind for outstanding tuition of students from 

the South.ò106 These were typically ñtermò conveyances, in which the enslaved person would 

serve a pre-determined number of years before being returned to the original ñowner.ò On the 

1820 US Population Census, Rev. John DuBois was listed as the head of the St. Maryôs 

Seminary with 100 people living on the campus. Most were students, but included also were 

sixteen enslaved men, women, and children, and two ñfree coloredò men. 

Father DuBois also reportedly personally purchased enslaved people, ñpaying for Clara, 

Monica and Kitty four hundred dollars; for Joe five hundred, and for a boy of twelve three 

hundred.ò107 In 1814, he purchased thirty-six-year-old Violet from John Trucks of Emmitsburg 

for a term of five years. Under the term agreement, Violet would be manumitted by DuBois, 

provided she would ñconduct and demean herself honestly and faithfullyò throughout her five 

years of service. Having done so, ñNegro Violetò was freed by deed of manumission in 1819 at 

the age of forty-one.108 (Figure 15) Ms. Violet did not appear in the 1820 or 1830 census 

records, indicating that she probably worked and lived in white households during that period. In 

1840, however, ñVilet Duganò (aged 55+) was listed on the US Census living as a free woman in 

the Emmitsburg District #5. In her household was a young enslaved girl, aged between ten and 

twenty-four. 

 Between 1800 and 1820 the enslaved population of the northern Frederick County 

districts increased by more than 175 men, women, and children. In 1820, the 555 enslaved 

people listed in Districts #4 (Mechanics Town, Creagerstown, Lewistown and Graceham) and #5 

(Emmitsburg) would be the largest on record for the combined districts. Over the following 

decades the total number of enslaved individuals began to steadily decrease in Frederick County 

and across Maryland as a whole. Catoctin Furnace and the Johnson brothers continued to be 

among the largest enslavers in the northern districts through the first decades of the nineteenth 

century. In 1810, Baker Johnson held thirty people in bondage at Auburn, while his nephew 

James Johnson (brother James deceased 1809) reportedly enslaved seventy people at 

 
103 FC DB WR40, page 631 (farm) and WR40, page 642 (enslaved). See also Shaw, John Dubois: Founding Father, 

41. 
104 Meline and McSweeny, ñThe Story of the Mountain.ò 
105 Shaw, John Dubois: Founding Father, 41. 
106 Rev. Dan Nusbaum, ñThe Hand,ò Mount Magazine, Fall 2000, 23. 
107 Meline and McSweeny, ñThe Story of the Mountain.ò No citation was provided for this in the article and 

documentation for this sale has not been found. 
108 FC DB JS9, page 667. 
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Springfields. It is likely that a number of the enslaved people from both Auburn and Springfields 

were put to work at the furnace nearby.109  

 

 
Figure 15: Manumission of ñNegro Violetò (Frederick County Land Records, Maryland State Archives) 

In 1802, furnace owners Baker and Thomas Johnson transferred the operation of the iron 

works to Benjamin Blackford and his partner Thomas Thornburgh by a term lease, apparently 

ten years.110 Blackford moved his young family to Maryland from Cumberland County, 

Pennsylvania, where he and Thornburgh had worked at the Pine Grove Furnace. While in 

Pennsylvania, in 1800, Blackford listed one enslaved person and three ñother freeò in his 

household. With his new role as iron master at Catoctin Furnace, in 1810 Blackford listed eight 

enslaved people and one ñother free,ò likely located at the furnace. Following the death of Baker 

Johnson in 1811, the furnace was sold to Willoughby and Thomas Mayberry, iron masters from 

 
109 Recalling that in 1800, Elias Harding, then superintendent at the furnace, listed thirty-five enslaved workers. It is 

likely that a similar number of enslaved people, if not more, were employed at the furnace in 1810. However, the 

1810 census is not detailed enough to identify enslaved people specifically at Catoctin Furnace. 
110 Anderson, Catoctin Furnace, 20. The lease does not appear to have been recorded in the land records, however 

the July 26, 1811 sale advertisement for the furnace notes: ñBenjamin Blackford, Esq. is at present in possession of 

the works under a lease that will expire on the first of April next.ò (Lancaster Intelligencer, August 30, 1811, 

newspapers.com) 
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the Philadelphia area, neither of whom appeared to be slaveholders in 1810.111 Unlike earlier 

advertisements and deeds for the sale of iron works in Frederick County and Maryland in 

general, this deed for Catoctin Furnace did not include the enslaved workers at the furnace. Thus, 

it appears the enslaved workforce was not held as a group by the furnace owners, but rather more 

likely were held by term leases from other enslavers. 

Willoughby Mayberry moved to Maryland to manage the operations at Catoctin Furnace 

after the brothersô purchase in 1812.112 The iron works prospered under his improvements and 

increased wartime orders during Americaôs second war with Britain, known as the War of 1812. 

In 1813, Willoughby Mayberry bought out his brotherôs interest in the furnace. But with the end 

of the war in 1814, Mayberry found himself in financial trouble. In October 1819, he mortgaged 

both the furnace property and his worldly goods ï including his ñNegro Man named Daniel 

supposed twenty to thirty yearsò ï to Jeremiah W. Mayberry (of Philadelphia).113 In 1820, 

Mayberry listed two enslaved people in his household, one male (26-44) and one female (under 

14 years), as well as one ñFree Coloredò female over the age of 45. Since no one in the 

household was listed as occupied in manufactures, it appears that Mayberryôs enslaved man 

Daniel did not work at the furnace. 

The 1820 US Census record for the northern districts of Frederick County (#4 and #5) 

indicate a large percentage of working people (white and Black, both enslaved and free) were 

occupied in manufactures ï including at the iron furnace and the many mills ï though more 

people worked in agriculture. In District #4 (Mechanics Town [Thurmont], Creagerstown, 

Lewistown and Graceham), a total of 337 people worked in manufactures, while 498 worked in 

agriculture. In the household of Baker Johnson, Jr. at Auburn, with twenty-six enslaved people, 

thirteen people worked in agriculture and two worked in manufactures. Samuel Lain (Lane), 

Johnsonôs nearby neighbor, listed seventeen adult white males in his household and two enslaved 

men, with a total of fifteen working in manufactures.114 District #5 (Emmitsburg) had a similar 

distribution of industrial and agricultural workers ï 317 in manufactures and 473 in agriculture. 

 

 

Free Black Residents in Northern Frederick County 

 

Even as the enslaved population of the northern districts of Frederick County grew during 

the first two decades of the nineteenth century, so too did the population of free Black residents. 

In 1800, the census listed only nine Black households in the Emmitsburg District #4 ï eight in 

the rural district areas and one, named ñFree Nace,ò in ñCreagers Townò ï forty-three individuals 

 
111 Anderson, Catoctin Furnace, 26; FC DB WR41, page 637 (Col. Baker Johnson executors to Thomas and 

Willoughby Mayberry, 1812); DB WR44, page 723 (Thomas Mayberry to Willoughby Mayberry, 1813). 
112 Since the Mayberryôs purchase of the furnace did not include the Auburn manor house, it is believed the 

Mayberry brothers built the two-story stone ñfarmhouseò known as Vallonne, which Willoughby Mayberry occupied 

along with his enslaved and free servants. (see ñVallonne (Windy Hill Farm),ò MIHP #F-6-129) 
113 FC DB JS10, page 10 and DB JS10, page 13. 
114 Nothing is known about Samuel Lain (Lane) though it appears he was boarding furnace workers. 
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in total. Five free-people lived and worked in white households. By 1820, the free Black 

population of the area had risen considerably with sixteen households ï three in Emmitsburg 

town and six in the new surrounding District #5, five in the rural sections of District #4, and one 

in Mechanics Town (Thurmont). These independent households included seventy-seven free 

Black men, women, and children. Another sixty-eight unnamed ñFree Coloredò individuals lived 

and worked as servants in white households.  

The eight rural free Black households in 1800 appear somewhat scattered, but ñclusteredò 

between of Emmitsburg and Catoctin Furnace.115 Ignatius Shorter, his wife and two children, 

lived as free residents possibly in the area around Mechanics Town (Thurmont; later part of 

Mechanicstown District #15). ñFree Samò and the families of Mary Burr, Thomas Burris, and 

ñFree Nellyò with her four children appear to be closer to Emmitsburg. Burris and Nelly were 

listed on the census as immediate neighbors, apparently living near Charles Elder. John Mackey 

lived with his wife and five children closer to the Catoctin Furnace, where John Brisken and 

family, and ñFree Benò also lived. 

None of the above-listed free Black residents appear to be listed on the 1810 census, 

though at least two, Shorter and Mackey, reappear in 1820. Several households that were listed 

on the 1810 census also appear on the 1820 list, including ñC Leeò (Charles Lee) with nine in his 

household and M Knight (Moses Night), also with nine household members.116 In 1820, Moses 

Night was listed in a rural section of District #4 (Creagerstown District) alongside white 

surnames associated with the southwestern edge of the district, an area later carved out as part of 

Hauvers District #10. Charles Lee was listed in District #5 (the new Emmitsburg District) in 

1820. His household included himself and his wife, both over the age of 45, one male and one 

female aged 14-26, three females under the age of 14, and one enslaved male under 14 years.  

Though it appears that in 1810 and 1820 Charles Lee and his family were living as free 

residents, official records tell a different story. Charles Lee was in fact the only free person in his 

family prior to 1822, having purchased his own freedom in 1804 from his enslaver John M. 

Bayard for £100. Three years later, in 1807, he purchased his son Isaac, then about 9 years old, 

from Elizabeth Brawner (daughter of William Elder) for $100. In 1814, Lee paid £100 to 

Brawner for his wife Hannah and daughters Hannah, Peggy (Margaret), and one-year-old 

Adeline.117 All of Leeôs family members appear to have been living with him as early as the 

1810 census, despite their status as the enslaved property of Elizabeth Brawner. Charles and 

 
115 This is a best guess based on their location in the census list and the supposed ñneighborsò listed on the same 

pages. All eight households appear on pages 176 (near Mary Livers), 177 (near Charles Elder), and 178 (near James 

Johnson). 
116 1810 US Population Census, Frederick County, pages 243 and 409; 1820 Census, pages 164 and 145. Like the 

1790 census for Frederick County, the 1810 census does not identify the districts in which people were living. In 

many cases on the 1810 census, names are listed in alphabetized groups. However, pp. 242-262 are unalphabetized 

and the grouping appears (judging by the names included) to cover the Emmitsburg District area down to Catoctin 

Furnace. Page 409 is also unalphabetized and includes names such as Hurley, Forrest, and Wolfe, all of whom 

appear in the Hauvers District on the 1872 Atlas map of Frederick County. 
117 FC DB WR26, page 330 (Bayard to Chas. Lee, 1804), WR28, page 132 (Brawner to Chas. Lee, 1807), WR44, 

page 488 (Brawner to Chas. Lee, 1814). 
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Hannah Lee had another daughter, Mary Elizabeth, who was born after he purchased his wife 

and was, according to Maryland law, also technically his enslaved property. It was not until 1822 

that Lee manumitted his family ñfrom all manner of servitude and service to me.ò118  

 

 
Figure 16: Hannah Lee et al manumission (Frederick Co. Land Records, Maryland State Archives) 

 Charles Lee began farming for himself, though likely as a tenant, soon after he 

purchased his freedom in 1804. As early as 1805, he produced ten acres of wheat and rye, as well 

as tobacco. In 1810, three years after his son Isaac joined him on the farmstead, he had thirty 

 
118 FC DB JS15, page 480. 
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acres of ñgrain in the groundò in January, and in October, had another twenty-five acres of corn 

as well as ñwheat and rye in the ground.ò119 In both of these years Lee sold his produce, along 

with his horses, farm equipment, and household furniture, to local farmers in exchange for cash. 

(Figure 17) It is not clear whether these sales were final or actually loans of money secured by 

Leeôs produce and personal property ï a common practice in the nineteenth century. In 1813, 

Charles Lee, identified on the deed as a ñBlackman (formerly the property of John M. Bayard),ò 

purchased two acres of the tract called Pleasant View from Andrew Smith for the sum of $40.120 

Lee was officially a landowner just eleven years after purchasing his freedom from bondage. 

 

 
Figure 17: Bill of Sale, Charles Lee to Joseph Ellis, 1805 (Frederick Co. Land Records, Maryland State 

Archives) 

In 1820, both Charles Lee and his son Isaac indicated on the census that they were 

working in agriculture. Listed nearby on the 1820 census was the large free Black family of 

Stephen Coats, whose household also had two people occupied in agriculture. Joseph Shorter, 

likely the son of Ignatius Shorter (free in 1800), his wife and young son, appeared on the census 

at the end of the list (probably add-ons) near St. Maryôs Seminary (DuBois) and the Sisters of 

Charity (Elizabeth Seton). 

Within the town of Emmitsburg in 1820, there were three independent Black households 

ï Anthony Bohn, Jane Borkart (Burkett), and Jack Mackey. Among these three, only Jack (John) 

Mackey was listed on the 1800 census, at that time listed on the same page as James Johnson and 

Elias Harding at the furnace. In 1820, Mackeyôs household included himself and seven others. 

Because his name was added at the end of the page (below the last line) it is not known whether 

Mackey worked in agriculture or manufacturing, nor can we guess where in town he might have 

lived. Anthony Bohn, over age 45 and occupied in agriculture, lived with his wife and mother (or 

 
119 FC DB WR28, page 132 (Chas. Lee to Jos. Ellis, 1805, $60); WR36, page 226 (Chas. Lee to Jos. Ellis & 

Christian Hoover, 1810, £16); WR38, page 341 (Chas. Lee to Adam Flack, 1810, £15). 
120 FC DB WR44, page 13 (Andrew Smith to Chas. Lee, 1813). The 16-acre Pleasant View was surveyed for 

Andrew Smith in 1812, part of which adjoined Carrollsburgh (Frederick Co. Circuit Court (Certificates, 

Unpatented, FR), 1812/09/07, Pleasant View, Andrew Smith, 16 3/4 Acres, Unpatented Certificate 571, MSA 

S1220-594). Interestingly, in 1811, Andrew Smith was the surveyor for a subdivision of the John M. Bayard farm 

into nineteen 7-acre lots ñnear Emmitsburgò and nineteen corresponding 3-acre mountain lots. (FC DB JS7, pages 

304-305)  
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in-law) and four children. Nearby was Jane Borkart (Burkett), aged between 26 and 45, without 

stated occupation, who lived with her enslaved daughter less than 14 years old. Jane Burkett was, 

in fact, manumitted in March 1820, just eight months prior to the census. ñJenny or Jane 

Burkettò was 37 years old at the time of her release from bondage by her enslavers David M. 

Moore and Thomas Radford.121 Radford, with his large, all-white household (seven occupied in 

manufactures) lived in Emmitsburg, as did Dr. Robert Moore, likely father of David Moore. The 

town of Emmitsburgôs enslaved population of fifty-six men, women, and children, far out-

numbered the nineteen free Black residents in 1820. 

Closer to the Catoctin Furnace, Nicholas Queen, a free Black man aged in his twenties, 

lived in ñMechanics Town.ò Queen, like nearly all of the adult male residents in town, was 

occupied in manufactures. Four free Black women also lived in town, but lived and worked in 

white households. The newly-established Lewistown, platted by Daniel Fundenburg in 1815, sat 

very near the large enslaved populations of the Baker and James Johnson farms. Like 

Mechanicstown, most of the adult male population worked in manufactures ï either at the mill 

located in town or at the furnace nearby. Included among those was one free Black man living in 

the household of Peter Eichelberger.122 

By the time of the 1820 Census, Willoughby Mayberry had begun advertising his furnace 

for sale. The new owner, John Brien, who already owned the larger Antietam Iron Works (in 

Washington County) in partnership with his father-in-law John McPherson, would usher in a 

new era of improvements, production, and enslaved and free laborers at the furnace. On the 1820 

US Census of Manufactures, Brien indicated that the Catoctin Furnace was not at that time in 

operation, but listed eighty employees (men, women, and children) at the furnace.123 John Brien 

was still living in Frederick Town, with his wife and teenaged sons John, Henry, William, and 

Robert. The six enslaved people in his household, three adults and three children, presumably 

worked in the house since no one in the house was occupied in agriculture, commerce, or 

manufactures. Brien would soon move to Auburn, bringing new construction at the furnace and 

new enslaved workers. 

 

 
121 FC DB JS10, page 372 (Jane Burkett manumission, 1820). There was no mention of her presumed daughter in 

the manumission record. 
122 Peter Eichelberger owned the town mill on Lot No. 1 until 1824 when he sold it to John Brien and his father-in-

law/partner John McPherson (see John Brien equity HS4-185). 
123 1820 Census of Manufactures for Maryland, FamilySearch.com. By comparison, McPherson & Brienôs Antietam 

Iron Works in Washington County listed 150 men employed and no women or children. 
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Chapter 4. The Middle Catoctin Furnace Period ï 1820 to 1858 

 

 

 

Economics and societal changes in the first half of the nineteenth century brought about 

slow changes to the lives of African Americans in the northern districts of Frederick County. 

From a high of 547 enslaved people in the region in 1820, the numbers steadily fell to just over 

200 in 1850. Over the same period, the free Black population more than doubled from 145 free 

people in 1820, to nearly 400 in 1850. Significantly, the number of independent free Black 

households also increased from just sixteen in 1820 to seventy-five households in 1850.  

It was economics, more than a sense of moral imperative, that drove much of the change 

across most of Maryland, including northern Frederick County. Foreign, mostly European, 

immigration to the US expanded through the 1820s and 1830s as newcomers sought employment 

and a chance at landownership. In Maryland alone, the number of foreign (not naturalized) 

residents grew from just under 4,000 in 1820 to more than 51,000 (foreign born) in 1850.124 

Though the majority of immigrants settled in industrialized Baltimore City, those who ventured 

westward into Marylandôs agricultural ñbread basketò in Frederick and Washington Counties, 

provided cheap day labor to the farmers and manufactories in the region. The high cost of 

purchasing and maintaining an enslaved workforce could not compete against increasingly 

plentiful immigrant and free Black labor.125  

 

 

Enslaved Labor after 1820 in Northern Frederick County 

 

In the northern Frederick County area, the 1820 census indicated that most of the 

enslaved people were located in the rural areas of the Creagerstown District #4, where 170 

enslaved individuals resided, and the Emmitsburg District #5 (including the area around Mount 

Saint Maryôs Seminary/College), where 262 were listed. A striking number of the District #4 

bondsmen ï 109 ï were concentrated in the Lewistown area where Catoctin Furnace, Auburn, 

and Springfield (the ñsò dropped under James Johnson, Jr.) were located with large enslaved 

populations. 

John Brien, the new owner of Catoctin Furnace in 1820, was an Irish immigrant who 

gained experience with iron manufacturing in Pennsylvania. He was first employed at Robert 

Colemanôs Colebrook Furnace in Lebanon County and in 1797, became the owner of Spring 

 
124 ñCensus for 1820,ò 1821 and ñ1850 Census: Compendium of the Seventh Census,ò 1854, 

https://www.census.gov/history/www/through_the_decades/overview/.  
125 See Ronald L. Lewis, Coal, Iron, and Slaves: Industrial Slavery in Maryland and Virginia, 1715-1865, 

Contributions in Labor History 6 (Westport, CT: Greenwood Press, 1979), 82-83. 

https://www.census.gov/history/www/through_the_decades/overview/
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Forge in York County.126 Brien moved to Frederick County, Maryland probably before 1804, 

when he married Harriet McPherson, daughter of Col. John McPherson, a prominent man of 

wealth and politics in Frederick County. In 1806, John Brien and Col. McPherson went into the 

ironmaking business together when they purchased the Antietam Iron Works located in 

Washington County, Maryland.127 In May 1820, Brien purchased Willoughby Mayberryôs 

Catoctin Furnace property and several years later, bought the Auburn property as well.128 

Even before his acquisitions of Catoctin Furnace and Auburn, John Brien was actively 

purchasing enslaved Black men, women, and children. In 1818, he paid Joseph Ratcliff $222 for 

the twelve-year term of Mariah, a sixteen-year-old girl. Her term of enslavement was set to 

expire in 1830, at which time she was to be manumitted at the age of twenty-eight.129 In 1820, 

Brien and his business partner, Col. John McPherson, purchased three enslaved people ï Jane, 

who was thirty-four years old, Joshua (age twelve), and Tom (age sixteen), likely her children ï 

from Otho Sprigg for $554.130 Then, in 1821, McPherson and Brien purchased from Peter 

Eichelberger ña certain black girl by the name of Suck aged about sixteen years as a slave for 

life,ò for just $37.71.131 (Figure 18) Given that McPherson & Brienôs Antietam Iron Works 

employed as many as thirty-eight enslaved people in 1820 and sixty by 1830, it is likely that 

many other purchases or term leases were not recorded.132  

 

 
Figure 18: 1821 sale of Suck to McPherson and Brien (FC DB JS14, page 601) 

 

 
126 ñJohn Brien (abt. 1766-1834),ò accessed 12/7/2021, https://www.wikitree.com/wiki/Brien-74; Anderson, 

Catoctin Furnace, 27. Robert Coleman later developed the Cornwall Furnace in Lebanon County. 
127 WC DB S, page 348. The purchase included the furnace lands, buildings, and equipment, as well as ñall the 

negroes, stock, and farming utensils belonging to said Company used and employed about the farms, furnace, mills 

& Estate.ò Their business traded under the name ñMcPherson & Brien.ò 
128 FC Equity Case #, Equity Book HS4, pages 180-181 and 187-189.  
129 FC DB JS6, page 362 (Joseph Ratcliff to John Brien, 1818). No record of Mariahôs manumission was found. 

However, in 1829, James, Joshua, and Joseph Ratcliff, and Jesse Elliot manumitted John Howard, who in 1835, was 

assessed for four lots in the town of New Market. 
130 FC DB JS10, page 362. 
131 FC DB JS14, page 600. 
132 The 1820 census for Sharpsburg District #1 in Washington County, where the Antietam Iron Works was located, 

listed one man, Samuel Showers, with thirty-eight enslaved people (eighteen of them men between 26-45 years old) 

and twenty-four people in his household engaged in manufactures. This was by far the largest number in the district 

and therefore suggests that Showers was associated with the Antietam Iron Works, probably working as the manager 

at the works. 

https://www.wikitree.com/wiki/Brien-74
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By 1830, John Brien was living at Auburn with thirty-five enslaved people enumerated in 

his household, most of whom probably worked at his Catoctin Furnace complex. Indeed, in 

December 1827, Moravian preacher Brother Reinke reported ñpreaching in the English language 

every other Sundayéat the Furnace, chiefly for the sake of the employees, the majority of whom 

were negroes who had no other opportunity to hear the gospel.ò133 That changed in 1833, with 

the construction of a stone chapel at the furnace. On October 25, 1833, a new Moravian minister 

entered into the diary: ñAn Episcopal church, which received the name Harriet Chapel was 

dedicated at Brianôs Iron Works (Furnace) by Bishop Stone. An Episcopal clergyman was to 

conduct services there every other Sunday. Bro. Reinke led the singing, and dined with the 

company at Mr. Brians [sic]. He had preached there for about four years until November of last 

year.ò134 

Though Brien would make improvements at the furnace, like others before him he was 

unable to overcome the heavy debt accrued from his various land purchases and ongoing 

production costs. At the time of his death in 1834, John Brien was deeply in debt and left no will 

for the division of his estate. The inventory of Brienôs personal property in 1834 listed the 

enslaved people in three distinct groups. For the first two groups it did not specify where they 

were held, though the first group was listed after most of the furnace inventory and before the 

house (Auburn) items. The first group included seven men, Wally, Bill, Isaac, George, Peter, 

Bob, and David, and three women with seven children: Christina with Hanson, George, and 

Harry; Lucy with Ann and Sarah; and Lucky [possibly Suck/Suckey?] with Charity and Eliza. 

The second group of five enslaved people were listed after the Auburn household inventory, 

including Harry, Len, and Stacy with two children. The third group was listed as being at 

Antietam Iron Works and included thirty-four people: Bill and wife Milly; Aaron, Lloyd, Lucy, 

Jane, and Nicholas; Abraham; John Chase; Milly, Isaac, James, and Hetty; Harriet, George, 

Washington, and Harriet; Lenn; Jack; Kity, Jim, John, Serena, Jacob, and Betsy; Mary; Jacob; 

Thomas; Charles Young & Millie; Amey; ñMargery & female child 3 years oldò; and William.135 

The enslaved people at Antietam Iron Works were legally the shared property of John Brien and 

his son, John McPherson Brien, who had been his business partner at Antietam Iron Works since 

1829.136 

At the 1836 sale of John Brienôs personal property, his other son, Henry A. Brien, 

purchased seventeen of the twenty-two enslaved people inventoried in the Frederick County part 

of his fatherôs estate. Henry Brienôs purchase included ñWally wife & 3 boysò (likely Christina, 

Harrison, George, and Harry), Lucy and Ann, ñSuckey [Suck/Lucky?] 2 boys & 2 girls,ò Sarah, 

Bill, George, Robert (Bob), David, Harry, and Leonard (Len).137 Isaac and Peter, both adult men 

 
133 Oerter et al., ñGraceham,ò 213. 
134 Oerter et al., ñGraceham,ò 218. 
135 FC Probate Records, Inventory Book GME 7, pages 453-466.  
136 Following the death of Col. John McPherson in 1829, his grandson, John McPherson Brien (son of John Brien), 

purchased the McPherson half of the Antietam Iron Works (AIW) partnership from his cousin Horatio McPherson. 

The AIW continued to do business under the name McPherson & Brien. 
137 FC Probate Records, Account of Sales, GME 9, pages 353-361. 
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who had been listed among the twenty-two inventoried in 1834, were not included in the sale to 

Henry Brien, while Suckeyôs (Lucky) ñ2 boysò were included in the sale but not listed in the 

inventory. Also missing from the 1834 inventory group were Stacy and her two children, who 

were later sold from the estate to John McPherson Brien in 1842.138  

John McPherson Brien carried on operations at the Antietam Iron Works in Washington 

County following the death of his father/partner John Brien. Henry A. Brien appears to have 

continued operations at Catoctin Furnace, though it remained part of his fatherôs estate. In 1840, 

Henry Brien counted twenty-four people in his household, nineteen of whom were enslaved, and 

one adult male ñfree colored person.ò Five of Brienôs household members were employed at 

ñminingò (likely mining iron ore), two were occupied in agriculture, and one in ñmanufactures 

and trades.ò These numbers indicate a greatly reduced enslaved worker population at the 

furnace.139 In 1838, two of Brienôs enslaved workers were involved in a ñriotò at a tavern in 

Mechanicstown, apparently instigated by ñsome ten or a dozen [white] furnace hands.ò140 

John McPherson Brien purchased Catoctin Furnace from his fatherôs estate in 1841. His 

mortgage, held by Robert Gilmor, was secured by both the Catoctin Furnace and the Antietam 

Iron Works ï including land, buildings, equipment, livestock, and fifty-four enslaved workers, 

presumably held at both Catoctin and Antietam.141 Two years later, Brien defaulted on his debts 

and sold the ñCatoctin Worksò and ñthe personal property at Auburn and Catoctinò to Peregrine 

Fitzhugh. The sale specifically excluded ñpig and bar iron, castings and scraps,ò a number 

personal items, ñand the negro slaves.ò142 When John McPherson Brien died in 1849, his estate 

inventory was recorded in Washington County where he lived. It identified twenty-three 

enslaved people by name, age, and value, including Stacy, aged 75 and valued at $50, who was 

formerly enslaved at Auburn.143 (Figure 19) 

 

 
138 FC Probate Records, Account of Sales, GME 12, page 407. 
139 Listed nearby was Daniel Rouzer with twenty-one people in his household, including eleven enslaved. Rouzer, 

who was a tanner by trade, listed seven people in his household working at manufactures and three in agriculture. In 

1850, Daniel Rouzer was 85 years old and retired, however his son John Rouzer was listed in the census as a 

tanner/miller. 
140 Baltimore Gazette and Advertiser, 17 September 1835, cited in Wehrle, ñCatoctin Mountain Parkò HRS, 65-68. 
141 FC DB HS 14, pages 121-124. In 1848, John McP Brien held at least forty-nine enslaved people at Antietam Iron 

Works, some of whom were sold to help pay his debts (Libby, ñAfrican Ironmaking Culture,ò 80). 
142Anderson, Catoctin Furnace, 31-32. 
143 WC Estate Records, Personal Property Inventory Book Q, page 521-522, FamilySearch.com. 
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Figure 19: List of ñColoured Peopleò in Brienôs 1849 estate inventory. 

By 1850, it appears that enslaved labor at the furnace had been largely replaced by white 

and free Black laborers. Archeological evidence uncovered in the Catoctin Furnace African 

American cemetery indicates that burials there ended around 1840.144 In 1850, Peregrine 

Fitzhugh, then owner of Catoctin Furnace, was listed as ñiron masterò in the Creagerstown 

District #4 census. The Slave Schedule of the 1850 census, listed Fitzhugh with just eight 

enslaved people, only one of whom was an adult male and four of whom were children aged ten 

and under. In addition to his own family members, Fitzhughôs household included Pennsylvania-

born iron master Michael Ege, who apparently did not claim any enslaved workers. Among their 

Creagerstown District neighbors, William Johnson listed seven enslaved adults and children, 

while William McPherson, a physician whose clients included furnace workers, enslaved three 

people.  

Other enslavers in the region were, for the most part, farmers, though George W. Creager 

was a stonemason, Charles Worthington an inn keeper, and John Rouzer was a tanner/miller, and 

 
144 Wehrle, ñCatoctin Mountain Parkò HRS, 65. 
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two were not listed as living in the district though their enslaved people were (George Harman 

and George Slusser). In all, ninety-three enslaved men, women, and children were enumerated in 

the 1850 Slave Schedule for the Creagerstown District #4 (including Lewistown, Creagerstown, 

and Thurmont not separately enumerated), while Emmitsburg District #5 (including 

Emmitsburgôs twenty-two enslaved) had a total of 106 enslaved people, the largest enslaved 

population of all the northern districts.145  

As the economic viability of enslaved labor in Maryland began to wane, many Maryland 

enslavers sold the individuals they had enslaved to traders in the Deep South. According to one 

source ñhealthy young menò could bring as much as $1,200 to $1,600, noting that as many as 

20,000 people were sold south between 1830 and 1860.146 (Figure 20) Enslaved people in 

Frederick County were among those in Maryland who were at risk of being ñsold south,ò a 

practice that wreaked havoc on the already fragile enslaved family structure. William Still, 

 

 
Figure 20: ñMaryland and Virginia Negroes,ò undated sale advertisement. (NYPL) 

well-known Underground Railroad conductor of Philadelphia, recorded the escape of William 

Davis from his enslaver in Emmitsburg, Dr. James Shorb (written as ñShoulò), in 1854: 

All that the records contain of William is as follows: He left Emmitsburg, Md. the 

previous Friday night, where he had been held by Dr. James Shoul. William is thirty-

 
145 Catoctin District #6 had five, and Hauvers District #10 had two enslaved people listed on the 1850 Slave 

Schedule. 
146 ñA Guide to the History of Slavery in Maryland,ò 14, http://slavery.msa.maryland.gov/pdf/md-slavery-guide-

2020.pdf. There is no record of such sales from northern Frederick County enslavers. 

http://slavery.msa.maryland.gov/pdf/md-slavery-guide-2020.pdf
http://slavery.msa.maryland.gov/pdf/md-slavery-guide-2020.pdf
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two years of age, dark color, rather below medium stature. With regard to his slave 

life, he declared that he had been ñroughly used.ò Besides, for some time before 

escaping, he felt that his owner was in the ñnotion of tradingò him off. The fear that 

this apprehended notion would be carried into execution, was what prompted him to 

leave his master.147 

In 1850, Dr. James A. Shorb, a graduate of Mount Saint Maryôs College, was recorded on the 

census with twenty-one enslaved men, women, and children. By 1860, the Shorb householdôs 

enslaved population was reduced to thirteen, listed under the name of his wife, Margaret Shorb.  

 

 
Figure 21: ñCash for Negroesò Frederick Herald, February 14, 1860. (ñAfrican Americans: The Struggle for 

Freedom,ò crossroadsofwar.org) 

 

Rise of the Free Black Population in Northern Frederick County 

 

While the sale of enslaved people out of the state or county accounted for some of the 

decrease in population, self-emancipation by individuals like William Davis was also a factor in 

the dwindling numbers. Most cases of successful escapes from bondage went unrecorded, their 

routes to freedom unknown. However, the close proximity of Frederick Countyôs northern 

districts to the free state of Pennsylvania and the presence of a rural, and in some cases isolated, 

free Black population made the region a likely route for freedom seekers. Indeed, according to J. 

Howard Wert, an abolitionist who lived in Adams County, Pennsylvania, passengers on the 

Underground Railroad followed at least one route leading through Frederick City and 

 
147 William Still, The underground railroad. A record of facts, authentic narratives, letters &c., narrating the 

hardships, hair-breadth escapes and death struggles of the slaves in their efforts for freedom (Philadelphia, PA: 

Peopleôs publishing company, 1879) 226, Library of Congress, https://www.loc.gov/item/31024984/.  

https://www.loc.gov/item/31024984/
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Emmitsburg before crossing the Mason-Dixon Line on the road to Gettysburg. Another route 

turned northeastward through Taneytown and another westward toward Harpers Ferry.148  

Freedom seekers from other counties or states were not the only ones to follow the routes 

through northern Frederick County. As the example of William Davis illustrates, local enslaved 

people sought to free themselves from bondage, in some cases with local help. In 1833, David 

Bruce, a free ñmulattoò living in the Taneytown District (#6), was convicted of ñaiding a slave to 

escapeò and sentenced to four years of ñservitude.ò149 Support came also from within the 

enslaved population. In 1858, Levi Brown, an enslaved man probably on the farm of Somerset R. 

Waters, was accused of ñassisting a slave of S.R. Waters to run away from his master.ò His 

accuser (and probable enslaver) decided not to prosecute Brown, likely to prevent the potential 

loss of his enslaved laborer.150 

Although the African Colonization movement and Maryland state law encouraged 

manumitted slaves to leave the state, it appears that by 1850 manumissions significantly added to 

the free Black population in Frederick County.151 Prior to 1820, a total of 801 manumissions 

were recorded in Frederick County over a period of nearly seventy years. In contrast, over the 

thirty-year period from 1820 through 1850, Frederick County enslavers recorded more than 

2,000 manumissions, adding another 450 by the end of 1856.152 Some manumissions came in the 

form of sale to a family member who would then release the person from bondage. In 1846, 

Stephen Green, ñColored Man,ò freed his sister Mary Green whom he had purchased from Mary 

Livers ñfor the purpose of freeing her from slavery.ò153 Many others were sold for a term of 

service that would end with their release from bondage. This arrangement guaranteed the 

enslavers a return in cash or labor on their investment. Additionally, Maryland statutes pertaining 

to manumission specified that those freed should be ñable to work and gain a sufficient 

maintenance and livelihood.ò154 Though the language was written in reference to people over the 

age of fifty, it appears to have been applied to enslaved children as well. The specified term of 

 
148 William J. Switala, Underground Railroad in Delaware, Maryland, and West Virginia (Mechanicsburg, PA: 

Stackpole Books, 2004), 97. 
149 ñPrisoner Records,ò Frederick County, The Maryland State Archives Presents: Legacy of Slavery in Maryland, 

http://slavery2.msa.maryland.gov/pages/Search.aspx.  
150 ñPardon Records,ò Frederick County, The Maryland State Archives Presents: Legacy of Slavery in Maryland, 

http://slavery2.msa.maryland.gov/pages/Search.aspx. According to Williamsô, History of Frederick County, 

Somerset R. Watersô farm was in the Lewistown-Thurmont area where he was a farmer and ME minister (T.J.C. 

Williams, History of Frederick County, Maryland, Vol. 2 (1910, reprint Baltimore, MD: Regional Publishing Co., 

1979), 896). S.R. Waters could not be located in the census records for 1850 or 1860, however FC land records do 

show that Somerset R. Waters owned land (part of Principal) in Frederick County as early as 1840, but that he 

himself was by then a resident of Baltimore City (FC DB ES8, page 73). 
151 ñDuring the years it was in operation, the Society enjoyed only limited success in Frederick County, sending only 

66 individuals to Liberia (Campbell, 55-59).ò Comer, ñPatterson Paperò manuscript. 
152 Smith, ñManumissions,ò Vol. 2. 
153 FC DB WBT 4, page 396. 
154 Laws of Maryland, 1785-1791, Vol. 204, ñAn ACT to repeal certain parts of an act, entitled, An act to prevent 

disabled and superannuated slaves being set free, or the manumission of slaves by any last will and testament, and of 

a supplementary act thereto, and for certain other purposes,ò 458, Archives of Maryland Online, 

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/000001/000204/html/index.html.  

http://slavery2.msa.maryland.gov/pages/Search.aspx
http://slavery2.msa.maryland.gov/pages/Search.aspx
http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/000001/000204/html/index.html
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service in the manumission documents for children varied and appears to have been dictated by 

the enslaverôs view of the age of maturity at which an individual could support his or herself. 

Among those freed in northern Frederick County after a term of service were Henry and 

Mary Dugan, sold with their mother Nelly for $432 in 1854 by Mary Brawner to Cecelia and 

Rosalea Brawner. While Nelly would remain ña slave for life,ò both Henry and Mary were to be 

manumitted at the age of thirty-five, in accordance with the Last Will of William Brawner.155 In 

December 1846, Daniel Rouzer, who lived near the furnace in 1840 with eleven enslaved people, 

sold Alexander and Benjamin Thomas (ages twenty-one and eleven) to John Rouzer for $500, 

each to be freed when they reached the age of twenty-eight.156 One month later, in January 1847, 

Rouzer sold eight-year-old George Thomas to John Witherow for $125 on the same terms.157 

Three years after his purchase, Witherow listed then twelve-year-old George Thomas as a free 

member of his household on his farm in District #5. 

At Mount St. Maryôs College, chartered by Maryland in 1830, enslaved people were 

reportedly conveyed for term service as tuition payments.158 Louisa Mahoney was assigned to 

outgoing college president Francis B. Jamison to settle a debt in 1836. According to the 

agreement, Jamison was required to manumit Mahoney at the end of her five-year term of 

service. However, Louisa Mahoneyôs anticipated freedom did not go as planned. Instead, 

Jamison moved to Missouri where he claimed her as his slave and leased her to Edmund 

McCabe. Still enslaved in 1854, Louisa Mahoney sued both Jamison and McCabe in Missouri 

court for her release.159 In 1848, Mount St. Maryôs College president John McCaffrey 

manumitted two women and their children.160 The two women, Josephine Minott (age twenty-

eight, wife of Edward Minott) and Susan Green (age thirty-four, wife of Stephen Green) were 

freed immediately. Green had apparently been making payments to the Mount on his wifeôs 

freedom since 1840.161 (Figure 22) Their children, including one-month-old Louis Henry 

Minott, and James (ten), Ferdinand (four), and Joseph Aloysius (two weeks) Green would remain 

enslaved until they each reached the age of twenty-one.162 It appears the extended enslaved status 

 
155 FC DB ES 5, page 189 (Mary Brawner to Cecelia and Rosalea Brawner); Smith, Vol. 2, 192. The 1850 Slave 

Schedule listed ñM. Brawnerò with one female age 56, one female age 19, and one male age 23. Henry Dugan was 

manumitted by the Brawner sisters in 1858 at age 32 after Andrew K. Baker of Carroll County paid $85. (FC DB 

BGF 3, page 651) 
156 In 1850, John Rouzer, son of Daniel Rouzer, was a tanner/miller still living in his fatherôs household. He was 

listed with one male, age 15, on the 1850 Slave Schedule. 
157 FC DB WBT 4, page 499 and 532; Smith, Vol. 2, 154. 
158 Nusbuam, ñThe Hand,ò 23, http://msmary.edu/alumni/alumni_news/mount-magazine/pdfs/Mount-Magazine-

Fall-2000-Ghost-Stories.pdf.  
159 ñMount St. Mary's College to the use of Louisa Mahoney, a woman of color v. Francis B. Jameson and Edmund 

H. McCabe,ò 1854, Washington University in St. Louis, University Libraries, accessed 12/29/2021, 

http://repository.wustl.edu/concern/texts/hq37vp57t.  
160 In 1840, Reverend John McCaffreyôs Mount St. Maryôs College household included twenty-eight teachers, 138 

students, one free Black male, and six enslaved people. 
161 ñStephen Green has paid sixty-six dollarséò April 15, 1840, ñSlavery Manuscripts,ò Folder 6, Special 

Collections, Hugh J. Phillips Library, Mount St. Maryôs University, Emmitsburg, MD. 
162 FC DB WBT 7, page 544 and page 563; Smith, Vol. 2, 162-163. John McCaffrey and Mt. St. Maryôs College 

recorded a second deed of manumission for Susan Green and her children in 1858, with no reference to the earlier 

1848 manumission (FC DB BGF 1, page 686). 

http://msmary.edu/alumni/alumni_news/mount-magazine/pdfs/Mount-Magazine-Fall-2000-Ghost-Stories.pdf
http://msmary.edu/alumni/alumni_news/mount-magazine/pdfs/Mount-Magazine-Fall-2000-Ghost-Stories.pdf
http://repository.wustl.edu/concern/texts/hq37vp57t
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of the three Green children was in name only however, as they were listed as free members of 

their fatherôs household in the 1850 census. 

 

 
Figure 22: Note confirming payment, April 15, 1840. (MSM Archives) 

Between 1820 and 1850, the free Black population of District #4 (including Lewistown, 

Creagerstown, Graceham, and Mechanicstown/Thurmont) increased from sixty-five people to 

156 men, women, and children. Of those, 145 people lived in thirty-two independent households, 

while just eleven individuals lived and worked in white households. In District #5 (including the 

town of Emmitsburg), the free Black population grew from eighty to 205 individuals. Thirty-

eight independent households included 166 people; thirty-nine people lived and worked in white 

households. By 1850, Hauvers District #10, carved from the two districts about 1830, accounted 

for twenty-one free Black community members, eighteen of whom lived in three independent 

households. 

Life for the Green family and other free Black families living in Maryland was made 

increasingly difficult by the all-white, predominantly slave-holding members of the Maryland 

legislature. These legislators enacted bills to limit the daily lives of African Americans living 

free in the state. Building on an 1805 statute that prevented ñfree negroes from selling any corn, 

wheat or tobacco, without having a license for that purpose from a justice of the peace,ò the 

legislature expanded the law in 1831 to include the sale of oats, rye, beef, and pork, and required 

three neighbors to attest that they ñcame honestly and bona fide into possession of any such 
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article so offered for sale.ò163 In the same 1831 statute, the 1806 ban on ñtumultuous meetingsò 

attended by enslaved or free African Americans was extended to ñany religious meeting which 

was not conducted either by a licensed white preacher, or by some respectable white person of 

the neighborhood.ò164 

Free Black communities through the first half of the nineteenth century were typically 

small clusters of free households, in most cases without the centralizing presence of a school or 

church building. Some of these groupings formed around a free Black landowner on whose land 

other households might settle as tenants or purchase land nearby. The 1825 and 1835 Frederick 

County tax assessments indicate that free Black landownership in the northern districts was 

primarily clustered around Emmitsburg and Lewistown. (Tables 1 and 2) The following free 

Black community discussions are based on census data (1820-1850), land records, and the 1825 

and 1835 tax assessments.165 

 

Table 1: African American s Owners Frederick County Maryland 1825 Tax List (Jeffrey Duvall, 2020) 

Owner District Tract name Acres Structures 

Anthony Bowins Emmitsburg 1 Lot - - 

Isaac Briscoe District-4 Millers Chance [Lewistown 

area] 

14 Log House 

Charles Lee District-5 Unknown 3 Log House 

Charles Lee District-5 Pleasant View [adj. 

Carrollsburg] 

2 
Log House 

John Norton Mechanics Town Lot 31 - - 

 

Table 2: Table of African Americans assessed for land and buildings in 1835 (Jeffrey Duvall, 2020) 

   Owner District Tract or Town Lot Acres Buildings 

Anthony Boen (Negro) 5 Emmittsburg Lot 127 - Small Log House 

Gabriel Briscoe (Negro) 5 Emmittsburg Lot 117 - - 

John Briscoe (Negro) 5 Carrollsburg 4 Log House 

Ann Butler (Negro) 5 Carrollsburg .25 Log House 

Milly Butler (Negro) 5 Carrollsburg .25 Log House 

 
163 Session Laws, 1805, Volume 607, page 60, Archives of Maryland Online, 

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/000001/000607/html/am607--60.html; Session Laws, 1831, Volume 213, page 448ï

49, Archives of Maryland Online, http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/000001/000213/html/am213--448.html.   
164 Session Laws, 1831, Volume 213, page 448ï49. See also Barbara Jeanne Fields, Slavery and Freedom on the 

Middle Ground (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 1985), 35. 
165 Jeffrey A. Duvall, ñAfrican American Land Owners Frederick County Maryland 1825 Tax Listò and ñ1835 

Frederick County Maryland Tax Assessment (Free Black Land Owners),ò Maryland Historical Mapping, accessed 

12/28/2021, https://mdhmapping.com/1835-frederick-county-tax-free-black-land-owners/, compiled from Frederick 

County Commissioners of the Tax (Assessment Record), 1793-1841, C755-5, 1825 and 1835. 

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/000001/000607/html/am607--60.html
http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/000001/000213/html/am213--448.html
https://mdhmapping.com/1835-frederick-county-tax-free-black-land-owners/
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Thomas Butler (Negro) 5 Poplar Ridge [north of 

Emmitsburg; Flat Run; Fox Town 

& Dautheits Chance] 

6 Log House 

Stephen Coats (Negro) 5 Poplar Ridge [north of 

Emmitsburg] 

4 Log House 

Joseph Frazier (Negro) 5 Carrollsburg 5 - 

Stephen Green (Negro) 5 Mountain Land [near Mt.St.Marys] 3 Log House 

Richard Hall (Negro) 4 Millers Chance 2.5 - 

Jeremiah Myers (Negro) 5 Poplar Ridge [north of 

Emmitsburg] 

4 Log House 

John Sarnip [?] (Negro) 5 Oylers Content 20 Log House 

 

 
Figure 23: Frederick County Election Districts 1854-1872. (courtesy MidMdRoots@aol.com) 

mailto:MidMdRoots@aol.com
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Creagerstown District #4 (including Hauvers District #10)166 

In 1810, Isaac Briscoe purchased eight-and-a-half acres of Millers Chance, one acre of 

Trifle, and in 1812, two-and-a-half acres of Generosity, contiguous tracts located in the 

Lewistown area.167 In 1826, Richard Hall bought a two-and-a-half-acre parcel of Millers Chance, 

which he then sold to Catherine and Richard Hall (Jr.) in 1828. The 1830 census listed both the 

Hall and Briscoe families as well as three other independent Black households apparently 

scattered between Lewistown and Mechanicstown in rural District #4. Anthony Briscoe, who 

lived with one other person in his household (probably on Millers Chance), was listed after the 

Lewistown enumeration on the same page as Daniel Rouzer, a white tanner who lived near 

Catoctin Furnace. On the next page was Richard Richardson, also listed in the district in 1820, 

with a household of fifteen people, including one white male ñforeigner not naturalized.ò On the 

following two pages were Nace Talbot (six people) and John Jacobs, with eight people including 

a white female (wife). Richard Hall was listed two pages later with a household totaling thirteen 

members. It is likely that this scattered group of free Black households were living as tenants or 

squatters on Catoctin Mountain land. Only Briscoe and Hall were landowners. Additionally, 

there was a group of three independent free Black households in Lewistown. These included 

Rachel Williams, James Hope, and Patsey McKinney. The McKinney household of eight people 

included two enslaved people, noted as ñslave to Mr. James Johnson.ò 

Between 1830 and 1850, these households, and a few new ones, remained relatively 

scattered, often found on the 1840 census in groups of two adjoining households. The details 

given in the 1850 census provides a little more insight into this scattered mountain community. 

By far the largest grouping of free Black households was located in or adjoining the Catoctin 

Furnace village. As many as nine independent free Black families were listed in small groups 

scattered among the white (many German-born) furnace laborers, most of whom appeared to be 

living in furnace housing. These included William Patterson and James Lucket, listed near 

William McPherson (Figure 24); James Key and Zachariah Key, listed near James Robinson the 

white ñforgemanò at the furnace; Archibald Patterson and Thomas Patterson, who were listed 

after John Larkin, the white superintendent at the furnace.168 Hezekiah Lucket, Elias Patterson, 

and John Lucket were listed on the census page before Peregrine Fitzhugh, owner and ironmaster 

of the furnace. This grouping of nine Black households represented a total of thirty-six men, 

women, and children.  

 

 
166 Hauvers District #10 was formed about 1830 and Mechanicstown District #15 in 1854. 
167 FC DB WR37, page 150 (ex. of Adam Frushour to Isaac Briscoe, 1810) and WR43, page 85 (John Cronise to 

Isaac Briscoe, 1812). According to Tracey and Dern (Pioneers, 286), Abraham Miller patented the original 100-acre 

Millers Chance in 1748, ñsouthwest of todayôs Lewistown.ò 
168 Also listed on this page was Arthur Colamer (Calimer/Calaman?), a white laborer born in Maryland with white 

wife and children. 
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Figure 24: 1858 Bond Map of Frederick County, Catoctin Furnace detail, showing ñJ Lucket.ò (LOC) 

It is likely the two Hauvers District (#10) households of Robert Patterson and Abraham 

Proctor, located on the west side of Catoctin Mountain, were also associated with Catoctin 

Furnace. Robert Patterson moved from Washington County (District 1, near Antietam Iron 

Works) sometime after 1840. In 1853 he purchased a twenty-five-acre tract in Hauvers District 

called Brymoures Misfortune from Barnard & Rebecca Lewis and Samuel Maugans.169 

Pattersonôs 1858 mortgage on the property indicates it was located adjoining Jacob Gates (see 

Figure 24, ñMrs M Gatesò) and that his farmstead included a horse, cow, and heifer, a ten-plate 

stove and ñone kocking [sic] stoveò (coking or cooking stove?), an eight-day clock, bureau, and 

table.170 Pattersonôs land would prove to be the anchor for a later community known as 

Pattersonville. 

 
169 FC DB BGF 3, page 294 (Lewis and Maugans to Robert Patterson, 1853). Brimours Misfortune was patented in 

1758 by John Yost (FC Circuit Court, Certificates, Patented, 1758/09/29, Patented Certificate 633, MSA S1197-

697) and enlarged in 1792 by Thomas Beatty (Patented Certificate 65, MSA S1197-128). The tract was located on 

the west side of the mountain peak adjoining Catoctin Furnace. The peak is labeled on Google Maps as ñCat Rock & 

Bobôs Hill Natural Area.ò It is not known if this ñhillò was actually named for Robert Patterson. A check stub found 

in the Catoctin Furnace Historical Society collection had the following local lore written on the back: ñSally Ann 

Patterson married William ñButtò Calimer (born 1825) in Frederick County, Maryland. Sally Ann was born in 

Frederick County, Maryland in 1827. He [sic] worked at Catoctin Furnace. I believe Sally Ann Patterson was the 

daughter of Bob Patterson and there is a section of the mountain that runs from Catoctin Furnace up Catoctin 

Hollow Road that is called Bobôs Hill after a Bob Patterson and he had a pig farm that ran over the Hill. The folklore 

says he came to the furnace from the West Indies.ò Thus far, the census record does not match any of this 

information. In 1850, William (age 65) and Sally (age 70) Calamer were living in the Red Hill/Antietam Iron Works 

area of Sharpsburg District #1 in Washington County, Maryland. The same area where Robert Patterson was living 

in 1840 (then aged about 29). Patterson and Calamer (Calaman) families lived in this part of Washington County as 

early as 1800 and William Caliman was there by 1830. 
170 FC DB BGF 2, page 39 (Patterson to Jacob Gates, mortgage, 1858). 
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Another scattered community was clustered around the Lewistown/Utica area, including 

the families of Clem Norris and Hager Richardson, both tenant/laborers living near Ottôs tanyard. 

(Figure 25) Nearby, probably in Lewistown, were the tenant homes of Hillery Norris, Eli 

Williams, and Thomas Richardson, with sixteen people across the three households. Norris, 

Williams, and Richardson, along with Henry Williams (boarding with Norris) and Charles E. 

Williams (son of Eli), were laborers, possibly working in the mill operated by their neighbor 

Thomas Picking. In the Mechanicstown area were the households of George Briscoe and 

Jeremiah Briscoe, both of whom owned their property and worked as laborers. Elias Bowman, 

probably also in the Mechanicstown area, listed his occupation as tanner, as did his two boarders 

William Fisher and Joseph Harris. They may have worked for Alexander Scott, a white tanner 

and landowner listed nearby. John Jones was another skilled free Black laborer, who worked as a 

blacksmith and appeared to be living in the area west of Creagerstown, possibly associated with 

Catoctin Furnace. John Sanders had a farm valued at $3,300, located in the Utica area of District 

#4 (see ñJ Sands,ò Figure 25). Samuel Tucker was an independent Black farmer who owned 

$600 in real estate in the northern Harbaugh Valley area of Hauvers District.  

 

 
Figure 25: 1858 Bond Map of FC, Lewistown-Utica detail. (LOC) 

Emmitsburg Area (District #5) 

The 1830 census did not provide a separate enumeration of the town of Emmitsburg 

within District #5. Since Anthony Bowen (Bohn, Boans, Bowins) bought Emmitsburg Lot 127 in 

1814 and was listed in Emmitsburg in 1820, it is likely that he was still there in 1830, listed with 
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his wife and three children.171 Listed near Bowen on the 1830 list was Gabriel Briscoe, a ñFree 

Colored Person,ò with six household members. In 1835, Briscoe was assessed for Lot 117 in 

Emmitsburg. Briscoeôs immediate neighbor in 1830 was Stephen Minor (three people), and 

Leonard Ellison (two people) lived nearby. It is also possible that Peter Burkhart (four people) 

lived in Emmitsburg, presuming his relation to Jane Borkart, who was listed in Emmitsburg in 

1820. Burkhartôs immediate neighbor in 1830 was Joseph Little (five people) and nearby was 

Milly OôBrian (six people). Thus, it appears a community of thirty-one free African Americans 

were living in Emmitsburg in 1830. 

Twenty years later, Emmitsburgôs African American population held steady with thirty-

two residents listed in the 1850 census. Jane Burket (Borkart, Burkhart), by then aged 70, was 

the only Black property owner in her neighborhood on the southwest edge of town. Though she 

apparently owned the land on which she lived, she was described as a ñPauper.ò Her son John 

Burket, a laborer aged 28, lived in his motherôs household, with his wife Amanda and baby John 

F. Burket. The family also housed thirteen-year-old Ann M. Philips. Their neighbor, Betsy 

Butler, age 70, was also listed as a pauper. Others who appeared to be living in the immediate 

neighborhood included the households of Rebecca Lucket, Violet Doogan, Maria Constant, Lina 

Clark, Henry Dunston, and Agnes Brown, all of whom were tenant households. 

Perhaps the most significant free Black community in rural District #5 formed on part of 

the Carrollsburg and Poplar Ridge tracts north of Emmitsburg near the Pennsylvania line. The 

Poplar Ridge community, as it became known, grew around a series of early land purchases by 

seven African American men and women. In 1832, Thomas Butler ñColôd manò purchased six 

acres on Flat Run from Samuel and John Duphoin for $90. The tract was described as being on 

part of Dauthans [Dautheits] Chance (adjoining the northeast edge of Carrollsburg (Figure 26) 

and Fox Town.172 By 1835, according to the tax record, Butlerôs six acres were called Poplar 

Ridge, a name shared by Stephen Coatsô (former neighbor to Charles Lee in 1830) and Jeremiah 

Myersô four-acre tracts. Ann and Milly Butlerôs Carrollsburg lots were likely located nearby, as 

well as John Briscoeôs four acres and Joseph Frazierôs five acres, both described in 1835 as 

Carrollsburg tracts. All but Frazier were assessed for a log house as well in 1835. 

The 1840 census confirms that these people had formed a community, then consisting of 

seven free Black households, including Steven Coats, John Briscoe, James Frasier, and Charlotte 

Myers (probably Letty, daughter of Jeremiah), as well as Henry Dorsey, Nace OôBrian, and John 

Sarsnip who was assessed in 1835 for twenty acres of Oylerôs Content.173 In all, thirty-three men, 

women, and children were living in the Poplar Ridge community in 1840. Most of the adult 

males worked in agriculture, but Coats and Frazier noted two household members working in 

manufactures and two in agriculture. 

 
171 FC DB WR46, page 66 (Jacob Trankle to Anthony Boans, 1814). 
172 FC DB JS 39, page 328 (Samuel and John Duphoin to Thomas Butler, 1832). This communityôs location 

becomes clear on the 1873 atlas map of Emmitsburg District along todayôs MD Rt. 140 (see Chapter 5). 
173 With the exception of Thomas Butler, the other land transactions could not be located in the Frederick County 

Land Records. 
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Figure 26: Section of ñTomôs Creek Hundred map of early patents.ò (courtesy Emmitsburg Historical 

Society) 

The 1850 census shows the Poplar Ridge community still intact despite appearing more 

scattered. Jack and Lucy Sarsnip, both in their sixties, were listed with $600 in real estate and 

two eleven-year-old foster children, Samuel Bowers and Margaret Howard, a common form of 

aid shared among free Black families. Like Sarsnip, nearly all of the households in this free 

Black community owned real estate. James Myers (age 35), likely the son of Jeremiah Myers, 

also owned $600 in real estate. His neighbor Preston Ross (husband of Letty Myers) held real 

estate valued at $200. Nace OôBrien (age 62) was listed with $150 in real estate and may have 

tenanted his neighbors, Joseph Frazier (age 45) and Sarah Coates (age 70), former landowners 

who were listed in the next household with no real estate. John Briscoeôs (age 71) household 

held $50 in real estate and James Briscoe (age 29) had land valued at $75. Thomas Kelly Coates 

(age 25), whose household included his wife and two young children as well as Amelia Jane 

Matthews (age 12), owned $100 worth of real estate. Coates, like all the other men in the 

community, listed his occupation as ñlaborer.ò His immediate neighbor was Samuel Duphoin 

(age 52), who had sold some of his land to Thomas Butler back in 1832, listed his occupation as 

ñmanufacturerò and perhaps employed many of his Black neighbors. 

Beginning as early as 1820, another, more-scattered community was located to the south 

of Emmitsburg, along the mountainside near Saint Maryôs Seminary.174 Charles Lee and Stephen 

Coats were listed in 1820 as neighbors in District 5 outside of Emmitsburg. The 1825 tax 

assessment showed two Charles Lee properties. It was probably Charles Lee, Jr. who occupied 

the three-acre ñunknownò tract with ñlog house.ò Charles Lee, Srôs occupation of the two-acre 

Pleasant View tract was confirmed in an 1833 deed in which Charles Lee, Sr. conveyed the tract 

to Charles Lee, Jr., reserving for himself (Charles Sr.) ña life estate in the landò and ñpossession 

of the tenement there on.ò175 In 1830, the home of Charles Lee (probably Jr.) and his near 

neighbor Stephen Coats were listed on the census between Mount St. Maryôs College (Rev. 

Francis B. Jamison) and ñHouse of St. Josephsò (Mother Seton), while the other Charles Lee (Sr) 

 
174 There is no documentation of a name for this community, which was largely located along Annandale Road and 

Crystal Fountain Road. For the purpose of this study, the community will be referred to as the Annandale Road 

Community. 
175 FC DB JS 43, page 489 (Charles Lee, Sr. to Charles Lee, Jr., 1833). 
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was listed with a household of thirteen people. In 1837, Charles Lee, Jr. manumitted his wife 

Catherine and their children Catherine (Jr.), Cecelia, Ann, and William. Although neither 

Charles Lee (Sr. or Jr.) was apparently assessed for their land in 1835, Charles Lee Jr. does 

appear in the 1840 census with two free Black households adjoining his, probably as tenants on 

his land. His immediate neighbor appears to be his wife Catherine with several younger people in 

her household, probably their children. Her immediate neighbor was Robert Watt (possibly the 

son of Matilda Watt, listed here in 1830), with his wife and two children. Both Lee and Watt 

listed their occupation as agriculture. (Figure 27)  

 

 
Figure 27: 1840 US Population Census, Emmitsburg District 5. (Ancestry.com) 

Isaac Lee, the son that Charles Lee, Sr. had purchased from Elizabeth Brawner in 1814 

and was then manumitted by his father, was listed in 1840 probably on his fatherôs Pleasant 

View tract near one of the Elder farms (Catherine Elder). Although Isaac and his wife were listed 

as ñFree Colored Persons,ò one child and two adult males in the household were listed as 

enslaved. Nearby was the free Black family of Abden Reid. Two other free Black households 

appeared on the same census page, Leonard Allison (Ellison) and Philip Smith. It is possible that 

one or all of these other households tenanted on Leeôs Pleasant View tract. Most of the white 

households on the same census page gave manufactures as their occupation, including three 

people in Lewis Motterôs household which included two free Black male adults. No occupations 

were listed for the Reid, Lee, Allison, or Smith households. 

Another cluster of free Black households appeared in 1840 around James A. Shorbôs 

District #5 residence on the former William Elder farm, whose household still included eighteen 

enslaved people. Shorbôs free Black neighbors included Mary Plowton, John Jones, Philip 

Rideout, Stephen Minor, and Vilet (Violet) Dugan, with all of the adult men occupied in 

agriculture. With the exception of Stephen Minor, who appeared in the 1830 census next to 

Leonard Ellison and Gabriel Briscoe, and Violet Dugan, whose probable manumission by Rev. 

John DuBois occurred in 1819 (see Chapter 3), most of these names were new to the known 

Black population in the area. It is likely they were associated with the nearby Mount St. Maryôs 

College (formerly Seminary), where in 1830 the census listed three unnamed free African 

Americans and twenty-six unidentified enslaved people. Not far from Violet Duganôs listing 
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were two more free Black households, Abraham Lee and Sarah Wallace, both listed next to John 

Shorb where they likely worked and possibly tenanted.  

 

 
Figure 28: 1840 US Population Census showing Black households adjoining Shorb farm. (Ancestry.com) 

Although the 1835 tax assessment record identified Stephen Green with three acres of 

ñmountain landò and a ñlog houseò in District #5, he did not appear in the 1840 census. 

Following the 1848 manumission of his wife and term release of his children, in 1850, Stephen 

Green, a ñlaborer,ò was listed with his wife Susan, along with James, Ferdinand, Aloysius, and a 

daughter Annie in his free household.176 Greenôs real estate was valued at $400 and was part of 

the cluster of free Black households in the Emmitsburg District located near Mount St. Maryôs 

College (along todayôs Annandale Road and Crystal Fountain Road). Augustus Green, living in 

the 1850 Green household was probably Stephenôs brother and was a laborer. It appears that 

Augustus Green was also listed as a laborer living at Mount St. Maryôs College under the name 

ñGust. Green.ò Another free Black employee at the college in 1850 was William Richardson, 

who also had a listing as the head of a household next to Stephen Green, along with his wife, five 

children, and a laborer named James Bowie. Richardsonôs next neighbor was Martin Conrad, 

probably also a laborer, who owned $200 in real estate and lived with his wife and Mary Lee, 

described as ñCrazed.ò Two other free Black women were listed in 1850 at Mount St. Maryôs 

College ï Eliza Doogan (probably related to Violet Dugan, manumitted by John DuBois, and 

Nelly Dugan, enslaved by M. Brawner) and Ann Key. 

The growing free Black communities, though still scattered, clearly indicate the changing 

dynamics of employment in the districts of northern Frederick County. Still the areaôs largest 

employer, the bustle of the Catoctin Furnace village, the smoke of the charcoal fires on the 

mountain, and the belch of the furnaces in blast were part of the daily lives of many of the 

regionôs residents, both Black and white. The regionôs fertile farms remained reliable seasonal 

employers, but the mills, tan yards, and growing college community at Mount St. Maryôs, all 

played a role in the northern districtsô economy. As had happened many times before, the 

Catoctin Furnace would change hands again in 1858, the result of financial hardships, though the 

furnace continued to produce its iron commodities. At the same time, the growing divide 

between the US states and territories over the use of enslaved Black laborers would soon directly 

impact the land and people of the Monocacy-Catoctin region. 

 

 
176 Stephen Greenôs land purchase apparently was never entered into the Frederick County land records. 
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Chapter 5. The Late Catoctin Furnace Period ï 1858 to 1865 

 

 

 

In 1858, the president and council of Mount St. Maryôs College voted to free the last of 

the enslaved persons held by the college.177 (Figure 29) It was a sign of the times. Less than fifty 

miles from the college, in Harperôs Ferry, Virginia (present-day West Virginia), John Brown led 

his infamous raid on the US arsenal in October 1859. Brown hoped to spark a revolution that 

would put an end to the enslavement of Black men, women, and children in the United States. 

John Brownôs raid failed, ending with his conviction and execution for insurrection. In his final 

statement, Brown rightly predicted the coming sectional conflict known as the American Civil 

War: ñIéam now quite certain that the crimes of this guilty land will never be purged away but 

with blood.ò178  

 

 
Figure 29: Deed of manumission for Susan Green and children. (MSA, FC Land Records) 

 
177 FC DB BGF 1, page 686 (McCaffrey to Susan Green et al., 1858). It was, in fact, the entire family of Stephen 

Green that was emancipated by the college president and council in 1858: wife Susan, children James, Ferdinand, 

Ann, Aloysious, Martha, and Thomas. Robert West, author of  ñAcademic Bondage: A Look at the History of 

Slavery on University Campuses in America and How These Schools are Addressing their Pastò (Masterôs Thesis, 

University of Georgia, 2016, https://getd.libs.uga.edu/pdfs/west_robert_m_201605_mhp.pdf), found this 

information on the Mount St. Maryôs University website in 2011, ñOur History,ò http://msmary.edu/about-the-

Mount/our-history/. This link is now broken and the ñOur Historyò article currently on the website no longer 

mentions the collegeôs history of enslavement.  
178 As cited in Gary W. Gallagher et al., The American Civil War: This Mighty Scourge of War (Oxford: Osprey,  

2003), 26. 

https://getd.libs.uga.edu/pdfs/west_robert_m_201605_mhp.pdf
http://msmary.edu/about-the-Mount/our-history/
http://msmary.edu/about-the-Mount/our-history/
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Just one year later, in December 1860 following the election of Abraham Lincoln as US 

President, the state of South Carolina seceded from the Union declaring, ñA geographical line 

has been drawn across the Union, and all the States north of that line have united in the election 

of a man to the high office of President of the United States, whose opinions and purposes are 

hostile to slavery.ò179 They were followed by eleven other states, including Marylandôs southern 

neighbor, Virginia. Maryland, although still maintaining the institution of slavery, remained with 

the Union as a ñborder state.ò Thus, the Potomac River formed the sectional border between 

North and South. 

The people of Maryland were by no means united in the decision to remain loyal to the 

Union. Political sentiments leaned strongly toward the South in Southern Maryland and some 

Eastern Shore counties, where enslaved labor remained vital to the regionôs agriculture.180 In 

Marylandôs northern and western counties, Unionists held the majority despite a vocal minority 

of southern sympathizers. Indeed, Frederick Town was chosen to host the special session of the 

Maryland General Assembly for its vote on secession ï though the questionôs defeat was all but 

guaranteed by the arrest of secessionist delegates prior to the vote.181 

Frederick County residents, both Black and white, would be directly impacted by events 

associated with the Civil War as it unfolded over the American landscape between 1861 and 

1865. The troubled times of war gave way to more changes ï and more troubles ï as the country 

grappled with Reconstruction and its aftermath. Throughout the post-war decades of the 

nineteenth century, newly-minted Black citizens struggled to find their place in a divided and 

openly discriminatory white American society. 

 

 

Enslaved and Free African Americans in Northern Frederick County, 1860 

 

Between 1850 and 1860, the number of enslaved people in Frederick County declined 

from 3,900 to just over 3,200. In the northern districts, the decline was more dramatic, from 204 

enslaved people in 1850 to eighty-six in 1860. Indeed, manumissions in Frederick County 

doubled from ninety-two in 1858 to 181 in 1860, and continued through 1864, when Maryland 

abolished the institution of enslaved labor.182 Freedom-seekers also continued to put pressure on 

the institution in Maryland as the country dissolved into civil conflict. As William Still observed 

in his record of the Underground Railroad, ñWhile the grand little army of abolitionists was 

waging its untiring warfare for freedom, prior to the rebellion, no agency encouraged them like 

 
179 ñThe Declaration of Causes of Seceding States,ò American Battlefield Trust, accessed 1/5/2022, 

https://www.battlefields.org/learn/primary-sources/declaration-causes-seceding-states#South_Carolina.  
180 ñBlack Marylanders 1860: African American Population by County, Status & Gender,ò The Maryland State 

Archives Presents: Legacy of Slavery in Maryland, accessed 1/5/2022, 

http://slavery.msa.maryland.gov/html/research/census1860.html.  
181 Charles L. Wagandt, The Mighty Revolution, Negro Emancipation in Maryland, 1862-1864 (Baltimore: 

Maryland Historical Society, 2004), 31. 
182 Smith, ñManumissions,ò Volume 2. 

https://www.battlefields.org/learn/primary-sources/declaration-causes-seceding-states#South_Carolina
http://slavery.msa.maryland.gov/html/research/census1860.html
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the heroism of fugitives.ò183 William Still included the stories of several Frederick County 

freedom-seekers who passed through his station in Philadelphia between 1858 and 1860 on their 

way further north. Among them was Ruth Harper, who left her enslaver, John McPherson, in 

Frederick in 1858.184 

Like the enslaved, some free African Americans living south of the Mason-Dixon line, 

who could not vote in elections prior to 1870, voted with their feet, moving into or out of their 

home district, county, and/or state over the tumultuous pre-war decade. Thus, the free Black 

population in the northern districts of Frederick County fell slightly from 391 in 1850, to 384 in 

1860. Thomas and Julia Patterson, who lived in the Catoctin Furnace village area in 1850, appear 

to have moved to Pennsylvania about 1860.185 Many others listed in the districts in 1850, 

disappeared from the 1860 census, but were replaced by others who relocated to northern 

Frederick County. Overall, Frederick Countyôs free Black population rose by more than 1,000 

people between 1850 and 1860.  

By 1860, John Baker Kunkel was operating the Catoctin Furnace, owned in partnership 

with his brother, Frederick attorney Jacob Kunkel. Their father, John Kunkel, owned a successful 

tanning operation in Frederick. All three Kunkel men used enslaved individuals as servants in 

their homes. John B. Kunkel, living in the ironmasterôs house at the furnace, listed four enslaved 

children in his household, but oddly, no adults. It appears, however, that there were no enslaved 

laborers at the furnace operations in 1860 and fewer free Black laborers as well. Similarly, at 

Mount St. Maryôs College, after the manumission of Susan Green and her children in 1858, who 

were apparently the last of the enslaved people held by the college, the institutionôs workforce in 

1860 was predominantly white. Of the thirty laborers and domestic servants listed in the Mount 

St. Maryôs College enumeration in 1860, twenty-three were white and seven were African 

American, including Ferdinand Green, recently freed from bondage and now a paid laborer.  

 

Mechanicstown, Catoctin Village, Lewistown, and Utica (Districts 15, 10, and 4) 

The 1860 census listed twelve free Black households in the Mechanicstown District #15 

(formed in 1854), which included the Catoctin Furnace village. In 1850, at least nine free Black 

households were recorded in the Catoctin Furnace village area, while three were in the 

Mechanicstown area. Of the nine furnace area households listed in 1850 (William Patterson, 

James Lucket, James Key, Zachariah Key, Archibald Patterson, Thomas Patterson, Hezekiah 

Lucket, Elias Patterson, and John Lucket), only Hezekiah Luckett remained by 1860, indicating a 

significant turnover of this population.186 Archibald Patterson had moved to Washington County, 

 
183 Still, The Underground Railroad, ñPreface to Revised Edition,ò September 1878. 
184 Still, The Underground Railroad, ñRuth Harper, Frederick,ò 472; ñCaroline Gassaway, Mt. Airy,ò 491; ñJohn 

Hillis, New Market,ò 500; ñEvan Graff, Liberty,ò 520; ñDavid Snively, Frederick Dist.,ò 527.  
185 1870 US Census, Hauvers District, Thomas and Julia Patterson have three children ages 14 to 11 born in 

Maryland and three children ages 7 to 7 months born in Pennsylvania. Arthur and Malinda Calaman appear to have 

moved from the Red Hill/Antietam Iron Works area to Pennsylvania over the same period. In 1870, living next to 

Thomas Patterson, the Calamans have one child aged 14 born in Maryland and four children ages 8 to 8 months born 

in Pennsylvania. 
186 Samuel Tucker and Abraham Proctor, listed in Hauvers District in 1850, also disappeared in the 1860 census. It is 
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where he was listed in the 1860 census living in a growing Black community on Red Hill near 

the Antietam Iron Works, where he likely continued working in the iron industry. The 

whereabouts of William, Elias, and Thomas Patterson, James and Zachariah Key, and James and 

John Lucket could not be found in the 1860 census, although Thomas Patterson reappeared in 

1870 in Hauvers District (see post-Civil War Pattersonville discussion). New households in the 

village area included Peter Perkings, a tenant laborer, and Caroline Hendrick, whose working-

age son Henry (aged 21) had no occupation listed, though he likely labored at the furnace.  

Other Black households in the Mechanicstown District were more scattered, including 

landowners David Howard and John Biser, and the tenant households of Henry Williams (age 

35), Maria Calbant (and her ten children ages 8 to 32), John Snoden, Lucy Sarsnip (age 74, 

widow of Jack Sarsnip, formerly of Poplar Ridge), and Otho Forierson. John Woodyard and 

Peter Snodenôs households appear to have been in the Graceham area, listed after ñMoravian 

Ministerò Henry Buchman and George W. Late, a miller, whose house appeared next to the 

Moravian Church on the 1873 atlas map of Graceham. In Mechanicstown, the resident white 

school teacher, John Allen, included five free Black siblings in his household, John Derm (25), 

Peter Derm (35), William Derm (20), Julia Derm (18), and Susan Derm (12), with no 

occupations listed nor any indication that they attended school. 

Other free Black laborers who were enumerated in Hauvers District #10 in 1860 likely 

also worked at Catoctin Furnace. Elisha Pattersonôs family of eight was listed next to Robert 

Pattersonôs family of ten. Although the 1860 census indicated that both Robert and Elisha 

Patterson owned their homes at the time, the land records show that Robert Patterson was the 

only owner of record, with his twenty-five-acre tract on the west side of the Catoctin peak known 

today as ñBobôs Hill.ò187 As noted previously, this tract would form the core of the Pattersonville 

community after the Civil War.  

The free Black households located in the Lewistown/Utica area in 1850 (outlined in 

Chapter 4; including Clem Norris, Hager Richardson, Hillery Norris, Eli Williams, Thomas 

Richardson, and John Sanders) were, by 1860, consolidating in and around Lewistown. Clem 

Norris, Hillery Norris, and Cecelia Williams, widow of Eli Williams, were listed next to 

neighbors Charles Johnson and Asher Key. All were listed as property owners, though only a 

few deeds appear to be recorded. In 1852, Henry Williams (in 1850 living in the Hillery Norris 

household) purchased a one-quarter acre parcel, part of Lot 103, ñwith a house upon it.ò (Figure 

30) In 1861, Williams sold the parcel to Sarah Kee [sic], wife of ñOsker Keeò [Asher Key].188 

Henry Williams also owned a smaller lot measuring sixteen by thirty feet that adjoined 

Lewistown Lot 146.189 Ephraim Richardson owned two lots as early as 1856, Lot 146, on which 

 

possible that they were simply missed by the census taker. 
187 See discussion in Chapter 4 concerning Robert Pattersonôs land purchase in 1853.  
188 FC DB ES 5, page 36 (Henry Williams to Sarah Kee, 1861). 
189 Williamsô original purchase of the lot appears to be unrecorded. The lot is first identified in an 1869 deed for Lot 

146 and the 16 x 30-foot lot adjoining ñconveyed by Henry Williams and wife to the aforesaid John H. Thompsonò 

(FC CM 4, page 1, John H. Thompson to Thomas Marshall, 1869). The parcel, originally platted to be an alley, is 

now part of the Lot 146 property (11027 Powell Rd.) 
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he had his house, and Lot 132, later (in 1874) identified as the ñColored burying ground.ò190 In 

1859, Richardsonôs lots were sold in a tax delinquency auction to Lewistownôs white Methodist 

minister Benjamin C. Flowers.191 On the 1860 census, Robert Hall (mulatto), who gave his 

occupation as ñMinister M.E,ò appeared also to be living in or near Lewistown, probably on the 

2.5 acres of Millers Chance purchased by Richard Hall in 1826 (see Chapter 4). Robert Hallôs 

identification as an M.E. minister in 1860 and use of Lot 132 as a cemetery indicates that the 

Black community of Lewistown was large enough to support a congregation.192 Hall and his 

congregation were likely supported by Rev. Flowers, given the Maryland law requiring a white 

ministerôs involvement with Black religious gatherings. 

 

 
Figure 30: 1815 Plan of Lewistown. (MSA, FC Land Records) 

 
190 FC DB TG 2, page 519 (John H. Thompson to Jacob Bowers, 1874). 
191 FC DB BGF 6, page 79 (Arthur Delashmutt, tax collector, to B.C. Flowers, 1859). This conveyance was 

confirmed in 1861 by a deed (BGF 7, page 50) to Flowers from the Ephraim Richardson heirs: Richard Richardson, 

Greenbury Richardson, and Miranda Watts (Richardsonôs widow). Rev. B.C. Flowers sold the two lots before 1874 

to John H. Thompson in an unrecorded deed. 
192 Hall was listed in Creagerstown District, page 76, near George Clem and William Long, both of whom appear on 

the 1873 atlas map in Lewistown.  
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There were a number of other free Black households in the Creagerstown District outside 

of Lewistown. Henry Butler, aged 56 with his wife Nancy and three children, Jane, Martha, and 

Charles, was listed near a white farmer named Greenbury Ridge, who appears on the 1858 map 

(ñG Ridgeò) northeast of Lewistown.193 (Figure 31) John Sanders, a Black farmer whose real 

estate in 1850 was valued at $3,200, remained a substantial landowner and farmer east of Utica 

in 1860. Sandersô son, ñJohn Sands,ò was also listed as a landowner in the area. In all, the 1860 

census recorded sixteen independent Black households in the Creagerstown District, with a total 

of eighty men, women, and children. 

 

 
Figure 31: 1858 Bond map Utica detail. (LOC) 

Emmitsburg Area (District 5) 

The Emmitsburg District in 1860, including the town of Emmitsburg, had the largest free 

Black population of the northern districts, with twenty-six independent households and a total of 

168 people. Within the town of Emmitsburg a community had formed mainly on the southwest 

edge of town. The community had at least three landowners in 1860, John Burkett, P. Funy (or 

Furry), and Abraham Beaty, while Mariah (Maria?) Constant and Rebecca Lucket apparently 

still lived as tenants in Emmitsburg. The two rural community clusters that had been developing 

since the 1820s ï Poplar Ridge, north of Emmitsburg, and the Mountain community in the area 

of Mount St. Maryôs College ï were still growing, while a significant number of tenant 

farmer/laborers were scattered across the district. 

 
193 Henry Butler himself appears on the 1873 atlas map, near Wm. Myersô sawmill, see later discussion. Henry and 

Nancy Butler are buried in the Creagerstown Cemetery. 
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The Poplar Ridge community of 1860 included several familiar landowners, descendants 

of the earliest free Black landowners in the district. James Myers, likely the son of Jeremiah 

Myers (see Chapter 4, Table 2) now 50 years old, had land valued at $1,000. Myersô occupation 

was described as ñPost & Rail Fencing.ò His nearest neighbor was still Joseph Frazier, now 56, 

who was assessed in 1835 for five acres. Frazierôs land was valued at just $100 in 1860, 

indicating that he likely had sold some of his land. Nace OôBrian, his neighbor in 1850, may 

have been one who purchased land from Frazier. His widow, Amelia OôBrian (age 70), was 

listed next to Frazier in 1860, with real estate valued at $150. Immediately beside OôBrian in 

1860 was James A. Busee, whose land was also valued at $150, and David Sims, with land 

valued at $300. The Coates and Briscoe families, longtime residents of the Poplar Ridge 

community, do not appear to be listed in this area on the 1860 census, although they do appear 

on the 1873 atlas map. (Figure 32) The Sarsnip family did remove from the area by 1860, with 

the widow Lucy Sarsnip listed as living in the Creagerstown District. 

 

 
Figure 32: 1873 Atlas Map of Frederick County, Emmitsburg District detail. (LOC) 
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The 1873 Emmitsburg District atlas map detail also gives a clearer picture of the 

Mountain communityôs location just north of Mount St. Maryôs College (and south of 

Emmitsburg and Poplar Ridge) along the base of Carrick Knob (also known as College 

Mountain). Although the later map shows familiar names from the 1850 community list 

(particularly Green and Lee), not all appear in the 1860 census.194 The census of 1860 did list the 

widow Susan Green as the head of the Green-family household with real estate valued at $500. 

Her two ñadultò sons James (23) and Ferdinand (16) were listed as day laborers, while her four 

younger children, Anna, Lucious, Martha, and Thomas, remained at home. Another familiar 

community member listed on the 1860 census, though absent from the later map, was William 

Richardson (age 60). Richardson was listed as a tenant with his wife and seven children, 

including Mary, who was working as a domestic servant at Mount St. Maryôs College to support 

the family. Others listed on the 1860 census in the same area include George ñBrisgoò (Briscoe) 

and Adolphus Williams, both tenant laborers. Robert and Matilda (Richardson) Watts, listed in 

1860 with real estate valued at $250, are shown on the map just northwest of the Mountain 

cluster (on todayôs Crystal Fountain Rd.). Their immediate neighbor on the census was Augustus 

Butler (though not on the map; see ñC.A. Butlerò), whose land was valued at $500. Another free 

Black landowner on the 1860 census was Abram Aby, owner of land valued at $75, who was 

shown on the 1873 map to the north (possibly todayôs Riffle Road). Aby, a laborer, had a large 

household of ten family members, with eighteen-year-old son David also a day laborer, and 

daughters Mary (20) and Ann (16) working as ñservants.ò  

Many of the Mountain community residents were employed at Mount St. Maryôs College. 

The college listed seven free Black laborers and domestic servants on the 1860 census, several of 

whom were counted twice on the census, both at home and on the campus. Ferdinand Green 

(16), a laborer, was also enumerated in his motherôs household. Mary E. Aby and Mary 

Richardson, domestic servants, were also listed with their families. Others employed at the 

college included Nelly Dugan, Mary Bryseal (?), Martha Busee, and Ann Richardson. Leo 

MacKay was employed (and housed) by the collegeôs music professor, Henry Deihlman (or 

Duhlman). 

 

 

Civil War (1861-1865) 

 

The national division over enslaved Black labor and their status as chattel property would 

bring disruption and change over the following decade, and African Americans would be integral 

players in bringing about that change. With the election of Republican Abraham Lincoln as 

president of the United States in 1860, the nation cleaved along the North/South, slave state/free 

state dividing line. Four states, Delaware, Maryland, Kentucky, and Missouri ï all slave states 

 
194 Names from 1850 include Stephen Green with wife Susan, Augustus Green, William Richardson, James Bowie, 

Martin Conrad, Mary Lee, Eliza Doogan, and Ann Key. 
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that remained within the Union ï formed the border between the remaining Union states (USA) 

in the North and the Confederacy, or Confederate States of America (CSA), in the South. 

Frederick Countians did not vote for Lincoln, who was considered too radical, nor did 

they support the Northern Democrat, Stephen Douglas. Instead, the conservative county split 

nearly evenly between the Constitutional Unionist John Bell with forty-nine percent of the vote 

and the ñsouthern rights candidateò John Breckenridge with forty-three percent.195 The day after 

the November 1860 election, an editorial in the Frederick Examiner declared: ñAre our 

countrymen prepared to follow the lead of these disunionists; if yes, let them vote for 

Breckenridge and Lane, if no, LET THEM VOTE FOR BELL AND EVERETT.ò196 In the of 

northern districts of Frederick County, both Emmitsburg and Hauvers heavily favored 

Breckenridge, while Creagerstown District favored Bell and Mechanicstown District was nearly 

evenly split.197 (Figure 33) Across the state as a whole the results were similar, with nearly 

forty-six percent for Breckenridge and just over forty-five percent for Bell.198 Still, Maryland 

would not join the cascade of seceding states in the South that formed the CSA, despite their 

shared declarations in favor of the right to own enslaved human property.  

 

 
Figure 33: Frederick County election results. (Civilian and Telegraph, November 15, 1860) 

 
195 Donald Stelluto, Barbara Powell, and Tim Snyder, ñDiscover the Story: The Coming Storm,ò Crossroads of War, 

accessed 1/17/2022, http://www.crossroadsofwar.org/discover-the-story/the-coming-storm/.  
196 ñThose who are not for the Union are against it,ò The Frederick Examiner, November 7, 1860, ñResearch: 

Historic Newspapers,ò Crossroads of War, accessed 12/14/22, 

https://www.crossroadsofwar.org/research/newspapers/?id=3918.  
197 Wehrle, ñCatoctin Mountain Parkò HRS, 76; Wayde Chrismer, ñEmmitsburg Area In the Civil War, Part 4,ò 

Emmitsburg Area Historical Society, accessed 1/21/2022, 

http://www.emmitsburg.net/archive_list/articles/history/civil_war/wayde_chrismer_civil_war_4.htm. Wehrle notes 

that Jacob Kunkle, Frederick lawyer and part-owner of Catoctin Furnace in 1860, was a strong and vocal supporter 

of the Breckenridge ticket (Wehrle, ñCatoctin Mountain Parkò HRS, 78). 
198 ñ1860 Presidential General Election Results ï Maryland,ò Dave Leipôs Atlas of U.S. Elections, accessed 

1/20/2022, https://uselectionatlas.org/RESULTS/state.php?f=0&fips=24&year=1860.  

http://www.crossroadsofwar.org/discover-the-story/the-coming-storm/
https://www.crossroadsofwar.org/research/newspapers/?id=3918
http://www.emmitsburg.net/archive_list/articles/history/civil_war/wayde_chrismer_civil_war_4.htm
https://uselectionatlas.org/RESULTS/state.php?f=0&fips=24&year=1860


 

 

69 

 

In April 1861, with the attack on Fort Sumter by Confederate troops, the American Civil 

War began. Throughout the four-year-long war, Maryland would be continuously occupied by 

Union troops who were tasked with protecting the Federal City of Washington, as well as the 

Baltimore & Ohio Railroad (B&O) and Chesapeake & Ohio Canal (C&O) ï both of which 

passed through southern Frederick County. Maryland would also be the repeated target of 

Confederate military campaigns and raids, spearheaded by General Robert E. Lee and his Army 

of Northern Virginia.  

Initially, with his 1862 Maryland Campaign, General Lee hoped to turn Maryland to join 

the Southern cause. The campaign ended in September 1862 on the Antietam battlefield at 

Sharpsburg, after Leeôs retreat across the Potomac River back to Virginia. This disruptive 

campaign would entrench Maryland further into the Union. The campaign also precipitated 

President Lincolnôs issuance of the Emancipation Proclamation, freeing the enslaved people in 

the states in rebellion, which took effect on January 1, 1863. Southern enslavers, who no longer 

saw themselves as subject to Federal law, simply ignored the Emancipation Proclamation. 

However, many of the enslaved people took it upon themselves to seek freedom behind Union 

lines as they advanced through Southern territory.199 At the same time, enslaved Marylanders, 

who were not freed by the Emancipation Proclamation, found refuge within the ring of Union 

forts protecting the city of Washington, or with Union troops protecting the C&O Canal or the 

B&O Railroad at Harpers Ferry. Many had already escaped to Washington after the US Congress 

abolished slavery in the Federal city in April 1862.  

Perhaps the greatest blow to the institution of slavery came when the Union army began 

recruiting free Black men in October 1863 and later, ñslaves of disloyal owners, and slaves of 

consenting loyal owners in the border states.ò200 Both free and enslaved Black men from 

northern Frederick County joined the Union effort to defeat the rebellion and ensure freedom for 

all African Americans. Lewis Butler was a young (22) free Black laborer living in the household 

of Lena Butler (40) in the Emmitsburg District in 1860. (Figure 34) Butler volunteered in 

February 1864, serving in United States Colored Troops (USCT) Regiment 32, Co. G. He served 

for three years, mustering out in August 1865 in Hilton Head, South Carolina, then returned to 

the Emmitsburg area (Poplar Ridge community area).201 George W. Brooks was enslaved as a 

farm laborer in the household of William Johnson (1860, Creagerstown Dist.) when he joined the 

USCT 19th Regiment, Co. D on December 31, 1863. (Figure 35) He was twenty-three years old. 

 
199 The Confiscation Act, passed by the US Congress in August 1861, formalized the federal governmentôs right to 

retain ñany person claimed to be held to laborò if their labor was used ñagainst the Government.ò The Second 

Confiscation Act, passed in July 1862, declared the ñcontraband of warò to be free (ñThe First Confiscation Actò 

and ñThe Second Confiscation Act,ò Statutes at Large, Treaties, and Proclamations of the United States of America, 

vol. 12 (Boston: n.p., 1863), 319 and 589). 
200 Fields, Slavery and Freedom, 125. For a more detailed discussion of the dissolution of slavery in the region, see 

Wallace, ñThey Have Erected a Neat Little Church,ò 14-16. 
201 ñCivil War Service Records (CMSR) - Union - Colored Troops 32nd Infantry,ò Fold3 by Ancestry, 

https://www.fold3.com/title/692/civil-war-service-records-cmsr-union-colored-troops-31st-35th-

infantry/browse/hdg9q6w0z; ñResearch, Civil War Soldiers,ò Crossroads of War, accessed 1/20/2022,  

https://www.crossroadsofwar.org/research/soldiers/?search=1.  

https://www.fold3.com/title/692/civil-war-service-records-cmsr-union-colored-troops-31st-35th-infantry/browse/hdg9q6w0z
https://www.fold3.com/title/692/civil-war-service-records-cmsr-union-colored-troops-31st-35th-infantry/browse/hdg9q6w0z
https://www.crossroadsofwar.org/research/soldiers/?search=1
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A year-and-a-half later, on May 14, 1864, Brooks died of ñCongestion of the Lungsò in 

Fredericksburg, Virginia. William Johnson claimed his $300 bounty for Brooksô service in May 

1865, and in August of that year he recorded Brooksô deed of manumission in the Frederick 

County circuit court.202  

 

 
Figure 34: Lewis Butlerôs muster-in and muster-out papers. (NARA/Fold3) 

 
202 Smith, ñManumissions,ò Volume 2, 245; FC DB JWLC 3, page 45; ñCivil War Service Records (CMSR) - Union 

- Colored Troops 19th Infantry,ò Fold3 by Ancestry, https://www.fold3.com/title/683/civil-war-service-records-

cmsr-union-colored-troops-14th-19th-infantry/browse/hbwlSKa-X7ZNLjJJ5; ñResearch, Civil War Soldiers,ò 

Crossroads of War, accessed 1/20/2022,  https://www.crossroadsofwar.org/research/soldiers/?search=1; ñRegister of 

Claims, 1864-1867,ò entry #2618, MSA-SC-4678, US Adjutant General Collection (NARA RG 94-348), Maryland 

Slave Claims Commission, Maryland State Archives, 

http://mdhistory.msa.maryland.gov/msa_sc4678/msa_scm5775/pdf/msa_sc4678_scm5775.pdf. The 1890 Veterans 

Schedule of the US Census identifies several others from the region who served, including Nathan Millberry and 

John T. Mitchell, whose service record is unknown; David Hill, who served with the 2nd USCT Cavalry; and Samuel 

H. Brown, who enlisted in Boston with the 5th Massachusetts Colored Cavalry and may have been a ñfugitiveò from 

enslavement in Maryland at the time. All of these men lived in the Emmitsburg District after the Civil War. 

https://www.fold3.com/title/683/civil-war-service-records-cmsr-union-colored-troops-14th-19th-infantry/browse/hbwlSKa-X7ZNLjJJ5
https://www.fold3.com/title/683/civil-war-service-records-cmsr-union-colored-troops-14th-19th-infantry/browse/hbwlSKa-X7ZNLjJJ5
https://www.crossroadsofwar.org/research/soldiers/?search=1
http://mdhistory.msa.maryland.gov/msa_sc4678/msa_scm5775/pdf/msa_sc4678_scm5775.pdf
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Figure 35: George William Brooks enlistment record. (NARA/Fold3; FC Land Records) 

Both Butler and Brooksô enlistments came after the July 1863 battle at Gettysburg, 

Pennsylvania, the culmination of a second attempt by General Leeôs Army of Northern Virginia 

to take the war into Northern territory. In the days leading up to the battle, Union General 

George Meadeôs Army of the Potomac streamed north across the Frederick County landscape as 

they shadowed the advance of Leeôs troops through the Cumberland Valley, west of the South 

Mountain range.203 After the battle, Confederate cavalry under J.E.B. Stuartôs command moved 

through northern Frederick County, ñseeking to protect the rebel retreat.ò Historian Robert Wehrl 

recounted Stuartôs route through Graceham, Creagerstown, and Franklinville, ña small 

hamleté(just north of present-day Catoctin High School) where he may have encamped,ò and 

 
203 Wehrle, ñCatoctin Mountain Parkò HRS, 83-84; John Schildt, Roads to Gettysburg (Parson, WV, 1978), 357-

365. 
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then continued west through the Harbaugh Valley (Hauvers District).204 Frightening rumors of 

Confederate troops kidnapping free Black residents in the Gettysburg area had likely reached the 

African American families living in northern Frederick County, though there is no evidence that 

similar tragedies occurred in the area.205  

 

 
Figure 36: ñInvasion of the North.ò (The Adams Sentinel, June 23, 1863) 

 Maryland would be invaded by Confederate troops one last time in June 1864, when 

General Lee sent Lt. Gen. Jubal Early with 15,000 men to threaten Washington, DC. His hope 

was to draw some of Union General Grantôs troops away from the besieged city of Petersburg, 

Virginia, perilously close to the Confederate capital city of Richmond.206 Earlyôs troops foraged 

through the Middletown Valley of Frederick County, before crossing the mountains into 

Frederick City, which they held for ransom. The Confederates were held for a day of battle just 

south of Frederick at the Monocacy River by Union troops under the command of General Lew 

 
204 Wehrle, ñCatoctin Mountain Parkò HRS, 85. 
205 ñInvasion of the North,ò The Adams Sentinel, June 23, 1863, ñHistoric Newspapers,ò Crossroads of War, 

accessed 1/27/2022, https://www.crossroadsofwar.org/research/newspapers/?id=6789.  
206 Official Record, Series 1, Vol. 37, Pt. 1, ñCorrespondence ï Confederate,ò General R.E. Lee to His Excellency 

Jefferson Davis, June 26, 1864, 766-767. 

https://www.crossroadsofwar.org/research/newspapers/?id=6789
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Wallace. It was enough to save Washington, as Grant was able to send a contingent north in time 

and Early retreated back to Virginia, never to return. 

 In the state elections of 1863, war-weary Marylanders rebelled against the political 

domination of the stateôs wealthy planter-enslavers. Radical Republican candidate Henry Winter 

Davis described their continuing efforts to sustain slavery in Maryland as imposing ñan interest 

over free men; of property over people; of aristocratic privilege over republican equality, of a 

minority over a majority.ò207 In November 1863, the stateôs ñloyalò voters ï men who swore an 

oath of loyalty to the Union ï elected a radical majority to the Maryland Assembly. The new 

Assemblyôs agenda included the abolition of slavery in Maryland. A Constitutional Convention 

convened in February 1864, resulting in a new Maryland constitution which abolished slavery in 

the state beginning November 1, 1864. Across Maryland, 90,000 Black men, women, and 

children were freed from bondage.208 In the northern districts of Frederick County, freedom 

came to as many as eighty-three individuals. 

In April 1865, the war came to an end after General Lee surrendered his army at 

Appomattox Court House in Virginia. Many Black soldiers, who began their three-year 

enlistments in 1863, continued in service for another year. Some were in Texas, where they 

participated in quelling continued resistance and helped enforce Maj. Gen. Gordon Grangerôs 

June 19, 1863 General Order No. 3, putting an end to slavery in Texas, today celebrated as 

Juneteenth.209 Others, like Lewis Butler, who returned home from South Carolina, were moved 

from their stations in the Deep South as tensions grew over the post-war milieu. 

 Throughout the war, demands for pig iron to make war materials kept operations at 

Catoctin Furnace going, despite labor shortages.210 Chronic labor shortages due to enlistments 

and the Union draft may have given Black laborers a window of opportunity for work at the 

furnace.  

 

 
207 Baltimore American, September 10, 1863, as cited in Wagandt, The Mighty Revolution, 143. 
208 Wallace, ñThey Have Erected a Neat Little Church,ò 18. 
209 ñThe Historical Legacy of Juneteenth,ò National Museum of African American History and Culture, accessed 

1/27/2022, https://nmaahc.si.edu/explore/stories/historical-legacy-juneteenth.  
210 Wehrle, ñCatoctin Mountain Parkò HRS, 88. 

https://nmaahc.si.edu/explore/stories/historical-legacy-juneteenth
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Chapter 6: Reconstruction and the Decades that Followed - 1865 to 1912 

 

 

 

In the spring of 1865, the war-torn United States entered a period of recovery known as 

Reconstruction. Federal policy determined the course the rebellious Southern states must take to 

reconstruct their governments in order to restore their place in the Union. These policies were 

enforced by the presence of federal troops throughout the South. The period of Reconstruction, 

which lasted from 1865 through 1876, also held the promise of citizenship for African 

Americans. Among the milestones of citizenship that Black Americans sought, certainly freedom 

from enslavement was number one, followed closely by the right to vote, access to education, 

and independent Black religious institutions. The Thirteenth Amendment to the US Constitution, 

ratified in December 1865, abolished slavery in the United States, while the Fourteenth 

Amendment, ratified in July 1866, granted citizenship to all people ñborn or naturalized in the 

United States.ò211 Black male suffrage, which brought with it the power to influence public 

policy such as education, was among the conditions of Reconstruction imposed upon the 

Southern states. During the brief period of Reconstruction, while federal troops remained in the 

South to enforce the law, the power of Black voters was felt in state and local politics.  

The State of Maryland, which did not secede from the Union during the war, was not 

subject to the requirements of Reconstruction imposed by Congress. As a result, Black men in 

Maryland did not gain the right to vote until the Fifteenth Amendment to the US Constitution 

was ratified in 1870, delaying their impact on public policy. Black Marylanders, however, like 

Black communities in the Southern states, would benefit from the Reconstruction-era federal 

agency known as the Freedmenôs Bureau. With the help of the growing network of Black 

churches, Northern aid societies, and determined communities, many of the goals of citizenship 

were achieved by the end of the nineteenth century. Still, African Americans faced decades of 

violence, discrimination, and segregation that limited the possibilities inherent in the promise. 

 

 

African American Education in Northern Frederick County 

 

In addition to abolishing slavery, Marylandôs 1864 constitution created a public school 

system that would include schools for Black communities. In 1865, the General Assembly 

passed a law specifying that only school taxes collected from Black landowners could go ñfor the 

purpose of founding schools for colored children.ò212 This law effectively limited the number of 

 
211 Statutes at Large, 39th Congress, 1st Session,ò 358, http://memory.loc.gov/cgi-

bin/ampage?collId=llsl&fileName=014/llsl014.db&recNum=389.  
212 As cited in J. W. Alvord, Third Semi-Annual Report on Schools for Freedmen, January 1, 1867 (Washington,  

DC: Government Printing Office, 1867), 8, https://catalog.hathitrust.org/Record/008958036.   

http://memory.loc.gov/cgi-bin/ampage?collId=llsl&fileName=014/llsl014.db&recNum=389
http://memory.loc.gov/cgi-bin/ampage?collId=llsl&fileName=014/llsl014.db&recNum=389
https://catalog.hathitrust.org/Record/008958036
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publicly-funded schools for Black children, given the small number of landowners immediately 

after the war. Thus, many Black communities held informal classes in homes and churches, 

eager to acquire the education denied them by state and local governments due to a lack of 

funding.  

The Bureau of Refugees, Freedmen, and Abandoned Lands (Freedmenôs Bureau), the 

federal agency established by Congress in 1865 to implement and enforce Reconstruction 

policies, aided African Americans in establishing schools, some purpose-built, but often housed 

in Black churches. The Freedmenôs Bureau facilitated bringing in teachers as well, many of 

whom came from northern missionary societies. Frederick County had as many as eleven 

Freedmenôs Bureau-sponsored schools, including one in Emmitsburg and one in Lewistown.213 

The Lincoln School in Emmitsburg was built in 1868 using lumber paid for by the Freedmenôs 

Bureau. (Figure 37) The difficulties the community faced during its construction are here 

summarized by historian Dr. Dean Herrin: 

1867 ï In November and December of 1867, the Maryland office of the Freedmenôs 

Bureau, on the advice of the Baltimore Association for the Moral and Intellectual 

Improvement of Colored People, started sending building materials to Emmitsburg to 

begin construction of a school house for African American children. William Ulrich, 

a lumber dealer in Emmitsburg, was the principal contact in Emmitsburg for the 

Baltimore Association, and later for the Freedmenôs Bureau.  How Ulrich and the 

Baltimore Association connected is unknown, nor is it known why Ulrich wanted to 

assist in the construction of a school for African Americans. But several schools for 

African American children had been started in Frederick County since the close of 

the Civil War, and there were at least two public meetings in Frederick in 1867 in 

which officials with the Freedmenôs Bureau had encouraged African American 

communities to start schools.  

1868 ï After receiving the building materials, Ulrich took it upon himself to buy a 

lot in Emmitsburg on which to build the school, but then got into a dispute with the 

local African American community in Emmitsburg and with the Freedmenôs Bureau 

over payment for the lot and for the construction of the school. The dispute led the 

Bureau to launch an investigation, and school construction was delayed.   

1869 ï The school was finally finished in 1869, a teacher was hired, and the first 

classes were held in Nov. 1869. An average of 20-25 students attended the school, 

called Lincoln School, until April 1870.  Because of low enrollment, however, the 

teacher was reassigned at the end of April by the Freedmenôs Bureau to another 

school in another county in Maryland, and with the shutting down of the Freedmenôs 

 
213 ñRecords of the Field Offices for Maryland and Delaware, Bureau of Refugees, Freedmen, and Abandoned  

Lands, 1865ï1872, Historical Note,ò https://nmaahc.si.edu/object/sova_nmaahc.fb.m1906; ñOffice of the Assistant 

Commissioner,ò NMAAHC-005413068_00661,  

https://nmaahc.si.edu/object/sova_nmaahc.fb.m1906
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Bureau that year by Congress, federal support for the school ended.214 

 
Figure 37: William Ulrichôs 1868 invoice to the Freedmenôs Bureau for Lincoln School lumber. (NMAAHC)  

Samuel Brown, USCT veteran, served on the ñBuilding Committeeò for the Lincoln School with 

John Johnson. According to the teacher in 1870, Henrietta Fletcher, the building was by then 

owned by ñThe Freedmen.ò215 

 
214 Dean Herrin, ñPost-Civil War African American Schools in Emmitsburg and Lewistown, Frederick County, 

Maryland, Summary of Important Dates,ò April 2021, citing Freedmenôs Bureau records: Maryland and Delaware, 

Field Office Records, 1865-1872, and Records of the Superintendent of Education and of the Division of Education, 

1865-1872, District of Columbia Office. 
215 ñRecords of the Superintendent of Education for the District of Columbia, 1865ï1872, Teacherôs Monthly School 

Reports,ò NMAAHC-005413067_00996. 
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The ñLewistown Colored Schoolò began operations in January 1870, according to teacher 

Lewis Millerôs report to the Freedmenôs Bureau, with twenty-nine students. Miller noted that the 

school was held in the ñcolored peopleôs churchò and was funded solely by the twenty-one 

dollars in tax money raised from the county.216 As with the Lincoln School in Emmitsburg, the 

Lewistown School lost its federal support later in 1870 with the demise of the Freedmenôs 

Bureau education department. 

 In the 1871 state election, the first in which Marylandôs Black voters participated, their 

support for Radical Republicans in the legislature helped to change state laws that shifted the 

outlook for Black education in Maryland. In 1872, a new law was passed requiring every county 

to have at least one Black school, for which some state funding would be provided.217 The 

Frederick County School Commissioners had already begun providing minimal funds to a few of 

the established ñColored schools,ò including Emmitsburgôs Lincoln School, in 1869. After the 

1872 law was passed in Maryland, the Commissioners laid out a plan for eighteen ñColored 

schoolsò across the county, though only fourteen were in operation during the 1872-73 school 

year, according to the stateôs Annual Report.218  

In the northern districts, it appears the county supported the schools the local Black 

communities had previously established with the aid of the Freedmenôs Bureau. The Emmitsburg 

District (#5) school, likely the Lincoln School in Emmitsburg, enrolled as many as thirty-eight 

students under the tutelage of John H. Shields. The school building was shown on the 1873 atlas 

map of Emmitsburg on Lot 55 on todayôs Lincoln Avenue. (Figure 38) The Creagerstown 

District (#4) school was most likely still in Lewistown where the Black community was 

concentrated. It had as many as thirty-five students through the school year, taught by John W. 

Grinder.219 (Figure 39) No ñColoredò school building was identified on the 1873 atlas map of 

Lewistown (or the Creagerstown District), indicating the school probably continued to be held in 

the ñColored peopleôs churchò as it was in 1870. Indeed, in 1887, when ñrents paidò were 

recorded in the stateôs annual reports, the county paid fifteen dollars in annual rent for the 

Lewistown school, indicating it was still not in a county-owned building.  

 

 
216 Herrin, ñPost-Civil War African American Schools in Emmitsburg and Lewistown.ò 
217 ñState Department of EducationðOrigin,ò Maryland Manual Online, 

https://msa.maryland.gov/msa/mdmanual/13sdoe/html/sdoef.html; ñArchives of Maryland, Historical List, General 

Assembly Members,ò https://msa.maryland.gov/msa/speccol/sc2600/sc2685/html/sesslist.html.  
218 Herrin, ñPost-Civil War African American Schools in Emmitsburg and Lewistown.ò 
219 Herrin, ñPost-Civil War African American Schools in Emmitsburg and Lewistownò; Annual Report of the State 

Board of Education, Shewing the Condition of the Public Schools of Marylandéfor the year ending September 30, 

1873 (Annapolis: S.S. Mills & L.F. Colton, Printers, 1874), 168, ñFull View, 1873/1874,ò HathiTrust Digital 

Library, https://catalog.hathitrust.org/Record/000057122.  

https://msa.maryland.gov/msa/mdmanual/13sdoe/html/sdoef.html
https://msa.maryland.gov/msa/speccol/sc2600/sc2685/html/sesslist.html
https://catalog.hathitrust.org/Record/000057122
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Figure 38: 1873 map, detail of Lincoln Ave. showing ñColored School.ò (LOC)  

 
Figure 39: 1872-73 Frederick County Colored Schools. (MD State BOE Annual Report, p.168) 

During the 1881-1882 school year, the Emmitsburg school was taught in ñLincoln Hallò 

according to J. Thomas Scharf. Though the school had forty-six students, the average attendance 

fluctuated between twelve and twenty-two students according to the stateôs annual report. The 

Lewistown school, located in Election District 20 (Lewistown District) after 1878, had up to 

forty-four students, with an average attendance from sixteen to nineteen students. By 1887, 

Emmitsburgôs Lincoln Hall student population was down to fifteen. No spring term classes were 

offered, apparently marking the end of the Lincoln Hall school. Like the Lincoln school, 

Lewistown was losing students through the 1880s and continued to fall, down to fourteen at the 
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end of 1900 and twelve in 1901. The school closed in 1903, then reopened briefly from 1906 to 

1908, when it was permanently shuttered.220  

In Hauverôs District, a school was constructed on the land of Henry Patterson and opened 

in 1888 with just fifteen students. Funding was an ongoing issue for the small school, however, 

as the Frederick County Board of School Commissioners repeatedly denied adequate funds for 

heating fuel through the 1888-89 school year.221 The District 10 ñColored schoolò was taught by 

Henry Russman from 1889 through 1892, with an average of twelve students in attendance. In 

1894, the school was closed, but in 1895, the District 10 school reopened with Denton 

Stotelmyer teaching and seventeen students enrolled. However, the schoolôs average daily 

attendance hovered between eight and nine students. Similarly, in 1897, Mrs. Joanna Hauver 

taught an average of eight students of the ten enrolled, with only the winter term offered at the 

school. With student attendance far below the required minimum of fifteen, it would be the last 

year the Hauverôs school would operate. In 1901, the county sold the Hauverôs district 

schoolhouse.222 It appears from the stateôs annual reports that after the 1908 closure of the 

Lewistown school, public school facilities for Black children never returned to the northern 

districts. 

The Sisters of Charity, later known as The Daughters of Charity, operated a school for 

Black children in Emmitsburg beginning in 1886 in ñthe sistersô residence.ò223 According to 

local memory, the back building of the ñSisters Houseò was a large open area ñused as classroom 

area for black students.ò224 Newspaper reports about the construction of St. Euphemiaôs School, 

completed in 1890 adjoining the residence, indicate a dedicated room for Black students was 

planned for the new school building:  

The colored children were received September 1. Their names enrolled and then they 

were dismissed at noon, because the apartments for their use are not yet finished. But 

next Monday, they will be accommodated in the separate school rooms set apart for 

them.225  

Those rooms were located on the second floor of the building, described at the opening of the 

school earlier that year: ñThe second floor is finished for a distribution hall, with a moveable 

partition at one end forming a classroom for the colored children.ò226 Kathleen (Richardson) 

 
220 J. Thomas Scharf, History of Western Maryland, Vol. I (reprint, Clearfield Company & Willow Bend Books, 

1995), 588; various Maryland State BOE Annual Reports,  https://catalog.hathitrust.org/Record/000057122. 
221 1.13 Minutes of February 1888 through September 1888 and 1.14 Minutes of November 1888 through January 

1890, ñBoard of Education/ Board Docs/Jul 01, 1879 - Minutes of July 1879 through November 1904,ò Frederick 

County Public Schools, https://www.fcps.org/boe/.  
222 Various Maryland state BOE Annual Reports, https://catalog.hathitrust.org/Record/000057122; minutes of the 

Frederick County School Commission, Frederick County Public Schools, https://www.fcps.org/boe/.  
223 ñParish History: Historical Highlights of Saint Josephôs Parish,ò St. Josephôs Roman Catholic Church, 

https://www.emmitsburg.net/st.josephparish/history.htm.  
224 Cherilyn Widell, ñSt. Euphemiaôs School and Sistersô House,ò National Register of Historic Places (1981), Item 

7, Page 2, https://mht.maryland.gov/secure/medusa/PDF/NR_PDFs/NR-834.pdf.  
225 Widell, ñSt. Euphemiaôs School and Sistersô House,ò Item 8, Page 6, citing Emmitsburg Chronicle, Sept. 5, 1890. 
226 Widell, ñSt. Euphemiaôs School and Sistersô House,ò Item 8, Page 7, citing Emmitsburg Chronicle, Jan. 31, 1890.   

https://catalog.hathitrust.org/Record/000057122
https://www.fcps.org/boe/
https://catalog.hathitrust.org/Record/000057122
https://www.fcps.org/boe/
https://www.emmitsburg.net/st.josephparish/history.htm
https://mht.maryland.gov/secure/medusa/PDF/NR_PDFs/NR-834.pdf
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Williams, who attended St. Euphemiaôs School in the segregated classroom beginning about 

1921, recalled the room was ñin the school there, but it was on the end.ò227 Sister Angela Cool, 

who attended the school as a child, recalled the schoolroom was located ñin a room above the 

Sistersô kitchen.ò228  

Census records from 1910 indicate that Black children in the Emmitsburg district 

continued to attend school, probably St. Euphemiaôs School, after the 1903 closure of the public 

Lincoln school. Of the twenty-eight school-aged Black children still living in the Emmitsburg 

District in 1910, twenty-three were noted as having ñattended schoolò during the previous year. 

A law passed by the Maryland legislature in 1912 required the Frederick County School 

Commissioners to pay to the Sisters of Charity a sum ñnot exceeding $250ò annually, ñfor school 

purposes for educating colored children.ò Though the law was repealed in 1918, the county 

reportedly continued to pay $150 to the Sisters between 1920 and 1940.229 In a 2004 interview 

with Emmitsburg resident Barbara Van Brakle Weedon, Mrs. Weedon recalled that her 

grandmother (Van Brakle) sent her twelve children to St. Euphemiaôs School and that she herself 

had been a student there through the eighth grade.230  

 

 

African American Worship and Burial Grounds in Northern Frederick County  

 

Throughout Maryland, African Methodist Episcopal (AME) and all-Black ñColoredò 

Methodist Episcopal (ME) congregations did exist prior to the Civil War, but only the AME 

churches were independent of a white hierarchy and even they were subject to enforcement of 

the 1831 Maryland law requiring a ñlicensed white preacherò in attendance.231 After 

emancipation, the freedom to worship independently sparked the growth of Black churches that 

became the center and foundation of many Black communities, often serving as church, school, 

and social center.232 Church buildings were constructed by the community as soon as land and 

materials could be purchased. A cemetery, whether located on church ground or established by 

an association became a necessity for African Americans as they were increasingly prevented 

from burial in private or municipal cemeteries.233  

 
227 ñInterview with Kathleen (Richardson) Williams,ò transcript, November 15, 2004, Sister Eleanor Casey, 

interviewer. When asked by Sister Eleanor Casey, ñYour classroom was in the Sistersô house?ò Mrs. Williams 

responded, ñIt was in the school. It was in the school there, but it was on the end.ò Mrs. Williams was born in 1914 

and would have attended the school beginning in 1921 at age 7, according to her interview. 
228 ñSt. Euphemia School, Emmitsburg, Maryland, Account from Sister Angela Cool,ò 2005. Cool recalled that 

grades 1 through 8 were all taught in the one room. 
229 Widell, ñSt. Euphemiaôs School and Sistersô House,ò Item 8, Page 7. 
230 ñInterview with Barbara Van Brakle Weedon,ò transcript, November 16, 2004, Sister Eleanor Casey, interviewer. 
231 Session Laws, 1831, Volume 213, page 448ï49, Archives of Maryland Online, 

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/000001/000213/html/am213--448.html.    
232 W.E.B. Du Bois, The Philadelphia Negro: A Social Study (New York: Schocken Books, 1967, Kindle Edition), 

Kindle Locations 4293-4299.  
233 Wallace, ñThey Have Erected a Neat Little Church,ò 119-120, 122. 

http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/000001/000213/html/am213--448.html
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In northern Frederick County, however, it appears that African American worship 

followed a somewhat different path. Although AME congregations were active in the southern 

districts of Frederick County, it appears the AME circuit did not reach the northern districts, 

perhaps due to the remote and relatively small Black population. Instead, according to Moravian 

ministersô diaries, enslaved and free African Americans in the region attended religious services 

ministered by Moravians, Catholics, Episcopalians (formerly Anglican), and the ME church in 

the Lewistown area (see discussion below). Of these denominations, only the Lewistown areaôs 

Black ME congregation later established an independent church. Interestingly, the wide 

influence of the Catholic Church in the Emmitsburg District shaped a somewhat different 

African American cultural landscape in northern Frederick County. 

Beginning in 1787 and continuing through 1837, the Moravian ministers kept a ñNegro 

Registerò of baptisms.234 The ministerôs diaries record their efforts to preach to enslaved workers 

at Catoctin Furnace periodically through the first decades of the nineteenth century. In 1827, 

Brother Samuel Reinke, the new Moravian pastor at Graceham, noted that his predecessor 

Brother Abraham ñvisited diligentlyò with their ñneighborsò and ñ[c]ounted among themémany 

negroes, to whom Br. Abraham felt and expressed a special love.ò235 During a visit to a ñnegro 

hutò at the furnace, Reinke reported that the woman of the house ñsaid she attended all the 

gatherings available to her even religious meeting of her people conducted by a negro 

preacher.ò236  

Reinke was preaching bi-weekly services in English at the furnace when in February 

1828, he reported preaching at ñMr. Brinôs [sic] newly built stone gathering hall.ò237 Harriet 

Chapel, as it was known, was built in Catoctin Furnace village by John Brien in 1828. From 

1828 until 1832, Brother Reinke held services there. In 1833, the chapel was consecrated as an 

Episcopal mission church within the All Saints Parish.238 Catoctin Furnace chronicler Elizabeth 

Y. Anderson, found reports of Black infant baptisms in the 1850s by the Episcopal minister Rev. 

James A. Harrell.239 The African American Cemetery at Catoctin Furnace was in use from about 

1790 to 1840 and would have included interments of all faiths.240 

Entries in the Moravian Diaries in the first half of the nineteenth century note Methodist 

contacts with the enslaved population in the region. By the middle of the century, African 

Americans in the Creagerstown District, which included Catoctin Furnace and Lewistown, 

appear to have turned to the Methodist church for religious services. In 1856, Dr. William 

 
234 Diaries of Graceham Moravian Church, translated by Edward Quinter for the Catoctin Furnace Historical 

Society, 2021. 
235 Diaries of Graceham Moravian Church, October 18, 1827. 
236 Diaries of Graceham Moravian Church, March 28, 1828. It is currently not known who that preacher was. 
237 Diaries of Graceham Moravian Church, February 17, 1828. 
238 Bob Fout, ñCatoctin Episcopal Parish (Harriet Chapel), Thurmont, MD,ò Bob Fout Genealogist, accessed 

2/2/2022, http://bobfoutgenealogy.com/records/catoctin-episcopal-parish-harriet-chapel-thurmont-md/. Digitized 

Harriet Chapel records on this site begin in 1899. No earlier records appear to be available. 
239 Anderson, Catoctin Furnace, 66. 
240 Bruwelheide, Owsley, Barca, France, Little, and Comer, ñRestoring Identity to People and Place: Reanalysis of 

Human Skeletal Remains from a Cemetery at Catoctin Furnace, Maryland,ò Historical Archaeology, 54, 6, 

https://repository.si.edu/handle/10088/102025. 

http://bobfoutgenealogy.com/records/catoctin-episcopal-parish-harriet-chapel-thurmont-md/
https://repository.si.edu/handle/10088/102025
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McPherson, living just south of Catoctin Furnace, reported in his farm journal the loss of four 

dayôs work by his ñmanò Harry, who was attending a camp meeting.241 Robert Hall, a member of 

the free Black community in the Lewistown area, was listed on the 1860 census as a Methodist 

Episcopal (ME) minister. The congregation acquired use of a log church building from the white 

Methodist Protestant (MP) congregation about 1857. The ñColored Churchò building, as it was 

called on the county atlas map of 1873, was purchased in 1859 from the MP trustees by 

ñSingleton Hughes, John Sanders, John Hall, William Standon, and James Woolf, trustees of the 

ME Church for the use of the colored population of Lewistown.ò242 (Figure 40) Lewistown Lot 

132, owned in the 1850s by another member of the free Black community, Ephraim Richardson, 

was called the ñColored Burying Groundò in an 1874 deed.243 Both were located on the south 

side of town, along Bowers Road (todayôs Powell Road). The church building also served as a 

school beginning in 1869. The old church building was still in use by the ñColored Methodist 

Episcopal Churchò in 1882, according to J. Thomas Scharf in his 1882 History of Western 

Maryland.244 Rent payments listed in the Maryland BOE annual reports indicate that the building 

continued as church and school through 1908. It is unknown how long the Methodist 

congregation continued to occupy the church beyond 1908.  

 

 
Figure 40: 1873 Atlas map of Lewistown showing Lot 152 with ñColored Church.ò (LOC)  

 
241 Anderson, Catoctin Furnace, 91. Camp meetings were ñevangelistic gatherings that were part of the early days of 

the Methodist movement in America.ò (Joe Iovino, ñóFishing with a large netô: UM camp meetings,ò 

https://www.umc.org/en/content/fishing-with-a-large-net-united-methodist-camp-meetings.)  
242 FC DB BGF 4, page 377 (Frederick Cronise et al trustees to trustees of Colored ME Church, 1859). The 1873 

atlas map showed the building on Lot 152. A gable-front building with stone foundation now stands at this location, 

11045 Powell Road. 
243 FC DB TG 2, page 519. The lot appears vacant today, with no apparent stone markers. It is unknown if the lot 

contains any graves from the African American community or if the name simply implied the intention to use the lot 

for that purpose. 
244 Scharf, History of Western Maryland, 639. 

https://www.umc.org/en/content/fishing-with-a-large-net-united-methodist-camp-meetings
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In the heavily Catholic Emmitsburg District, the enslaved population likely attended the 

church of their enslavers, either Saint Josephôs in Emmitsburg or Saint Maryôs (Mountain) 

Church at Carrickôs Knob.245 Even after freedom from enslavement, it appears this population 

continued their faith in the Catholic Church. Many were buried in the associated cemeteries (see 

Appendix A: Death and Burial Notices (northern districts). Among those buried in the St. 

Josephôs Cemetery in Emmitsburg are Jane Burkett, Stephen Coates, Thomas Butler, and Violet 

Dugan.246 A larger number are buried in a segregated section of the Mount St. Maryôs Cemetery 

(later called Saint Anthonyôs Shrine Cemetery), including members of the Lee, Butler, 

Richardson, Dugan, Williams, Abey, and Watts families.247 (Figure 41) This strong association 

with the Catholic Church in Emmitsburg and in the Black community near Mount St. Maryôs 

College precluded the presence of a Black church as the community center. It also appears that 

the Black families that remained in the Emmitsburg area after the closure of the Lincoln Hall 

school probably sent their children to the Catholic school supplied by the Sisters of Charity. 

Although the 1890 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map of Emmitsburg indicates that the 

Methodist Episcopal (ME) Church on Lincoln Avenue was ñcoloredò there is no evidence that an 

independent African American Methodist Church ever operated in Emmitsburg. It does appear 

that several African Americans were buried in the ME cemetery in the 1890s ï William Wallace 

was interred in the cemetery in 1893. John Constance (Constant) was nearly buried there, 

according to the Emmitsburg Chronicle in 1896, where his mother was also intended to be 

buried, but ultimately, he was interred in the cemetery at Mount St. Maryôs.248 

 
245 Kelly L. Schmidt, ñThe pervasive institution: Slavery and its legacies in U.S. Catholicism,ò April 5, 2022, 

Cushwa Center for the Study of American Catholicism, University of Notre Dame, accessed 12/15/2022, 

https://cushwa.nd.edu/news/the-pervasive-institution/. The St. Josephôs Parish (Emmitsburg) death register indicates 

that John Briscoe was a member of the congregation since his arrival in Emmitsburg in 1800. Though it is not 

known if John Briscoe was enslaved at the time (in 1800), he did not appear in the District 5 census until 1820. 
246 ñSaint Josephôs Cemetery Memorials,ò Find a Grave, https://www.findagrave.com/cemetery/2143560/memorial-

search#srp-top.  
247 ñSaint Anthonyôs Shrine Cemetery Memorials,ò Find a Grave, 

https://www.findagrave.com/cemetery/1981072/memorial-search?page=1#sr-157548191. In an interview given in 

2004, Kathleen (Richardson) Williams recalled that African Americans were buried ñat the bottomò of the St. 

Anthonyôs cemetery. Her husband Martin Williams, who died in 1960, was ñthe first African American who was 

buried up in the regular part of the cemetery.ò (ñInterview with Kathleen Richardson Williams,ò November 15, 

2004, Sister Eleanor Casey, interviewer) 
248 News, April 1, 1893, Frederick, MD; Emmitsburg Chronicle, Nov. 20, 1896. 

https://cushwa.nd.edu/news/the-pervasive-institution/
https://www.findagrave.com/cemetery/2143560/memorial-search#srp-top
https://www.findagrave.com/cemetery/2143560/memorial-search#srp-top
https://www.findagrave.com/cemetery/1981072/memorial-search?page=1#sr-157548191
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Figure 41: Aerial view of St. Anthonyôs Cemetery showing African American burials. (Courtesy Rick Smith) 

 

Black Communities in Northern Frederick County, 1870-1910 

 

By 1860, the free Black population of the northern districts had settled into relatively 

stable community clusters. After Marylandôs abolition of slavery in 1864, the number of African 

Americans living in northern Frederick County swelled briefly, but began to decline through the 

last decades of the nineteenth century. By 1910, the decline was such that the county had no 

public schools still in operation. (Table 3: Population statistics, 1870-1910) Employment 

opportunities were changing ï Catoctin Furnace shut down permanently in 1903, replaced by a 

barrel stave mill.249 Even agricultural labor was changing as Midwestern grain farms overtook 

the production of Mid-Atlantic farms through the last decades of the nineteenth century. By 

 
249 Anderson, Catoctin Furnace, 95. The 1910 census, which listed Henry Martin (B) ñore minerò along with several 

of his white neighbors in the Mechanicstown District, seems to indicate that mining of iron ore was still happening 

at Catoctin. 
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1890, Maryland farm laborers represented less than half of the people employed in the state.250 

These kinds of changes, particularly in agricultural labor, prompted the Great Migration of 

African American people from the South to largely urban areas in the North, Midwest, and West 

beginning about 1910.  

The change in population in Frederick Countyôs northern districts was equally dramatic, 

from 307 Black men, women, and children in 1870, down to just 122 individuals in 1910. Those 

that remained were typically listed on the census as day laborers or doing ñodd jobs.ò Work 

could still be found at the furnace or with the Western Maryland Railroad (WMRR). The WMRR 

had laid tracks through Thurmont and Sabillasville in 1871, continuing westward eventually as 

far as Cumberland, Maryland.251 Farm laborers found work on farms in the Thurmont 

(Mechanicstown) area that had shifted to orchard fruits or the valley farms that were turning to 

dairy production. Frederick County was also experiencing a surge in the developing fruit and 

vegetable canning industry.252 The Emmitsburg Canning Company began operations about 

1905.253 Many women also took in washing to help support their families. Barbara Van Brakle 

Weedon recalled that her grandmother (Mamie [Mary], wife of John E. Van Brakle) did both, 

starting with washing for the priests after her husbandôs death, then taking employment at the 

canning factory.254 

 

Table 3: Population statistics for northern Frederick County districts, 1870-1910 

 # Black     
# Black 

Households 

# in Black 

Households 

# in White 

Households 

1870          Totals 307 61 273 37 

Hauvers Dist 10 22 5 22 0 

Emmitsburg Dist 5 97 21 85 12 

Emmitsburg Town (Dist 5) 30 8 26 4 

Mechanicstown Dist 15 42 7 32 10 

Mechanicstown 21 3 18 3 

Creagerstown Dist 4 77 14 72 6 

     

              1880          Totals 308 54 277 31 

 
250 Paula S. Reed, Tillers of the Soil: A History of Agriculture in Mid-Maryland (Frederick, MD: Catoctin Center for 

Regional Studies, 2011), 62. Down from 90% in 1790 and 53% in 1870. 
251 Kim E. Wallace, Teresa S. Moyer, Paula S. Reed, and Edith B. Wallace, Routes of Change: A History of 

Transportation in Mid-Maryland (Frederick, MD: Catoctin Center for Regional Studies, 2011), 49. 
252 Reed, Tillers of the Soil, 69-70. The perishable fruit and dairy products could reach the burgeoning urbans 

markets via rail with the 1875 development of the refrigerated railcar. 
253 Industrial Development and Manufacturers' Record, Volume 47, February 9, 1905, 77, 

https://books.google.com/books?id=A2M9AQAAMAAJ&pg=PA77&lpg=PA77&dq=emmitsburg+canning+compa

ny&source=bl&ots=y9mR3nJp3y&sig=ACfU3U04GQ75ES2IY7YdoJRbkgLS5OJfew&hl=en&sa=X&ved=2ahUK

EwiosOOo_Ob1AhXoYN8KHdiOBEw4ChDoAXoECA4QAw#v=onepage&q=emmitsburg%20canning%20compa

ny&f=false.  
254 ñInterview with Barbara Van Brakle Weedon,ò transcript, November 16, 2004, Sister Eleanor Casey, interviewer. 

https://books.google.com/books?id=A2M9AQAAMAAJ&pg=PA77&lpg=PA77&dq=emmitsburg+canning+company&source=bl&ots=y9mR3nJp3y&sig=ACfU3U04GQ75ES2IY7YdoJRbkgLS5OJfew&hl=en&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwiosOOo_Ob1AhXoYN8KHdiOBEw4ChDoAXoECA4QAw#v=onepage&q=emmitsburg%20canning%20company&f=false
https://books.google.com/books?id=A2M9AQAAMAAJ&pg=PA77&lpg=PA77&dq=emmitsburg+canning+company&source=bl&ots=y9mR3nJp3y&sig=ACfU3U04GQ75ES2IY7YdoJRbkgLS5OJfew&hl=en&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwiosOOo_Ob1AhXoYN8KHdiOBEw4ChDoAXoECA4QAw#v=onepage&q=emmitsburg%20canning%20company&f=false
https://books.google.com/books?id=A2M9AQAAMAAJ&pg=PA77&lpg=PA77&dq=emmitsburg+canning+company&source=bl&ots=y9mR3nJp3y&sig=ACfU3U04GQ75ES2IY7YdoJRbkgLS5OJfew&hl=en&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwiosOOo_Ob1AhXoYN8KHdiOBEw4ChDoAXoECA4QAw#v=onepage&q=emmitsburg%20canning%20company&f=false
https://books.google.com/books?id=A2M9AQAAMAAJ&pg=PA77&lpg=PA77&dq=emmitsburg+canning+company&source=bl&ots=y9mR3nJp3y&sig=ACfU3U04GQ75ES2IY7YdoJRbkgLS5OJfew&hl=en&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwiosOOo_Ob1AhXoYN8KHdiOBEw4ChDoAXoECA4QAw#v=onepage&q=emmitsburg%20canning%20company&f=false
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Hauvers Dist 10 8 2 8 0 

Emmitsburg Dist 5 (rural) 90 15 68 20 

Emmitsburg-Town (Dist 5) 60 13 58 2 

Mechanicstown Dist 15 (rural) 37 7 33 4 

Mechanicstown-Town (Dist 15) 20 4 17 3 

Creagerstown Dist 4 1 0 0 1 

Lewistown Dist 20 (rural) 45 5 45 0 

Lewistown Village (Dist 20) 31 5 31 0 

Utica Mills Village (Dist 20) 9 2 8 1 

     

1900          Totals 191 38 171 20 

Hauvers Dist 10 2 0 0 2 (wives) 

Emmitsburg Dist 5 (rural) 82 14 74 8 

Emmitsburg-Town (Dist 5) 47 12 41 6 

Mechanicstown Dist 15 (rural) 9 2 8 1 

Mechanicstown-Town (Dist 15) 2 1 1 1 

Creagerstown Dist 4 1 0 0 1 

Lewistown Dist 20 48 9 47 1 

     

1910          Totals 122 32 102 20 

Hauvers Dist 10 8 1 8 0 

Emmitsburg Dist 5 (rural) 46 14 38 8 

Emmitsburg-Town (Dist 5) 26 7 19 7 

Mechanicstown Dist 15 (rural) 6 1 5 1 

Mechanicstown-Town (Dist 15) 2 1 1 1 

Creagerstown Dist 4 0 0 0 0 

Lewistown Dist 20 34 8 31 3 

 

From the 1870 census and the 1873 Atlas Map of Frederick County, six Black 

community clusters can be identified, five of which, with the exception of Mechanicstown, had 

grown from free-Black population clusters present by 1860:  Lewistown and vicinity 

(Creagerstown/Lewistown Districts); Mechanicstown (Mechanicstown District); Pattersonville 

(Mechanicstown/Hauvers Districts); the Mountain community (Emmitsburg District); Poplar 

Ridge (Emmitsburg District); and W. Lincoln Ave (Emmitsburg Town). The following sections 

will outline these communities from 1870 through 1910. 

 

Lewistown and Vicinity (Creagerstown Dist. #4/Lewistown Dist. #20) 

After Maryland emancipation in November 1864, the sixteen enslaved people living in 

the district (in 1860) were free to choose where they would live and work. As a result, a number 

of ñnewò names appear on the 1870 census for Creagerstown District, some working and living 
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on white farms, including Henson Brown and William Waters, both aged 23 and living as farm 

laborers on the George Ogle farm. Others were living in independent households, including 

Serene Dorsey, a tenant, with her daughter Caroline, and grandson William, and Milley Dorsey, 

aged 60, who owned real estate valued at $150 and shared her home with Ann Liles, aged 70. 

Other new households since 1860 were Israel Palmer, a 40-year-old tenant day laborer with his 

wife and three children, and Jerome Hallôs family with wife and four children. Hall was a 

carpenter, aged 39, who may have been another son of Richard Hall (owner of 2.5 acres of 

Millers Chance, 1826).  

Despite these additions, the Black population of the district, which included Lewistown 

and the surrounding area until 1878, fell from ninety-six in 1860 (including enslaved) to seventy-

seven in 1870. Robert Hall, the ME minister (and possible brother of Jerome Hall), was no 

longer living in the district. Other families that were present in 1860, but no longer listed in 1870 

include Stanton, Dowing, and Reed, all of whom were landowners in 1860. Those who remained 

include John Sands (Sanders), now aged 76, still working his farm valued at $3,600, and his son 

John (age 39) farming his parcel valued at $550. Henry Butler and his son John Butler appeared 

to own adjoining farms, both valued at $300. ñH. Butlerò appears on the 1873 atlas map on 

Hunting Creek near William Myersô sawmill and ñwoolen factory.ò (Figure 42) William 

Ricketts, a tenant day laborer, and his wife Cordelia now shared their home with eight children. 

 

 
Figure 42: 1873 atlas map, Creagerstown District detail. (LOC) 

Those that appear to be living in the village of Lewistown in 1870 include Charles 

Johnson, aged 31, a day laborer, with wife and four children; Edward Jerick, 29, a day laborer, 

with wife (age 31) and five children, four of whom with the surname Weachey (ages 17 to 4); 
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James Wolf, aged 47, a day laborer, with his wife Emely, aged 50; and Hilary Norris [written 

ñNariasò and in 1880 as Harris], who was listed in the area as early as 1850, now aged 68, a day 

laborer, with wife and two adult sons. No Black minister was listed in Lewistown and since the 

town lots owned by free Black citizens in the 1850s were sold to white buyers between 1860 and 

1869, it is unclear where the Lewistown Black community was located after 1870.255 None of the 

households listed were landowners and none appeared on the 1873 map.  

Regardless of where the Black households were located in the Creagerstown District 

(Lewistown District #20 after 1878), it is likely the Methodist Episcopal Church, noted on the 

1873 map as ñColored Church,ò served as the communityôs center gathering place. In 1880, 

Francis Thomas was listed on the census for Lewistown District as ñclergyman,ò likely serving 

as pastor at the ME church. At that time there were five independent Black households with 

thirty-five people in the Lewistown village. By 1880, the Lewistown Districtôs Black population 

had risen to eighty-five souls, living in twelve independent households. (see Table 1) But by 

1900, the population had fallen significantly, down to forty-eight people in nine households, and 

in 1910, just thirty-four people in eight households. Five of the eight heads of household who 

remained in 1910 were elderly: John Sanders (78), William Ricketts (78), Charles Bouey (66), 

Anie Juricks (72), and Calvin Wolf (60). Two others were sons of older residents, William Hall 

(25), a carpenter like his father, and William Wolf (30), who was the school teacher from 1902 

through its closure in 1908. Alice Sappington (40), worked as a laundress, while her daughter 

Fannie (12) worked as a servant.256 

These changes were reflected in the Lewistown ñColoredò school as well, as noted 

previously. In 1870 the Freedmenôs Bureau school was holding classes in the church in 

Lewistown. Of the twenty-three school-aged children listed on the 1870 census, fourteen 

attended school in 1869. Fifteen adults were indicated on the census as able to read and write. In 

1872, the county-run Creagerstown District 5 ñColoredò school, also likely located in the 

Lewistown church, was in operation with as many as thirty-five students, which swelled to forty-

four in 1881 (then listed in Lewistown District 20). By 1908, as younger families left to find 

work in the more-urban areas and the remaining population aged, there were less than ten 

students in attendance and the school was closed. 

 

Mechanicstown/Thurmont; Pattersonville (Mechanicstown Dist. #15/Hauvers Dist. #10) 

Residents of Catoctin Furnace village were listed on the census in Mechanicstown 

District #15 after 1854, where the 1860 census had recorded three free-Black households, while 

Elisha and Robert Patterson were listed in Hauvers District #10. In addition to the furnace village 

and the nascent ñPattersonvilleò (enumerated in Hauvers), the Mechanicstown District in 1860 

also included nine scattered Black farmsteads (David Howard, John Biser (landowners), Henry 

 
255 It appears that page 34 in the census is missing, so this list may be incomplete. 
256 After Lewistown District #20 was created in 1878, Creagerstown District #4, including the town of 

Creagerstown, became an all-white district from 1880 to 1910 (in 1900 there was one Black servant in a white 

household). 



 

 

89 

 

Williams (tenant), Maria Calbant, John Snoden, Lucy Sarsnip (74), Otho Forierson, John 

Woodyard, and Peter Snoden), and just one domestic servant living in a white household in the 

town of Mechanicstown. Unlike Lewistown, the Mechanicstown District would see a steady 

decline in its Black population after 1860. From 139 individuals in 1860 (including twenty-one 

enslaved), down to sixty-three in 1870 and fifty-seven in 1880. The diaspora accelerated after 

1880, down to just eleven individuals in 1900 and just eight by 1910. 

Mechanicstown, later called Thurmont, was the exception to this trend. The townôs Black 

population grew from just one resident in 1860 to twenty-one in 1870, including three people 

living in white households and three Black landowners. Henry Hendrix, aged 60 and occupied as 

a farm laborer in 1870, gave his real estate value at $900. He shared his home with his wife, their 

adult son Henry Jr (who had real estate valued at $400), and four young children. Henry 

Williams, aged 48, was a farm laborer listed in Mechanicstown with $300 in real estate. Also 

listed in town was Thomas Smothers, his wife Mary, and their two children, who lived in a house 

valued at $300. Smothers was employed as a day laborer. All three of these households appeared 

on the 1873 atlas map ï Hendrix (Hendricks) on the west edge of town with a large lot, Williams 

on the southwest edge of town on Hunting Creek, and Smothers on the south edge of town, just 

past the WMRR depot, where he likely found employment. A new resident, Amos Lucas, 

occupied as a barber, was boarding in a white household. None of the children were noted as 

 

 
Figure 43: 1873 Atlas Map, Mechanicstown detail. (LOC) 


































































































































